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THE VALUE DRIVERS
BEHIND OUR GROWTH
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OUR VALUE DRIVERS

Deliver profitable ouf
sales growth

Expand United
brands

Optimize use
of our assets

Unlock value | Enhance marketing
from @ﬁ@ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂ@ capabilities through
i - technology

United Stationers is North America's largest broad * An efficient operation with an average line fill
line wholesale distributor of business products. By rate higher than 97 percent, with 99.5 percent order
focusing on its six value drivers, the company has accuracy, and with 99 percent on-time delivery.

created a strong value proposition that will lead to o A diverse base of approximately 30,000 reseller

additional growth. This includes: customers, who reach virtually every domestic

s The industry’s broadest product line with over market and numerous industries.

100,000 stocked items including: technology « A wide range of programs to support customers’

products, traditional business products, janitorial growth including print, electronic and online catalogs

and breakroom supplies, office furniture items, and flyers; targeted marketing initiatives;, comprehen-

and — with its December 2007 acquisition of sive training programs; and e-commerce solutions.

ORS Nasco - industrial products.
» A network of 70 distribution centers that can deliver
products to more than 90 percent of the U.S. and

major cities in Mexico on the same or next day.




TO ALL OF QUR STAKEHOLDERS:

By focusing on profitable growth opportunities and effectively
managing costs and working capital, United Stationers reported
another year of strong performance despite challenging economic
conditions. These strategies enabled us to deliver increased
revenues, improved operating margins, record adjusted earnings
per share and strong cash flow. We also set the stage for additional
growth by acquiring ORS Nasco, a pure wholesale distributor
of industrial supplies. And throughout the year we used share
repurchases to enhance stockholder value.

As a stakeholder ~ a stockholder, customer, supplier

KEY 2007 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS: or associate — you rely on United's management

and board to articulate a clear vision for the company,
* Net sales grew 2.2% to $4.6 biliion the financial goals we use t¢ measure improvement,

« Adjusted operating expenses declined and how we intend to grow. Our vision is to become

38 basis points as a percent of net sales

Adjusted operating margin improved
34 basis points to 4.4% of sales

Adjusted earnings per share rose 18% to
a record $3.86

Net cash provided by operating activities

increased to $218 million

Stock repurchases totaled 6.6 million
shares for $383 million

the compelling partner providing seamless business
products solutions. During 2007, we made progress
on our financial goals and our value drivers. These

two areas are the focus of this letter.

PROGRESS IN LINE WITH LONG-TERM
FINANCIAL GOALS

We made advances toward our long-term financial

goals last year:

e Sales increased 2.2% to a record $4.6 bhillion. While
this fell below our long-term goal of increasing
annual sales by 4-to-6%, we outperformed many

others in our industry.



* Gross margin remained relatively flat at 15.2%.
The benefit from increased sales of higher margin
products in 2007 was offset by lower levels of

buy-side inflation.

e Our War on Waste (WOW?) program generated over
$20 miflion in savings. This resulted in a 38 basis
point reduction in our adjusted operating expenses

as a percent of sales to 10.8% from 11.2%.

» After adjusting for previously reported non-recurring
items, we r'ncreaséd earnings before interest and
taxes (EBIT) by 10.8% to $203.9 milfion versus
2006's $184.0 million - an important achieverment

in the face of moderate sales growth.

* After adjusting for previously reported non-recurring
margin and expense items, EPS increased 18% to
$3.86 for 2007 versus $3.27 for the prior year.

Diluted EPS - Adjusted
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* We improved our working capital efficiency, with

inventory management a highlight for 2007 Inventory

turnover increased 30 basis points to 6.2 times.

* Strong operating cash flow of $218 million enabled
us to repurchase 6.6 million shares of our stock for
$383 million while achieving our targeted capital
structure of 2.5-times debt-to-EBITDA.

* Gross capital spending was $18.7 million compared
with $46.7 million a year ago. We will continue to
focus our capital spending on IT and facility projects

10 support our growth.

QOUR VALUE DRIVERS
During 2007 we were able to make progress toward our
long-term financial goals by focusing on our six value

drivers. Here is a summary of what we accomplished.

Deliver Profitable Sales Growth

Our objective is to increase sales and profitability by
leveraging product category initiatives, improving our
value proposition to reseller customers, growing new

channels and enhancing marketing capabilities.

Janiterial and breakreom supplies continues to be

our fastest growiné praduct category. Qur OfficeJan
program (selling janitorial and breakroom supplies to
current customers who primarily buy office products)
was instrumental in helping LagasseSweet win a
multi-year contract as the “premier supplier” for a
major account. This was one of the largest contracts
in the industry in 2007 We believe our success comes
from providing an unmatched value proposition:
United Stationers Supply Co!s office products and
LagasseSweet's janitorial, breakroom and foodservice
consumables; our ability to deliver these products as
a single item or in full cases; and the comprehensive

category marketing solutions we offer.

We also focused on profitable growth opportunities

in our technology category. This included launching
more technology accessories with higher margins,
such as keyboards and digital photography solutions.
A continued emphasis on comprehensive printing
solutions, which include printers and imaging supplies,

is allowing our resellers to participate in the growing




digital printing evolution in the small and medium sized

business (SMB) market.

Other successful category initiatives in 2007 included
an expansion of "green” environmentally friendly
products and a new line of furniture. As you can see,
we're centering our marketing efforts where our value
proposition is strong, and our customers appreciate

this — and benefit from it.

Our independent dealer customers continued to
prosper. They did this by offering the end consumer
a broad range of products, by making the shopping
experience easy and by providing excellent service.
We enable our dealers to deliver high value business

solutions to their customers.

In addition, we continue to enhance our value proposition
for the national accounts. One example is offering them
more product choices in categories such as janitorial

and breakroom supplies.

New Channeis also are an important source of revenue
growth for us, and in 2007 this segment experienced
a double-digit increase. Higher sales came primarily
from new customers in e-tail and warehouse clubs/
mass merchandise channels, which serve the small
office/home office (SOHO) and SMB markets.

We continue to improve United's approach to catalog
marketing, as printed catalogs and flyers remain a
primary customer reference tool even in the age of
online purchases. We leveraged our investment in
developing a complete database of product photos
and descriptions to create more compelling catalog
presentations — with enhanced images and more
persuasive sales copy. Resellers have told us how

much easier the catalogs are to use.

We are also moving to a cross-media approach: offering
print, electronic, and online catalogs and circulars. This
presents resellers with multiple touch points and

frequencies to reach end consumers.

Over the longer term, the combination of all these
sales and marketing strategies is helping United and
its reseller partners continue to grow while meeting
the needs of a broad group of end-user customers.
Our focus on new channels will lead us to reach even

more resellers and end consumers,
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Drive Out Waste

WOW? is about more than removing $100 million of

costs in five years. It also means putting our resellers
first: balancing cost controls with improving the cus-
tomer experience. Advances were made in several

areas in 2007,

We completed a number of Six Sigma, Lean and Kaizen
projects. These efforts created significant economic value
by reducing operating expenses and working capital,
which increased cash flow. Energized teams of associates
met the cost reduction and process improvement goals

we set, saving millions in costs and expenses.

Many of these projects also benefit our customers.

For example, we established a team of associates to




help us reduce costs and returns related to damaged
merchandise. The team is investigating the entire supply
chain: shipments from our suppliers to United,' and
shipments from United to its resellers and their end
consumers. This represents a significant opportunity

for improvement, particularly in our furniture category.

In addition, we tock steps to increase service levels
while lowering distribution costs. One example is

our weight checking program, where each package

is weighed and compared with a database of what it
should weigh. This allows our associates to correct
picking errors, which reduces returns and results in an

improved customer experience.

We also completed time and maotion studies at several
warehouses to develop standards for efficiency, quality
and productivity. Now associates have consistent goals
and objectives, which lead to additional opefational

improvements.

Operating Income - Adjusted
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These WOW? efforts continue to build on the success
of the first phase of ocur WOW initiative, This was
reflected in a 38 basis point reduction in our operating
expense (adjusted for previously reported non-recurring
items) as a percent of sales and contributed to a 10.8%

increase in our 2007 adjusted operating incorme. That

ievel of improvement is especially impressive, since
we identified much of the “low hanging fruit” in the first
four years of our War on Waste and now are working

on more complex projects.

Expand United Brands
Sales of United's private brands expanded 15% in 2007

representing 13% of revenues versus 11% in 2006.

Private brands offer a winfwin for United, its reseflers
and their customers. End consumers look for new
ways to save money. Qur private brands help United
and its resellers address this demand. In addition,
resellers and United see higher margins on these

products, even as end consumers pay a lower price.

We search the globe for private brand products that
offer the best quality and value, so glcbal sourcing
capabilities are a key to our success. We established
very high standards and created strong relationships
with suppliers to consistently meet those standards.
To ensure availability, we added multiple sources for
products. In addition, we focused our approach on
“inbound logistics” — moving products from manufac-
turers through ports, ships and freight carriers to us.
This improv‘ed on-time supplier shipments from 65%
in 2006 to 92% in 2007

Last year, we expanded our private brand lines and
now offer more than 4,000 items. These include our
Universal® office products, Windsoft® paper products,
UniSan® janitorial supplies, Innovera® technology
products, and Alera® furniture lines. ORS Nasco will
add thousands of other products to this offering under
its Anchor™ brand.

Optimize Use of Our Assets

We strengthened our balance sheet and cash flow during




2007 by taking action in a number of areas. For example,
we improved our inventory turnover and accounts

payable leverage, which increased operating cash flow.

After several years of making significant investments
in the business, we reduced our gross capital spending
to approximately $18.7 million. We completed a number
of projects, including the move of our IT Data Center
--on time and under budget — and invested in other

key IT and facility projects.

In addition, we expanded our debt capacity to $1 billion
and obtained favorable rates on several new components
of our overall debt. Increased borrowings of approxi-
rnately $335 million and operating cash flow of $218
million allowed us to return $383 million to stockholders
through share repurchases and complete the ORS
Nasco acquisition. We did this while achieving ocur
targeted debt leverage of 2.5-times EBITDA.

Unlock Value from Acquisitions

In 1996, we acquired Lagasse to expand our janitorial
and sanitation product offering. This has proved to be
one of our fastest growing categories, and has helped
to diversify our customer base. Since then, we made
two acquisitions to add to the depth and breadth of
this business ~ including Sweet Paper in 2005. As a
result of successfully integrating these operations and
capitalizing on the opportunities they provide, this
category grew from $80 million in sales in 1996 to nearly
$1 billion today.

We evaluated the characteristics that made these
acquisitions so successful and locked for other ways

to repeat this success. As a result, we identified a

similar opportunity — and purchased ORS Nasco in
December 2007

ORS Nasco met all of our acquisition criteria:
« A strong management team that is well respected

and will remain with the business,

* Good margins and solid growth prospects as
ORS Nasco takes us into the attractive $22 billicn

wholesale industrial supplies market.

* A business model that's very similar to ours
since ORS Nasco used United and Lagasse as a
model for how to demonstrate and promote its

value as a wholesaler.

* A market leader with ORS Nasco as one of the
largest pure wholesalers of industrial supplies in

North America,

* Synergies with our operations and opportunities
to leverage our joint capabilities and offer new product

categories to existing customers.

» A shared culture with both companies committed
to using a wholesale distribution model to support
their distributor customers, and to continuously

improve their operations and customer satisfaction.

in addition, we believe the acquisition will bring positive
financial results in 2008, including strong sales growth

and increasing earnings per share.

UseTechnology to Enhance Marketing Capabilities
in 2007 we successfully stored all the digital images,
product specifications, and sales and marketing copy
on every item we offer in our unified content manage-
ment system. The plan is to leverage this eContent with
new search, navigation and merchandising capabilities
to improve the online shopping experience our resellers

offer their end consumers.




United and its resellers will benefit greatly from easy
access to product content and images. The system

is designed to reduce the time and costs involved in
updating and managing product information. Reseller
reaction has been very positive. Suppliers were just
as pleased, as they increasingly rely on us to provide a

strong prasentation of their products to resellers.

Last year, United began working with all the software
providers that serve its resellers, in an effort to embed
our electronic catalog into the resellers’ eCommerce
storefronts. These efforts supplement the ongoing
development of SAP's Reseller Technology Solution
and mean that our eContent initiatives will reach more
end consumers. This was kicked off with the launch

of a dramatically improved www.biggestbook.com.
The Web site showcases our enhanced content and
images along with the new capabilities that our resellers

and end consumers will enjoy.
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DRIVING PROGRESS IN 2008
We already are benefiting from additional expertise

on our board and management team. Jean Blackwall,
executive vice president and CFO for Cummins Inc.,
became a United director in May 2007 Her expertise
in finance, human resources and legal issues make
her a valuable addition 1o the board. Also, Vicki Reich
joined United as senior vice president and CFQO in

June. Her background includes serving most recently

as president of Brunswick Corporation's European
Group, and prior to this as senior vice president and

CFQ of Brunswick Corporation,

As | write this letter, the outlook for the U.S. economy
includes discussions of a recession. A slowdown in
the economy is likely to limit nearterm growth in our
industry. However, United has faced this type of market
before and is continuing to implement strategies to
deliver long-term EPS growth and strong cash flow.
We plan to stay the course with a disciplined focus on

our value drivers.

We also will benefit from the progress already made,
reflected in a diverse customer base, lower costs,
more efficient operations, a more profitable product
mix, and a stronger marketing effort to help resellers
build their sales. Savings from our ongoing WOW?2
efforts will enable us to invest in future growth and
improve operating margins. Continued demand for
janitorial and breakroom supplies, new customer
channels, and the addition of ORS Nasco should boost
our performance. As a result, our long-term goals of
annual sales growth in the 4-t0-6% range and EPS

growth in the mid-teens remain unchanged.

United Stationers’ 6,100 associates look forward to
delivering a solid financial performance again in 2008,
as well as continued satisfaction for our customers,

suppliers and stockholders.

Mw.&dﬂ%

Richard W. Gochnauer
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 20, 2008
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General

United Stationers Inc. is North America's largest broad line wholesale distributor of business products,
with consolidated net sales of approximately $4.6 billion. United stocks a broad and deep line of over
100,000 products and offers thousands more in the following categories: technology products,
traditional business products, office furniture, janitorial and breakroom supplies, and industrial supplies.
The company's network of 70 distribution centers allows it to ship these items to approximately 30,000
reseller customners, reaching more than 90% of the U.S. and major cities in Mexico on an cvernight basis.

Except where otherwise noted, the terms "United” and "the Company” refer to United Stationers Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries. The parent holding company, United Stationers Inc. (USI), was
incorporated in 1981 in Delaware. USI's only direct wholly owned subsidiary-—and its principal operating
company—is United Stationers Supply Co. (USSC), incorporated in 1922 in lllinois.

Products
United stocks over 100,000 stockkeeping units {“SKUs™}) in these categories:

Technology Products. The Company is a leading wholesale distributor of computer suppties and
peripherals in North America. It stocks more than 11,000 items, including imaging supplies, data
storage, digital cameras, computer accessories and computer hardware items such as printers and
other peripherals. United provides these products to value-added computer resellers, office products
dealers, drug stores, grocery chains and e-commerce merchants. Technology products generated over
37% of the Company’s 2007 consolidated net sales.

Traditional Office Products. The Company is one of the largest national wholesale distributors of a
broad range of office supplies. It carries approximately 22,000 brand-name and private label products,
such as filing and record keeping products, business machines, presentation products, writing
instruments, paper products, organizers, calendars and general office accessories. These products
contributed almost 30% of net sales during the year.

Janitorial and Breakroom Supplies. United is a leading wholesaler of janitorial and breakroom supplies
throughout the U.S. The Company holds over 7,000 items in these lines: janitorial and breakroom
supplies, foodservice consumables (such as disposable tableware), safety and security items, and
paper and packaging supplies. This product categery provided nearly 20% of the latest year’s net sales
primarily from Lagasse, Inc. (Lagasse}, a wholly owned subsidiary of USSC, and is the fastest growing
category of the business.

Office Furniture. United is one of the largest office furniture wholesaler distributors in North America. It
stocks over 5,000 products from more than 60 of the industry’s leading manufacturers including, desks,
filing and storage solutions, seating and systems furniture, along with a variety of products for niche
markets such as education, government, healthcare and professional services. Innovative marketing
programs and related services help drive this business across multiple customer channels. This product
category represented approximately 12% of net sales for the year.

Industrial Supplies. With the acquisition of ORS Nasco Holding, Inc. (ORS Nasco) completed on
December 21, 2007, the Company now stocks approximately 60,000 items including hand and power
tools, safety and security supplies, janitorial equipment and supplies, other various industrial MRO
(maintenance, repair and operations) items and oil field and welding supplies. This product category
accounted for less than 1% of the Company’s net sales in 2007 as the acquisition was not completed
until late December. The Company offers many more items in these product lines within the industrial
supplies category.

The remaining 1% of the Company’s consolidated net sales came from freight and advertising revenue.




United offers private brand products within each of its product categories to help resellers provide
quality value-priced items to their customers. These include innovera™ technology products, Universal®
office products, Windsoft® paper products, UniSan® janitorial and sanitation products, and Alera™ office
furniture. ORS Nasco offers private label brand products in the welding, industrial, safety and cil field
pipeline categories under its own brand offering, Anchor Brand™. During 2007, private brand products
accounted for almost 13% of United’s net sales.

Customers

a1l

United serves a diverse group of approximately 30,000 customers. They include independent office
products dealers; contract stationers; office products superstores; computer products resellers; office
furniture dealers; mass merchandisers; mail order companies,; sanitary supply, paper and foodservice
distributors; drug and grocery store chains; e-commerce merchants; oil field, welding supply and
industrial/MRO distributors; and other independent distributors. No single customer accounted for more
than 8% of 2007 consolidated net sales.

Independent resellers accounted for approximately 80% of consolidated net sales. The Company
provides these customers with specialized services designed o help them market their products and
services while improving operating efficiencies and reducing costs.

Marketing and Customer Support

United’s customers can purchase most of the products the Company distributes at similar prices from
many other sources. As a matter of fact, many reseller customers purchase their products from more
than one source, frequently using “first call” and “second call” distributors. A “first caill” distributor
typically is a reseller’s primary wholesaler and has the first opportunity to fill an order. If the *'first call”
distributor cannot meet the demand, or do so on a timely basis, the reseller will contact its “second call”
distributor. i

United’s marketing and logistic capabilities differentiate the company from its competitors by providing
an unmatched level of value-added services to resellers:

* A broad line of products for one-stop shopping;

+ Comprehensive printed product catalogs for easy shopping and reference guides;

* A new digital catalcg and search capabifities to power e-commerce web sites;

+ Extensive promotional materials and marketing programs to increase sales;

« High levels of products in stock, with an average line 1ill rate better than 97% in 2007;
+ Efficient order processing, resulting in a 99.5% order accuracy rate for thé year;

* High-quality customer service from several state-of-the-art customer care centers;

= National distribution capabilities that enable same-day or overnight delivery to more than 90% of
the U.S. and major cities in Mexico, providing a 99% on-time delivery rate in 2007;

 Training programs designed to help resellers improve their operations;
* End-consumer research to help resellers better understand their market.

United's marketing programs emphasize two other major strategies. First, the Company produces
product content that is used to populate an extensive array of print and electronic catalogs for
commercial dealers, contract stationers and retail dealers. The printed catalogs usually are customized
with each reseller's name, then sold to the resellers who, in turn, distribute them to their customers. The
Company markets its broad product offering primarily through a General Line catalog. This is available in
both print and electronic versions, produced twice a year, and can include various seiling prices (rather
than the manufacturer's suggested retail price). In addition, the Company typically produces a number
of promotional catalogs each quarter. United also develops separate quarterly flyers covering most of its
product categories, including its private brand lines that offer a large selection of popular commaodity




products. Since catalogs and electronic content provide product exposure to end consumers and
generate demand, United tries to maximize their distribution on behalf of its suppliers and customers.

Second, United provides its resellers with a variety of dealer support and marketing services. These
programs are designed to help resellers differentiate themselves by making it easier for customers o
buy from them, and often allow resellers to reach customers they had not traditionally served.

Resellers can place orders with the Company through the Internet, by phone, fax and e-mail and through
a variety of electronic order entry systems. Electronic order entry systems allow resellers to forward their
customers' orders directly to United, resulting in the delivery of pre-sold products to the reseller. in 2007,
United received approximately 85% of its orders electronically.

Distribution

The Company uses a network of 70 distribution centers to provide over 100,000 items to its
approximately 30,000 reseller customers. This network, combined with the Company’s depth and
breadth of inventory in technology products, traditional office products, office furniture, janitorial and
breakroom supplies, and industrial supplies, enables the Company to ship products on an overnight
basis to more than 90% of the U.S. and major cities in Mexico. United's domestic operations generated
$4.5 billion of its $4.6 billion in 2007 consolidated net sales, with its international operations contributing
another $0.1 billion to 2007 net sales.

Regional distribution centers are supplemented with 27 local distribution points across the U.S., which
serve as re-distribution points for orders filled at the regional centers. United has a dedicated fleet of
approximately 600 trucks, most of which are under contract to the Company. This enables United to
make direct deliveries to resellers from regional distribution centers and local distribution points.

United's inventory locator systemn allows it to provide resellers with timely delivery of the products they
order. If a reseller asks for an itemn that is out of stock at the nearest distribution center, the system has the
capability to automatically search for the product at other facilities within the shuttle network. When the
item is found, the alternate location coordinates shipping with the primary facility. For most resellers, the
result is a single on-time delivery of all items. This system gives United added inventory support while
minimizing working capital requirements. As a result, the Company can provide higher service levels to
its reseller customers, reduce back orders, and minimize time spent searching for substitute
merchandise. These factors contribute to a high order fill rate and efficient levels of inventory. To meet its
delivery commitments and to maintain high order fill rates, United carries a significant amount of
inventory, which contributes to its overall working capital requirements.

The “Wrap and Label” program is ancther important service for resellers. It gives resellers the option to
receive individually packaged orders ready to be delivered to their end consumers. For example, when a
reseller places orders for several individual consumers, United can pick and pack the items separately,
placing a label on each package with the consumer’s name, ready for delivery to the end consumer by
the reseller. Resellers appreciate the “Wrap and Label” program because it eliminates the need 1o break
down bulk shipments and repackage orders before delivering them to consumers.

United also offers a drop ship service directly to the end consumer. Shipping labels reflect the reseller's
name and complete consumer delivery address. This value added service provides same-day shipping
to the end consumer with the reseller avoiding the cost of rehandling. The bulk of the 40,000 cartons
shipped per day are handted by a large package delivery company and leading provider of specialized
transportation and logistics services. United's proprietary order routing system ensures optimal order fill
rate with a next- to second- day delivery commitment. United ships nearly 25% of its daily order volume
directly to the end consumer.

In addition to providing value-adding programs for resellers, United also remains committed to reducing
its operating costs. Its “War on Waste'' (WOW?) program is meeting the goal of removing $100 million in
costs over five years through a combination of new and continuing activities. These include the 2006
Workforce Reduction Program to lower the Company's cost structure. In addition, WOW? includes




process improvement and work simplification activities that will help increase efficiency throughout the
business and improve customer satisfaction.

Purchasing and Merchandising

As the largest broad line wholesale business products distributor in North America, United leverages its
broad product selection as a key merchandising strategy. The Company orders products from over
1,000 manufacturers. This purchasing volume means United receives substantial supplier allowances
and can realize significant economies of scale in its logistics and distribution activities. In 2007, United's
largest supplier was Hewlett-Packard Company, which represented approximately 20% of its total
purchases.

The Company's Merchandising Department is responsible for selecting merchandise and for managing
the entire supplier relationship. Product selection is based on three factors: end-consumer acceptance;
anticipated demand for the product; and the manufacturer’s total service, price and product quality. As
part of its effort to create an integrated supplier approach, United introduced the “Preferred Supplier
Program’’ several years ago. In exchange for working closely with United to reduce overall supply chain
costs, participating supptiers’ products are treated as preferred brands in the Company’s marketing
efforts.

Competition

There is only one other nationwide broad line office products competitor in North America. United and
this firm compete on the basis of breadth of product lines, availability of products, speed of delivery to
resellers, order fill rates, net pricing to resellers, and the quality of marketing and other value-added
services.

United competes with other national, regional and specialty wholesalers of office products, office
furniture, technology products, janitorial and breakroom supplies and industrial supplies. Its competition
also includes local and regional office products wholesalers and furniture, janitorial and breakroom
supplies distributors, which typically offer more limited product lines. The Company alsc competes with
other wholesale distributors in the industrial supplies market. In addition, United competes with various
national distributors of computer consumables. In most cases, competition is based primarily upon net
pricing, minimum order quantity, speed of delivery, and value-added marketing and logistics services.

The Company also competes with manufacturers who often sell their products directly to resellers and
may offer lower prices. United believes that it provides an attractive alternative to manufacturer direct
purchases by offering a combination of value-added services, including 1) Wrap and Label capabilities,
2) marketing and catalog programs, 3) same-day and next-day delivery, 4) a broad line of business
products from multiple manufacturers on a “one-stop shop” basis, and 5) lower minimum order
quantities.

Seasonality

United’s sales generally are relatively steady throughout the year. However, sales also reflect seasonal
buying patterns for consumers of office products. In particular, the Company's sales of office products
usually are higher than average during January, when many businesses begin operating under new
annual budgets and release previously deferred purchase orders. Janitorial and breakroom supplies
sales are somewhat higher in the summer months.

Employees
As of February 26, 2008, United employed approximately 6,100 people.

Management believes it has good relations with its associates. Approximately 660 of the shipping,
warehouse and maintenance associates at certain of the Company’s Baltimore, Los Angeles and New
Jersey facilities are covered by collective bargaining agreements. In 2008, United successfully
renegotiated the bargaining agreement with associates in the Baltimore facility. The bargaining
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agreement in the New Jersey facility is scheduled to expire in 2008, The bargaining agreement for the
Los Angeles facility has expired and the union is working on a day-to-day contract. A new bargaining
agreement is expected to be finalized in 2008 after union elections are complete. The Company has not
experienced any work stoppages during the past five years.

Availability of the Company’s Reports

The Company’s principal Web site address is www.unitedstationers.com. This site provides United's
Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 16-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K—as
well as amendments and exhibits to those reports filed or furnished under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) for free as soon as reasonably practicable after
they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In
addition, copies of these filings (excluding exhibits) may be requested at no cost by contacting the
Investor Relations Department:

United Stationers Inc.

Attn: Investor Relations Department
One Parkway North Boulevard
Suite 100

Deerfield, IL 60015-2559
Telephone: (847) 627-7000

E-mail; IR@ussco.com

iTEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Any of the risks described below could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
financial condition or results of operations. These risks are not the only risks facing United; the
Company’s business operations could also be materially adversely affected by risks and uncertainties
that are not presently known to United or that United currently deems immaterial.

United may not achieve its cost-reduction and margin enhancement goals.

United has set goals to improve its profitability over time by reducing expenses and growing sales to
existing and new customers. There can be no assurance that United will achieve its enhanced
profitability goals. Factors that could have a significant effect on the Company's efforts to achieve these
goals include the following:

* Inability to achieve the Company’s annual *“War on Waste” (WOW?) initiatives to reduce expenses
and improve productivity and quality;

* Impact on gross margin from competitive pricing pressures;

* Failure to maintain or improve the Company’s sales mix between lower margin and higher margin
products;

* Inability to pass along cost increases from United’s suppliers to its customers;
* Failure to increase sales of United's private brand products; and
* Failure of customers to adopt the Company's product pricing and marketing programs.
The loss of a significant customer could significantly reduce United’s revenues and profitability.

United’s top five customers accounted for approximately 26% of the Company’s 2007 net sales. The loss
of one or more key customers, changes in the sales mix or sales volume to key customers or a significant
downturn in the business or financial condition of any of them could significantly reduce United’s sales
and profitability.

United relies on independent dealers for a significant percentage of its net sales.

Sales to independent office product dealers accounted for a significant portion of United’s 2007 net
sales. Independent dealers compete with national retailers that have substantially greater financial




resources and technical and marketing capabilities. Over the years, several of the Company's
independent dealer customers have been acquired by national retailers. If United’s customer base of
independent dealers declines, the Company’s business and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

United operates in a competitive environment,

The Company operates in a competitive environment, Competition is based largely upon service
capabilities and price, as the Company’s competitors are wholesalers that offer the same or similar
products that the Company offers to the same customers or potential customers. United also faces
competition from some of its own suppliers, which sell their products directiy to United’s customers. The
Company's financial condition and results of operations depend on its ability to compete effectively on
price, product selection and availability, marketing support, togistics and other ancillary services.

United’s operating results depend on the strength of the general economy.

The customers that United serves are affected by changes in economic conditions outside the
Company’s control, including national, regional and local slowdowns in general economic activity and
job markets. Demand for the products and services the Company offers, particularly in office products, is
affected by the number of white collar and other workers employed by the businesses United's
customers serve. An interruption of growth in these markets or a reduction of white collar and other jobs
may adversely affect the Company's operating results. Any future general economic downturn, together
with the negative effect this has on the number of white collar workers employed, may adversely affect
United’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The loss of key suppliers or supply chain disruptions could decrease United’s revenues and
profitability.

United believes its ability to offer a combination of well-known brand name products as well as
competitively priced private brand products is an important factor in attracting and retaining customers.
The Company’s ability to offer a wide range of products is dependent on obtaining adequate product
supply from manufacturers or other suppliers. United’s agreements with its suppliers are generally
terminable by either party on limited notice. The loss of, or a substantial decrease in the availability of
products from key suppliers at competitive prices could cause the Company's revenues and profitability
to decrease. In addition, supply interruptions could arise due to transportation disruptions, labor
disputes or other factors beyond United’s control. Disruptions in United’s supply chain could resultin a
decrease in revenues and profitability.

United’s reliance on supplier allowances and promotional incentives could impact profitability.

Supplier allowances and promotional incentives which are often based on volume contribute
significantly to United’s profitability. If United does not comply with suppliers’ terms and conditions, or
does not make requisite purchases to achieve ceriain volume hurdles, United may not earn certain
allowances and promotional incentives. In addition, if United's suppliers reduce or otherwise alter their
allowances or promotional incentives, United's profit margin for the sate of the products it purchases
from those suppliers may be harmed. The loss or diminution of supplier allowances and promotional
support could have an adverse effect on the Company’'s results of operation.

United must manage inventory effectively in order to maximize supplier allowances while
minimizing excess and obsolete inventory.

United’s profitability depends heavily on supplier aliowances, which United earns based on the volume
of merchandise it purchases. To maximize supplier allowances and minimize excess and obsolete
inventory, United must project end-consumer demand for over 100,000 SKUs in stock. If United
underestimates demand for a particuiar manufacturer's products, the Company will lose sales, reduce
customer satisfaction, and earn a lower level of allowances from that manufacturer. If United
overestimates demand, it may have to liquidate excess or obsolete inventory at a loss.




United is focusing on increasing its sales of private brand products. These products can present unique
inventory challenges. United sources many of its private brand products overseas, resulting in longer
order-lead times than for comparable products sourced domestically. These longer lead-times make it
more difficult to forecast demand accurately and will naturally require larger inventory investments to
support high service levels. In addition, United generally does not have the right to return excess
inventory of private brand products to the manufacturers.

The need to replace legacy systems with new information fechnology systems better equipped to
support the Company’s business could disrupt United’s business and result in increased costs and
decreased revenues. )

The Company relies on information technology in all aspects of its business, including managing and
replenishing inventory, filling and shipping customer orders and coordinating sales and marketing
activities. Many of the Company’s software applications are legacy systems, including order entry, order
processing, pricing, billing, returns and credits, financial, and inventory receiving and control. The
Company is building and implementing new applications to replace some of the legacy systems and to
provide new services to customers. Interruptions in the proper functioning of the Company's information
systems or delays in implementing new systems could disrupt United’s business and result in increased
costs and decreased revenue. A significant disruption or failure of the Company's existing information
technology systems or in its development and implementation of new systems could put it at a
competitive disadvantage and could adversely affect its resuits of operations.

United may not be successful in identifying, consummating and integrating future acquisitions.

Historically, part of United’s growth and expansion into new product categories or markets has come
from targeted acquisitions. Going forward, United may not be able to identify attractive acquisition
candidates or complete the acquisition of any identified candidates at favorable prices and upon
advantageous terms and conditions. Furthermore, competition for attractive acquisition candidates may
limit the number of acquisition candidates or increase the overall costs of making acquisitions.
Acquisitions involve significant risks and uncertainties, including difficulties integrating acquired
business systems and personnel with United’s business; the potential loss of key employees, customers
or suppliers; the assumption of liabilities and exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies;
the difficulties in achieving target synergies; and the diversion of management attention and resources
from existing operations. Difficulties in identifying, completing or integrating acquisitions could impede
United’s revenues and profitability.

The Company relies heavily on its key executives and the loss of one or more of these individuals
could harm the Company’s ability to carry out its business strategy.

United's ability to implement its business strategy depends largely on the efforts, skills, abilities and
judgment of the Company's executive management team. United’s success also depends to a
significant degree on its ability to recruit and retain sales and marketing, operations and other senior
managers. The Company may not be successiul in attracting and retaining these employees, which may
in turn have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

United’s financial condition and results of operation depend on the availability of financing
sources to meet its business needs.

The Company depends on various external financing sources to fund its operating, investing, and
financing activities. See “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financia! Condition and Results of
Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—General” included below under ltem 7. One of the
Company’s external financing sources is a receivables securitization program that is dependent on a
back-up liquidity facility which must be renewed annually. The Company’s other primary external
financing sources terminate or mature in four to six years. If the Company is unable to obtain or renew its
financing sources on commercially reasonable terms, its business and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.




Unexpected events could disrupt normal business operations, which might result in increased
costs and decreased revenues.

Unexpected events, such as hurricanes, fire, war, terrorism, and other natural or man-made disruptions,
may increase the cost of doing business or otherwise impact United’s financial performance. In addition,
damage to or loss of use of significant aspects of the Company’s infrastructure due to such events could
have an adverse affect on the Company's operating results and financial condition.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED COMMENT LETTERS.
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

The Company considers its properties to be suitable with adequate capacity for their intended uses. The
Company evaluates its properties on an ongoing basis to improve efficiency and customer service and
leverage potential economies of scale. Substantially ali owned facilities are subject to liens under
USSC's debt agreements (see the information under the caption “‘Liquidity and Capital Resources”
included below under ltem 7). As of December 31, 2007, these properties consisted of the following:

Offices. The Company owns approximately 49,000 square feet of office space in Orchard Park, New
York and a 136,000 square foot facility in Des Plaines, lllinois. The Des Plaines, lllinois location previously
housed the Company’s corporate headquarters. During 2006, the Company relocated its corporate
headquarters from Des Plaines, lllinois to Deerfield, lllinois. As a result, the Company entered into an
11-year commercial lease for approximately 205,000 square feet of office space. In addition, the
Company leases approximately 22,000 square feet of office space in Harahan, Louisiana. On March 9,
2007, the Company entered into a contract to sell its former corporate headquarters in Des Plaines,
Ninois, The contract expires on March 5, 2008. The Buyer has informed the Company that it has not been
able to secure financing to close the deal and has requested a contract extension of at least nine months.

Distribution Centers. The Company utilizes 70 distribution centers totaling approximately 12.6 million
square feet of warehouse space. Of the 12.6 million square feet of distribution center space, 2.4 million
square feet is owned and 10.2 million square feet is leased. The Company expects to open a new facility
in Orlando, Florida during the second quarter of 2008. This new facility will help improve overall
customer service and maximize efficiencies.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The Company is involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of or incidental to its
business. The Company is not involved in any legal proceedings that it believes will result, individually or
in the aggregate, in a material adverse effect upon its financial condition or results of operations.
ITEM 4, SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.




EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT (as of February 20, 2008)

The executive officers of the Company are as follows:

Name, Age and
Posgltlon with the Company

Business Experlence

Richard W. Gochnauer
58, President and Chief Executive Officer

S. David Bent
47, Senior Vice President and
Chietf Information Officer

Ronald C. Berg
48, Senior Vice President, Inventory
Management

Eric A. Blanchard
51, Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Richard W. Gochnauer became the Company's President and
Chief Executive Officer in December 2002, after joining the
Company as its Chief Operating Officer and as a Director in July
2002. From 1994 until he joined the Company, Mr. Gochnauer
held the positions of Vice Chairman and President,
International, and President and Chief Operating Officer of
Golden State Foods, a privately-held fcod company that
manufactures and distributes food and paper products.

S. David Bent joined the Company as its Senior Vice President
and Chief information Officer in May 2003. From August 2000
until such time, Mr. Bent served as the Corporate Vice President
and Chief Information Officer of Acterna Corporation, a multi-
national telecommunications test equipment and services
company, and also served as General Manager of its Software
Division from October 2002. Previously, he spent 18 years with
the Ford Motor Company. During his Ford tenure, Mr. Bent most
recently served during 1999 and 2000 as the Chief Information
Ofiicer of Visteon Automotive Systems, a tier one automotive
supplier, and from 1998 through 1999 as its Director, Enterprise
Processes and Systems.

Ronald C. Berg has been the Company’s Senior Vice President,
Inventory Management, since May 2006. From May 2005 to May
2006 he served as Senior Vice President, Business
Transformation. He previously served as Senior Vice President,
Inventory Management and Facility Support from October, 2001
until May 2005. He also served as the Company's Vice
President, Inventory Management, since 1997, and as a
Director, Inventory Management, since 1994. He began his
career with the Company in 1987 as an Inventory Rebuyer, and
spent several years thereafter in various product and furniture or
general inventory management positions. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Berg managed Solar Cine Products, Inc., a
family-owned, photographic equipment business.

Eric A. Blanchard has served as the Company's Senior Vice
President, General Counsel and Secretary since January 2006.
From November 2002 until December 2005 he served as the
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary at Tennant
Company. Previously Mr. Blanchard was with Dean Foods
Company where he held the positions of Chief Operating
Officer, Dairy Division from January 2002 to October 2002, Vice
President and President, Dairy Division from 1999 to 2002 and
General Counsel and Secretary from 1988 to 1999.



Name, Age and
Position with the Company

Bus.iness Experience

Patrick T. Collins
47, Senior Vice President, Sales

Timothy P Connolly
44, Senior Vice President, Opetfations

.

James K. Fahey
57, Senior Vice President, Merghandising

Mark J. Hampten
54, Senior Vice President, Marxeting

Patrick T. Collins joined the Company in October 2004 as Senior
Vice President, Sales. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Collins
was employed by Ingram Micro, a globa! technology
distribution company, from January 2000 through August 2004,
in various senior sales and marketing roles, serving most
recently as its Senior Group Vice President of Sales and
Marketing. In that capacity, Mr. Collins had operating
responsibility for sales, marketing, purchasing and supplier
relations for Ingram Micro’s North American division. Prior to
joining Ingram Micro in early 2000, Mr. Collins was with the
Frito-Lay division of PepsiCo, Inc., a global food and beverage
consumer products company, for nearly 15 years, where he
held various accounting, planning, sales and general
management positions.

Timothy P Connolly has served as Senior Vice President,
Operations since December 2008. From February 2006 to such
time, Mr. Connolly was Vice President, Field Operations Support
and Facility Engineering at the Field Support Center. He joined
the Company in August 2003 as Region Vice President
Operations, Midwest. Before joining the Company, Mr. Connolly
was the Regional Vice President, Midwest Region for Cardinal
Health where he directed operations, sales, human resources,
finance and customer service for one of Cardinal’s largest
pharmaceutical distribution centers.

James K. Fahey is the Company's Senior Vice President,
Merchandising, with responsibility for category management
and merchandising, global sourcing, and supplier revenue
management. From September 1992 until he assumed that
position in October 1998, Mr. Fahey served as Vice President,
Merchandising of the Company. Prior to that time, he served as
the Company's Directer of Merchandising. Before he joined the
Company in 1991, Mr. Fahey had an extensive career in both
retail and consumer direct-response marketing.

Mark J. Hampton is the Company's Senior Vice President,
Marketing, with responsibility for marketing, pricing and
advertising activities. He previously served as Senior Vice
President, Marketing and Field Support Services, from late 2001
until early 2003, Senior Vice President, Marketing, and
President and Chief Operating Officer of The Order People
Company, during 2001 and Senior Vice President, Marketing,
from October 2000. Mr. Hampton began his career with the
Company in 1980 and left the Company to work in the office
products dealer community in 1991. Upon his return to the
Company in 1992, he served as Midwest Regional Vice
President, Vice President and General Manager of the
Company’s MicroUnited division and, from 19894, Vice
President, Marketing. Mr. Hampton will be leaving the Company
at the end of February, 2008.
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Name, Age and
Position with the Company

Business Experience

Jeffrey G. Howard
52, Senior Vice President, National Accounts
and Channel Management

Robert J. Kelderhouse
52, Vice President, Treasurer

Kenneth M. Nickel
40, Vice President, Controller and Chief
Accounting Officer

Jeffrey G. Howard has served as the Company’s Senior Vice
President, National Accounts and Channel Management, since
Qctober 2004. From early 2003 until such time, he was Senior
Vice President, National Accounts and New Business
Development. Mr. Howard previously held the positions of
Senior Vice President, Sales and Customer Support Services
from October 2001, Senicr Vice President, National Accounts,
from late 2000 and Vice President, National Accounts, from
1994. He joined the Company in 1990 as General Manager of its
Los Angeles distribution center, and was promoted to Western
Region Vice President in 1992. Mr, Howard began his career in
the office products industry in 1973 with Boorum & Pease
Company, which was acquired by Esselte Pendaflex in 1985,

Robert J. Kelderhouse is expected to be elected and approved
as Vice President, Treasurer of the Company at the Board of
Directors meeting on March 4, 2008. Mr. Kelderhouse joined the
company as a full time employee in February, 2008 and has
served in a cansulting capacity since November, 2007. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Kelderhouse spent six years with R.R.
Donnelley & Sons Company and one of its acquired companies,
Wallace Computer Services, Inc. He served as Senior Vice
President and Treasurer of R.R. Donnelley from February, 2004
through March, 2006 and as Vice President and Treasurer of
Wallace Computer Services, Inc. from May, 1999 through May,
2003, Prior to joining Wallace, Mr. Kelderhouse held numerous
financial and treasury management pasitions throughout a
sixteen year career at Heller International Corporation, a global
commercial finance company. His last position at Heller was as
Senior Vice President, Finance and Capital Markets for the
Sales Finance Group.

Kenneth M. Nickel has been the Company's Vice President,
Controller and Chief Accounting Officer since February 2007.
Prior to that, Mr. Nickel served as the Company’s Vice President
and Controller from November 2002 to February 2007, as its
Vice President and Field Support Center Controller from
November 2001 to October 2002 and as its Vice President and
Assistant Controller from April 2001 to October 2001. Mr. Nickel
has been with the Company since November 1989 and has held
progressively more responsible accounting positions within the
Company's Finance department.
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Name, Age and
Position with the Compa

vy

Business Experience

P. Cody Phipps
48, President, United Stationers

Victoria J. Reich
50, Senior Vice President and (
Financial Officer

William K. Scheller
54, Senior Vice President and F
ORS Nasco, Inc.

Stephen A. Schultz

Supply

hief

resident,

41, Senior Vice President and [President,

Lagasse, Inc.

P Cody Phipps has served as the Company's President, United
Stationers Supply since October 2006. He joined the Company
in August 2003 as its Senior Vice President, Operations. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Phipps was a partner at McKinsey &
Company, Inc., a globa! management consulting firm. During
his tenure at McKinsey from and after 1990, he became a leader
in the firm's North American Operations Effectiveness Practice
and co-founded and led its Service Strategy and Operations
Initiative, which focused on driving significant operational
improvements in complex service and logistics environments.
Prior to joining McKinsey, Mr. Phipps worked as a consultant
with The Information Consulting Group, a systems consulting
firm, and as an IBM account marketing representative.

Victoria J. Reich joined the Company in June 2007 as its Senior
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Reich spent ten years with Brunswick
Corporation where she most recently was President of
Brunswick European Group from August 2003 until June 2006.
She served as Brunswick’s Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer from 2000 to 2003 and as Vice President and
Controller from 1996 until 2000. Before joining Brunswick,
Ms. Reich spent 17 years at General Electric Company where
she held various financial management positions.

William K. Scheller joined the Company in December 2007 as its
Senior Vice President and President of ORS Nasco, Inc., a
wholly owned subsidiary of USSC. USSC completed the
acquisition of ORS Nasco in December 2007. Mr. Scheller
joined ORS Nasco as President and CEQ in September 1998.
Mr. Scheller previously served as Director of Distribution /
Logistics for Patterson Dentat Company (PDCO) for eight years,
where his responsibilities included warehouse operations,
transportation, inventory control, supplier negotiations and
procurement. Before PDCO, he held numerous positions
throughout his 12 years at Pillsbury Company.

Stephen A. Schultz is the President of Lagasse, Inc., a wholly
owned subsidiary of USSC, a position he has held since August
2001. In October 2003, he assumed the additional position of
Senior Vice President, Category Management-Janitorial/
Sanitation, of the Company. Mr. Schultz joined Lagasse in early
1999 as Vice President, Marketing and Business Development,
and became a Senior Vice President of Lagasse in late 2000.
Before joining Lagasse, he served for nearly 10 years in various
executive sales and marketing rotes for Hospital Specialty
Company, a manufacturer and distributor of hygiene products
for the institutional janitorial and sanitation industry.

Executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors. Except as required by individual employment
agreements between execulive officers and the Company, there exists no arrangement or
understanding between any executive officer and any other person pursuant to which such executive
officer was elected. Each execlitive officer serves until his or her successor is appointed and qualified or

until his or her earlier remova

or resignation,

12




PART Ul

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Common Stock Information

USI's common stock is quoted through the NASDAQ Global Select Market (“NASDAQ”) under the
symbol USTR. The following table shows the high and low closing sale prices per share for USl's
common stock as reported by NASDAQ:

High Low
2007

First QUaner . ... ... e $60.21 $46.15
Second QUANEr . . .. ... . e e 68.20 59.52
Third Quarter . . ... .. . i e 70.82 52.36
FOUN QUARET . . .. e i e e e e e e e e 60.47 45.79
2006

First QUarter . . ... ... $53.10 $48.22
Second Quaner . ... ... e e e 56.01 44.77
Third QUANEr . . .. . e e e 51.00 44.95
FourthQuarter . ........... ... ... . iiaiiiiiaon, 49.07 45.58

On February 26, 2008, the closing sale price of Company’s common stock as reported by NASDAQ was
$52.91 per share. On February 26, 2008, there were approximately 806 holders of record of common
stock. A greater number of holders of USI common stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, whose
shares are held of record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares lpe performance of the Company’s common stock over a five-year period
with the cumulative total returns of (1) The NASDAQ Stock Market Index {(U.S. companies}, and (2) a
group of companies included \qithin Value Line's Office Equipment Industry Index. The graph assumes
$100 was invested on December 31, 2002 in the Company’s common stock and in each of the indices
and assumes reinvestment of all dividends (if any} at the date of payment. The following stock price
performance graph is presented-pursuant to SEC rules and is not meant to be an indication of future
performance. - s
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
United Stationers (USTRY. . . {........... $100.00 $142.08 $160.42 $168.40 $162.12 $160.45
*NASDAQ (U.S. Companies} J........... $100.00 $149.52 $162.72 $166.17 $182.58 $197.99
**Value Line Office Equipment. . ... ...... $100.00 $149.32 $175.29 $174.03 $223.44 $175.02

Common Stock Repurchasej

As of December 31, 2007, the pompany had $68.4 million under share repurchase authaorizations from
its Board of Directors. During 2007, the Company repurchased 6,561,416 shares of common stock at an
aggregate cost of $383.3 million.

Purchases may be made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions.
Depending on market and blisiness conditions and other factors, the Company may continue or
suspend purchasing its common stock at any time without notice.

Acquired shares are includedj in the issued shares of the Company and treasury stock, but are not
included in average shares outstanding when calculating earnings per share data.
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The following table summarizes purchases of the Company’s common stock during the fourth quarter of
2007:

Total
Number of Approximate
Shares Dollar Value

Purchased of Shares that
as Part of May Yet Be

Total Average Publicly Purchased
Number of Price Announced Under the
Shares Paid Per Plans or Plans or

Period Purchased Share Programs!" Programs
10/1/2007—10/31/2007 .. .. ... .. oo 740,893  $56.74 740,803  $107,973,448
11/2007—11/30/2007 .. . ... . ... oL 680,493 57.92 680,493 68,562,236
12/1/2007—12/31/2007 . . . . ... ... oo 4,060 48.96 4,060 68,363,454

Total ... e 1,425,446  $57.28 1,425,446

(1) All share purchases were executed under share repurchase authorizations given by the Company’s Board of
Directors and made under a 10b-5 plan.

Dividends

The Company’s policy has been to reinvest earnings to enhance its financial flexibility and to fund future
growth. Accordingly, US| has not paid cash dividends and has no plans to declare cash dividends on its
common stock at this time. Furthermore, as a holding company, USI's ability to pay cash dividends in the
future depends upon the receipt of dividends or other payments from its operating subsidiary, USSC.
The Company's debt agreements impose limited restrictions on the payment of dividends. For further
information on the Company's debt agreements, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources™ in ltem 7, and Note 8
to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in ltem 8 of this Annual Report.

-

Securities Authorized for lssuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by ltem 201(d) of Regulation S-K {Securities Authorized for Issuance under
Equity Compensation Plans} is included in Item 12 of this Annual Report.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The selected consolidated financial data of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2003
through 2007 have been derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company, which
have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. See Note 1
to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The adoption of new accounting pronouncements, changes
in certain accounting policies, reclassifications of discontinued operations and certain other
reclassifications are reflected in the financial information presented below. The selected consolidated
financial data below should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Consolidated
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Financial Statements of the Cqmpany included in Items 7 and 8, respectively, of this Annual Report.
Except for per share data, all amounts presented are in thousands:

Years Ended December 31,%

Income Statement Data:

Netsales . .............. .. ... .. . . . . .. ... ...
Costofgoodssold ... ... .. ... . L. .. .. ... . ... .. ..

Grossprofit . . ... ... .. ... .k e

Qperating expenses:;

Wharehousing, marketing and administ ative expenses . ... .. ..
Rastructuring and other charges (reve‘sal). net® .. ... ...

Total operatingexpenses . . .. ... . .| . ... ... .. ........

Operatinglncome . .. ... .. ... .. ... ... ... .. ... ...,
Interestexpense . . ., ... ... . ol - e e
Interestincome . . .............0..... ... ... .. ..., ..
Loss on eary retiremant of debt® . . .} . .. ... ... ...
Other expense, net® .. . ... ... ... ... L

Income from continuing operations befole income taxes and

cumulative effect of a change in accognting principle . . ... ...
Income taxexpense . . .. ... ... . e e

income frem continuing operations befofe cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle . . . {

(Loss) income from discontinued operatons, net of tax., . . . .. ...

income belore cumulative effect of a ch}nge in accounting principle

Cumulative effect of a change in accourting principle®™® ., ... ...
Netincome . ............. ..ot

Net income per share—basic:
Income from continuing operations begfore cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle . . l
{Loss) incoma from discontinued ope

Net income per share—diluted:
Income from continuing operations bgfore cumulative effect of a

change in accounting pringiple . . . . .. .. ... ... ...
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, netof tax ... ... ..
Cumulative eftect of a change in accqunting principle . ... ... ..

Net income per common share—diluled . . . ... ... ... .. ...

Cash dividends declared pershare . . |..................

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital™ . . . . ... .. ...
Totalassets™ . . ... ......... ... .. .. ..o,
Total debt® . . . .. ... ... ..
Total stockholders' equity . . . . ... . §. ... ... . ... . . ... ..

Statement of Cash Flows Data:

Net cash provided by operating activities . . ... ............
Net cash used ininvesting activities . {. . ... .............
Met cash {used in) provided by financing activities . . .. ... . ...

Other Data:
Pro forma amounts assuming the accounting change for EITF lssus
No. 02-16:@

Netingome . . ... ... ... .. . ... . . e

Earnings per share:

Basic. . - . e e e e
Diuted . .. ........ ....... oo

ations, netoftax . ......
Cumnulative effect of a change in acccunting principle . . . .. . ..

Net income per common share—basig . ... .............

2007 2006 2005 20048 2003
$4,646,399 $4,546,914 $4.279,080 $3,838701 $3,652,413
3,030,684 3,792,833 3,637,065 3,254,169 3,105,635

706,715 754,081 642,024 584,532 546,778

502,810 516,234 471,193 422,595 406,446

1.378 1,941 {1,331) — —

504,188 518,175 469,862 422595 406,446

202,527 235506 © 172,162 161,937 140,332

(13,109}  {8.276) {3,050) (3.324) (6,816)

1197 970 342 362 262
— — — — (6.693)

(18,595)  (12,786) (7,035) (3,488) (4.826)

176,020 215814 162415 155487 122,250

68,825 80510 60,949 57,523 46,480

107,195 135304 101,470 97,964 75,779

— (3091 {3.969) (7,993) 3,331

107,195 132,213 97,501 89,971 79,110

— — - — (6.108)
$ 107,95 § 132,213 § 97501 § 89971 $ 73,002
$ 392% 437 § 308 § 293 3 229
— {0.10) 0.12) {0.24) 0.10
— — - — ©.19)
.% 3928 427 8 296 F5 260 § 220
$ 383% 431 $ 302 % 288 § 227
— 0.10) ©.12) {0.23) 0.10
— - — — (0.19)
$ 383% 421 % 2080 5 265 $  2.18
$ — 3 -3 — 3 — -
$ 543258 § 551,556 § 421005 $ 545552 $ 498,523

1,765,555 1560355 1,550,545 1,419,756 1,305357

451,000 117,300 21,000 18,000 17,324

574,254 800,940 768,512 737,071 677,460
$ 218054 § 13,994 $ 236067 § 50701 $ 171,015

(197.898)  (18,624)  (371,748) (13,378} (14,279

{13,188) 2,198 (62680}  (32032)  {164,416)
$ 107,195 § 132,213 § 097501 $ 89971 $ 79,110
$ 392% 427 %3 286 $ 269 § 239
$ 383 421 3 280 § 265 § 237

(1) In 2008, the Company racorded $30.6 million, or $1.21 per diluted share in non-recurring favorable benefits from the Company's
product content syndication program and certain marketing program changes.
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{2) During 2004, the Company recorded a pre-tax write-off of approximately $13.2 million in supplier allowances, customer rebates and
trade receivables, inventory and other items associated with the Company's Canadian Division.

(3) Reflects restructuring and other charges in the following years: 2007—%1.4 million charge for the 2006 Workforce Reduction Program.
2006—$6.0 million charge for the 2006 Worklarce Reduction Program, partially offset by a $4.1 million reversal of previously
established restructuring reserves, 2005—%1.3 million reversal of previously established restructuring reserves. See Nole 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

(4

-

Curing 2003, the Company redeemed its 8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes and replaced its then existing credit agreement with a
new Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement. As a resull, the Company recarded a 1oss on early retirement of debt! totaling $6.7 million,
of which $5.9 million was associated with the redemption of the 8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes and $0.8 million related to the
write-off of deferred financing costs associated with replacing the prior credit agreement.

5

-—

Primarily represents the toss on the sale of certain trade accounts receivable through the Company’s Receivables Securitization
Program. For further information on the Company's Receivables Securitization Program, see “Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-—Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Receivables Securitization Program”
under ltem 7 of this Annual Report.

{6) Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted EITF Issue No. 02-16. As a result, during the first quarter of 2003 the Company
recorded a non-cash, cumulative after-tax charge of $6.1 million, or $0.19 per diluted share, related to the capitalization into inventory
of a portion of fixed promotional allowances received from vendors for participation inn the Company's adventising publications.

{7) In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP'), total assets exclude $248.0 million in 2007, $225.0 million in
2006 and 2005, $118.5 million in 2004 and $150.0 million in 2003 of certain trade accounts receivable sold through the Company's
Receivables Securitization Program. For further information on the Comparny’s Receivables Securitization Program, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—
Receivables Securitization Program” under ltem 7 of this Annual Report.

(8) Total debl includes current maturities.

{9) Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified 1o conform to the current presentation. Such reclassifications were limited to
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement presentation and did not impact the Statements of Income. Specifically, the Company
reclassified capitalized software costs from “Other Assets” to "Property, Plant and Equipment” beginning in the first quarter of 20086,
with prior pericds updated to conform to this presentation. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, $17.0 million,
$3.7 million and $3.3 million, respectively, in operating cash outflows were reclassified as cash outflows from investing activities. The
reclassification of capitalized software also resulted in a reclassification from “Other Assets” to “Property, Plant and Equipment” for
2005 of $17.0 million. Additionally, the Company reclassified certain offsets to "“Accrued Liabilities” related to merchandise return
reserves to "Inventory”. This reclassification began in the fourth quarter of 2007, with prior periods updated to conform to this
presentation, For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003, $7.0 million, $8.3 million, $6.6 million and $5.9 million,
respectively, were reclassified to “Inventory” out of “Accrued Liabilities” with corresponding changes made to the Statement of Cash
Flows within “Cash Flows From Operating Activities".

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking
statements often contain words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” “plans,”
“believes,” “seeks,” “will,” “is likely,” "scheduled,” “positioned to,” “continue,” “forecast,”
“predicting,” “projection,” “potential” or similar expressions. Forward-looking statements include
references to goals, plans, strategies, objectives, projected costs or savings, anticipated future
performance, results or events and other statements that are not strictly historical in nature. These
forward-looking statements are based on management's current expectations, forecasts and
assumptions. This means they involve a number of risks and uncentainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied here. These risks and uncertainties include,
without limitation, those set forth above under the heading *Risk Factors.”

(AT

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. The forward-looking information herein is given as of this date only, and the Company
undertakes no obligation to revise or update it.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S [)ISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with both the information at the end of ltem 6 of
this Annual Report on Form 104K appearing under the caption, “Forward Looking Information,” and the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes contained in ltem 8 of this Annual
Report.

Overview and Recent Results: ~

The Company is North America's largest broad line wholesale distributor of business products, with
2007 net sales of $4.6 billion. 1:he Company sells its products through a national distribution network of
70 distribution centers to appioximately 30,000 resellers, who in turn sell directly to end consumers.
Organic sales year-to-date thrqugh February 26, 2008, were up approximately 1.6% compared with the
same period last year. Includirjg incremental sales related to ORS Nasco, year-to-date 2008 revenues
were up approximately 7.4%.

Key Company and Industry Trends

The following is a summary of{selected trends, events or uncertainties that the Company believes may
have a significant impact on i\s future performance.

* While the macroecongmic environment that supports business-related spending remains

uncertain, efforts are I
including a disciplined

On December 21, 2007,
distributor of industrial ¢

net of cash acquired,

eing made by the Company to manage all aspects of the business
focus on cost control and working capital efficiency improvement.

the Company completed the acquisition of ORS Nasco, a pure wholesale
upplies. ORS Nasco annual sales for 2007 were nearly $285 million; this

as approximately $180 million.

acquisition provides U:{ted with a new growth platform beginning in 2008. The purchase price,

Management will contir

ue to focus on its six key value drivers, which it believes will help the

Company reach imporfant milestones: deliver profitable sales growth, drive out waste, grow
private brands, optimize assets, leverage the potential of the ORS Nasco and Sweet Paper
acquisitions and enhante the Company’s marketing capabilities. Specifically, as part of the effort

to drive out waste, se\f

eral project teams have been engaged in identifying key areas of the

business where Six Sigma and lean management tools are being used to reduce costs.

Total Company sales fo
sales were up 1.8% ov

1 2007 grew 2.2% to $4.6 billion. Adjusted for one more sales day in 2007,
ar 2006. Continued strong growth was seen in janitorial and breakroom

supplies with solid growth in traditional office products. These improvements were partially offset
by declines in the tectﬁ*nology and furniture categories. The 2007 results include ORS Nasco
effective with the acquigition date of December 21, 2007. The acquisition did not have a material
impact on the overall sales growth rate for the year.

Gross margin as a percent of sales for 2007 was 15.2% versus 16.6% in 2006. Gross margin in

2006 benefited from §
content syndication [
non-recurring items, gr

Cash flow increased in
during 2007.

Significant progress w
Company continues to

£50.6 million of non-recurring gains related to the Company’s product
rogram and certain marketing program changes. Excluding these
pss margin for 2006 was 15.3%, or 4 basis points (bps) higher than 2007.

2007 compared with 2006 reflecting working capital improvements made

s also made in optimizing the Company’s assets over the past year as the
mprove working capital efficiency and works toward achieving its optimal
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capital structure. In July 2007, the Company amended and restated its Five-Year Revolving Credit
Agreement (July 2007 Credit Agreement) that, among other things, provided an additional
$100 million in capacity. In October 2007, the Company entered into the 2007 Master Note
Purchase Agreement under which it issued and sold $135 million of floating rate senior secured
notes in a private placement. In December 2007, the Company also entered into an Amendment
to its July 2007 Credit Agreement that provided for a Term Loan of $200 million in addition to the
existing Revolving Credit Facility.

 During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company entered into two interest rate swap transactions to
mitigate its floating rate risk on $335 million of London Interbank Offered Rate {LIBOR) based
debt. These swap transactions effectively fix the interest rates at 4.674% and 4.075% for
$135 million and $200 million of the Company’s LIBOR based debt, respectively. These cash flow
hedges are being accounted for under the principles outlined in the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB') Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS No. 133"). See Note 20 of
the Consolidated Financial Statements for more detail on the accounting for these transactions.

 During 2007, the Company acquired approximately 6.6 million shares of common stock for
$383 million under its pubticly announced share repurchase programs. An additional
$67.5 million or approximately 1.2 million shares were repurchased in 2008 through February 26,
2008. As of February 26, 2008, the Company had approximately $0.9 million remaining under its
August 2007 Board share repurchase authorization. The Company anticipates that the Board of
Directors will continue to consider share repurchases throughout 2008.

« During 2007, the Company coniinued development of its technology enabted marketing
capabilities. The Company published its new content and introduced its electronic catalog
demonstrating its enhanced content and search capabilities. The Company is working with
industry software providers to embed its electronic catalog content into their e-commerce
solutions which will enhance the end-consumers’ shopping experience and give our reseller
customer a competitive advantage. SAP is continuing to invest in their SAP Hosted Solution for
Business Products Resellers (the “Solution”) which is aimed at providing independent dealers
with an enhanced shopping experience for their customers to effectively run their businesses.
While the roll-out process of this technology platform has been slowed to more fully develop the
functionality and capabilities of the system, SAP anticipates being able to roll out enhanced
products for dealers in late 2008.

Acquisition of ORS Nasco Holding, Inc.

On December 21, 2007, the Company's subsidiary, USSC, completed the purchase of 100% of the
outstanding shares of ORS Nasco Holding, Inc. (ORS Nasco) from an affiliate of Brazos Private Equity
Partners, LLC of Dallas, Texas, and other shareholders. This acquisition was completed with the
payment of the base purchase price of $175 million plus estimated working capital adjustments, a
pre-closing tax benefit payment and other adjusting items. In total, the preliminary purchase price was
$180.6 million, including $0.5 million in transaction costs and net of cash acquired subject to finalizing
working capital adjustments. The acquisition will allow the Company to diversify its product offering and
provides an entry into the wholesale industrial supplies market. The purchase price was financed
through the addition of a $200 million Term Loan under the accordion feature of USSC’s existing credit
agreement. The purchase price is also subject to certain post-closing adjustments. The Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements include ORS Nasco’s results of operations from December 22, 2007
and are not deemed material for purposes of providing pro forma financial information. The transaction
is expected to be accretive to United's earnings beginning in 2008.
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ORS Nasco is a pure wholezale distributor of industrial supplies, with annual sales in 2007 of
approximately $285 million. The company sells exclusively to independent distributors, stocking
approximately 60,000 items and offering thousands of additional premium branded and private 1abel
products from approximately 500 manufacturers. ORS Nasco sells to approximately 7,000 independent
distributers in multiple channeld, including industrial, MRO {(maintenance, repair and operations), safety,
construction, welding, and oil{field services. It serves a very diverse customer base through eight
distribution centers strategically located across the United States, and is headquartered in Muskogee,
Oklahoma.

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations, with the excess purchase price over

the fair market value of the as%ets acquired and liabilities assumed allocated to goodwill. Based on a
\

preliminary purchase price allpcation, the preliminary purchase price of $180.6 million, net of cash
received, has resulted in goodill and intangible assets of $89.7 million and $44.6 million, respectively.
Neither the goodwill nor the int‘:mgible assets are expected to generate a tax deduction. The intangible
assets purchased include unarportizable intangibles of $12.3 million that have indefinite lives while the
remaining $32.3 million in intangible assets acquired is amortizable. The weighted average useful life of
intangibles is expected to be approximately 14 years. The Company recorded amortization for these
intangibles from December 22§ 2007 through year end. Subsequent adjustments may be made to the
purchase price allacation based on, among other things, post-closing purchase price adjustments and
finalizing the valuation of tangible and intangible assets.

Critical Accounting Policies, [Judgments and Estimates

The Company’s significant acclounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements. As descijbed in Note 2, the preparation of financial statements in conformity with
U.S. GAAP requires managemegnt to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Future events and their effects
cannot be determined with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determination of estimates requires the
exercise of judgment. Actual rgsults may differ from those estimates. The Company betieves that such
differences would have to vary significantly from historical trends to have a material impact on the
Company's financial results.

The Company’s critical accouri'lting policies are most significant to the Company’s financial condition
and results of operations and require especially difficult, subjective or complex judgments or estimates
by management. In most case", critical accounting policies require management to make estimates on
matters that are uncertain at the time the estimate is made. The basis for the estimates is historical
experience, terms of existing] contracts, observance of industry trends, information provided by
customers or vendors, and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. These
critical accounting policies incjude the following:

Supplier Allowances

Supplier allowances (fixed and variable) are common practice in the business products industry and
have a significant impact on the Company’s overall gross margin. Gross margin is determined by,
among cther items, file margin (determined by reference to invoiced price), as reduced by estimated
customer discounts and rebates as discussed below, and increased by estimated supplier allowances
and promotional incentives. These allowances and incentives are estimated on an ongoing basis and
the potential variation betwegn the actual amount of these margin contribution elements and the
Company's estimates of therp could be material to its financial results. Reported results include
management's current estimaje of such allowances and incentives.
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In 2007, approximately 15% of the Company's estimated annual supplier allowances and incentives
were fixed, based on supplier participation in various Company advertising and marketing publications.
Fixed allowances and incentives are taken to income through lower cost of goods sold as inventory is
sold.

The remaining 85% of the Company’'s estimated supplier allowances and incentives in 2007 were
variable, based on the volume and mix of the Company’s product purchases from suppliers. These
variable allowances are recorded based on the Company's annual inventory purchase volumes and
product mix and are included in the Company’s financial statements as a reduction to cost of goods
sold, thereby reflecting the net inventory purchase cost. Supplier allowances and incentives attributable
to unsold inventory are carried as a component of net inventory cost. The potential amount of variable
supplier allowances often differs based on purchase volumes by supplier and product category. As a
result, lower Company sales volume (which reduce inventory purchase requirements) and product sales
mix changes (primarily because higher-margin products often benefit from higher supplier allowance
rates) can make it difficult to reach supplier allowance growth hurdles.

Fixed supplier allowances traditionally represented 40% to 45% of the Company's total annual supplier
allowances, compared to the 15% referenced above. This ratic has declined significantly as the
Company's 2007 supplier contracts eliminated the majority of the historical fixed component and
replaced it with a variable allowance based on product purchases. The Company transitioned to a
calendar year program with its 2006 Supplier Allowance Program for product content syndication. This
change altered the year-over-year timing on recognizing related income, which resulted in a
non-recurring positive impact to gross margin of $41.6 million during 20086.

Customer Rebates

Customer rebates and discounts are common in the business products industry and have a significant
impact on the Company’s overall sales and gross margin. Such rebates are reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements as a reduction of sales.

Customer rebates include volume rebates, sales growth incentives, advertising allowances,
participation in promotions and other miscellaneous discount programs. These rebates are paid to
customers monthly, quarterly and/or annually. Volume rebates and growth incentives are based on the
Company’s annual sales volumes to its customers. The aggregate amount of customer rebates depends
on product sales mix and customer mix changes.

During 2006, the Company changed the timing of certain marketing programs impacting catalog
charges and related customer rebates, which resulted in a non-recurring favorable impact to gross
margin of $19.0 million,

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when a service is rendered or when title to the product has transferred to the
customer. Management establishes a reserve and records an estimate for future product returns related
to revenue recognized in the current period. This estimate requires management to make certain
estimates and judgments, including estimating the amount of future returns of products sold in the
current period. This estimate is based on historical product-return trends and the loss of gross margin
associated with those returns. This methodology involves some risk and uncertainty due to its
dependence on historical information for product returns and gross margins to record an estimate of
future product returns. if actual product returns on current period safes differ from historical trends, the
amounts estimated for product returns (which reduce net sales) for the period may be overstated or
understated, causing actual resulits of operations or financial condition to differ from those expected.
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Valuation of Accounts Raceivable

The Company makes judgmenits as to the collectability of accounts receivable based on historical trends
and future expectations. Management estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts. This allowance
adjusts gross trade accounts réceivable downward to its estimated collectible or net realizable value. To
determine the appropriate allpwance for doubtful accounts, management undertakes a two-step
process. First, management raviews specific customer accounts receivable balances and specific
customer circumstances to detirmine whether a further allowance is necessary. As part of this specific-
customer analysis, management considers items such as bankruptey filings, litigation, government
investigations, historical charge-off patterns, accounts receivable concentrations and the current level of
receivables compared with hisjorical customer account balances. Second, a set of general allowance
percentages are applied to acgounts receivable generated as a result of sales. These percentages are
based on historical trends for r::ustomer write-offs. Periodically, management reviews these allowance
percentages, adjusting for curient information and trends.

The primary risks in the meth{:dology used to estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts are its
dependence on historical information to predict the collectability of accounts receivable and timeliness
of current financial information from customers. To the extent actual collections of accounts receivable
differ from historical trends, the allowance for doubtful accounts and related expense for the current
period may be overstated or upderstated.

Insured Loss Liability Eslimates

The Company is primarily resppnsible for retained liabilities related to workers’ compensation, vehicle,
property and general liability and certain employee health benefits. The Company records expense for
paid and open claims and an estpense for claims incurred but not reported based upon historical trends
and certain assumpticns about] future events. The Company has an annual per-person maximum cap,
provided by a third-party insurance company, on certain employee medical benefits. In addition, the
Company has both a per-occurrence maximum loss and an annual aggregate maximum cap on
workers’ compensation claims

Inventories

Inventory constituting approximately 81% and 82% of total inventory as of December 31, 2007 and 20086,
respectively, has been valued Under the last-in, first-out (“LIFO") accounting method. LIFO resuits in a
better matching of costs and revenuss. The remaining inventory is valued under the first-in, first-out
(“FIFO") accounting method. {Inventory valued under the FIFO and LIFO accounting methods is
recorded at the lower of cost or market. If the Company had valued its entire inventory under the lower of
FIFO cost or market, inventory \vould have been $60.4 million and $52.2 million higher than reported as
of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. The increase in the LIFO reserve, which
increased cost of sales by $8.2 million, was partially offset by reduced cost of sales resulting from
decrements in certain LIFO dools. During 2007, inventory quantities for the partion of inventory
accounted for under the LIF®D accounting method were reduced. These reductions resulted in
liquidations of LIFQ inventory qt‘Jantities carried at lower costs prevailing in prior years as compared with
the cost of current year purchases. The effect of these liquidations decreased cost of sales by
approximately $3.7 million. :

The Company records adjustments for shrinkage. Inventory that is obsolete, damaged, defective or slow
moving is recorded to the lower of cost or market. These adjustments are determined using historical
trends and are adjusted, if necgssary, as new information becomes available.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company’s risk managerpent policies allow for the use of derivative financial instruments to
prudently manage foreign currency exchange rate and interest rate exposure. The policies do not allow
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such derivative financial instruments to be used for speculative purposes. At this time, the Company
primarily uses interest rate swaps which are subject to the management, direction and controf of our
financial officers. Risk management practices, including the use of all derivative financial instruments,
are presented to the Board of Directors for approval.

All derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet date at their fair value. All derivatives in a net
receivable position are included in “Other assets”, and those in a net liability position are included in
“Other long-term liabilities”. The interest rate swaps that the Company, has entered into are classified as
cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133 as they are hedging a forecasted transaction or the
variability of cash flow to be paid by the Company. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is
qualified, designated and highly effective as a cash flow hedge are recorded in other comprehensive
income, net of tax, until earnings are affected by the forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flow,
and then are reported in current earnings.

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as the risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This
process includes linking all derivatives designated as cash flow hedges to specific forecasted
transactions or variability of cash flow.

The Company formally assesses, at both the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flow of hedged
items. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge then hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively in accordance with SFAS No. 133. At this time, this has not occurred as all
cash flow hedges contain no ineffectiveness. See Note 20 on “Derivative Financial Instruments” for
further detail.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (*'SFAS™) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes
{(“SFAS No. 109”). The Company estimates actual current tax expense and assesses temporary
differences that exist due to differing treatments of items for tax and financial statement purposes. These
temporary differences result in the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The current and deferred tax balances and income tax expense recognized by the Company are based on
management’s interpretation of the tax laws of multiple jurisdictions. Income tax expense also reflects the
Company’s best estimates and assumptions regarding, among other things, the level of future taxable
income, interpretation of tax laws, and tax planning. Future changes in tax laws, changes in projected
levels of taxable income, and tax planning could impact the effective tax rate and current and deferred tax
balances recorded by the Company. Management’s estimates as of the date of the Consolidated Financial
Statements reflect its best judgment giving consideration to all currently available facts and circumstances.
As such, these estimates may require adjustment in the future, as additional facts become known or as
circumstances change. Further, the tax effects from uncertain tax positions are recognized in the financial
statements, only if it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, based on
the technical merits of the position. The Company also accounts for interest and penalties related to
uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. See “New Accounting Pronouncements”,
below, for more information on FASB interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—
an Interpretation of FASB Statement 109 ("FIN No. 48").

Pension and Postretirement Health Benefits

Calculating the Company’s obligations and expenses related to its pension and postretirement health
benefits requires using certain actuarial assumptions. As more fully discussed in Notes 12 and 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Staternents included in ltem 8 of this Annual Report, these actuarial assumptions
inciude discount rates, expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, and rates of increase in
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compensation and healthcare |costs. To select the appropriate actuarial assumptions, management
relies on current market trends and historical information. The expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets assumption is based o) historical returns and the future expectation of returns for each asset
category, as well as the target; asset allocation of the asset portfolio. Pension expense for 2007 was
$7.4 million, compared to $8.8 rnillion in 2006 and $8.1 million in 2005. A one percentage point decrease
in the assumed discount rate]would have resuited in an increase in pension expense for 2007 of
approximately $4.1 million and increased the year-end projected benefit obligation by $18.3 million.

Costs associated with the Company’s postretirement health benefits plan were $0.1 million, $0.1 million
and $0.9 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The accrued postretirement benefit obligation
declined during 2006 as a result of a change in the estimated plan participation rate. A one-percentage
point decrease in the assumFd discount rate would have resulted in incremental postretirement
healthcare expenses for 2007 of approximately $0.1 million and increased the year-end accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation by $0.5 million. Current rates of medical cost increases are trending
above the Company’s medicgl cost increase cap of 3% provided by the plan. Accordingly, a one
percentage point increase in the assumed average healthcare cost trend would not have a significant
impact on the Company's postretirement health plan costs.

The following tables summarize the Company’s actuarial assumptions for discount rates, expected
leng-term rates of return on plan assets, and rates of increase in compensation and healthcare costs for
the years ended December 37, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

2007 2006 2005

Pension plan assumptions:

Assumed discountrate .. .0 ....... ... . . ... 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Rate of compensationincrease . . .. .. ... . ... . .. ... o 3.75% 3.75% 3.75%
Expected long-term rate of réturn on planassets . . .................. B8.25% B.25% 8.25%
Postretirement health benefits assumptions:

Assumed average healthcare COStUeNd . . . .. .o oo, 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
Assumed discountrate . ..} ... ... ... 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

To select the appropriate actliarial assumptions, management relied on current market conditions,
historical information and consultation with and input from the Company's outside actuaries. The
expected long-term rate of rett{rn on plan assets assumption is based on historical returns and the future
expectation of returns for eachjasset category, as well as the target asset allocation of the asset portfolio.
Resuits for the Years Ended|December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

The following table presents the Consolidated Statements of Income as a percentage of net sales:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Netsales. . ........ ... . e 100.0% 1000% 100.0%
Costofgoodssold . . .| ........ ... .. ... ........ 84.79 83.42 85.00
Grossmargin.......|..... ... ... .. . 15.21 16.58 15.00
Operating expenses:

Warehousing, marketing and administrative expenses . . . . . 10.82 11.35 11.01

Restructuring and othr charges (reversals), net. ... ... .. 0.03 0.04 {0.03)
Total operating expenses . . .. ... . oo e e 10.85 11.3¢9 10.98
Operatingincome . . . .. ... ... .. . 4.36 5.19 4.02
Interestexpense, net . .|.............. . ... .. ... .... 0.26 0.16 0.06
Otherexpense, net . . .|.. ... ... .. ... .. .. ... ... .. ... 0.31 0.28 0.16
Income from continuing| operations before income taxes. . . . . 3.79 4.75 3.80
Incometax expense . J. . ... ... .. ... ... 1.48 1.77 1.43
Income from continuingjoperations . ... ... ............ 2.31 208 2.37
Loss from discontinued|operations, net of tec . . . ... .. .... — (0.07) (0.09}
Netincome . ... ... . ... .. . . . . ... 231 % 291 % 2.28 %
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The above table includes all non-recurring items that are separately itemized in the tables below for 2007
and 2008. Operating expenses for 2005 were also impacted by a non-recurring charge related to a
$1.3 million reversal of restructuring reserves for the 2002 and 2001 Restructuring Plans.

Adjusted Operating Income and Diluted Earnings Per Share

The following table presents Adjusted Operating Income and Diluted Earnings Per Share for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands, except per share data). The table shows Adjusted
Operating Income and Diluted Earnings per Share excluding the non-recurring effects of product
content syndication/marketing programs, the write-off of capitalized software (see “Comparison of
Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006" below for more detail), restructuring charges
and reversals and the loss on the discontinued operations of the Canadian Division. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles require that the effects of these items be included in the Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Income. The Company believes that excluding these items is an appropriate comparison
of its ongoing operating results to last year and that it is helpful to provide readers of its financial
statements with a reconciliation of these items to its Condensed Consolidated Statemenits of Income
reported in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
For the Years Ended December 21,

2007 2006
% to % to
Amount Net Sales Amount Net Sales

Sales . ... . e e e e $4,646,399 100.00% $4,546,914 100.00%
Gross profit . .. ... e $ 706,715 15.21% $ 754,081 16.58%

Product content syndication/marketing programs . .. ... — — (60,623) -1.33%
Adjusted gross profit . . . ... ... ... .. .. . .. $ 706,715 15.21% $ 693,458 15.25%
Operating expenses . . ...........ii ... $ 504,188 10.85% § 518,175 11.39%

Write-off of capitalized software . . .. ... .. ... ... .. — — {6,745) -0.15%

Restructuring charge related to

workforce reduction . . ... ... .. ... ... L. (1,378) -0.03% {6,036) -0.13%

Restructuringreversal . . .. ..................... — — 4,095 0.09%
Adjusted operating expenses . ... ................. $ 502,810 10.82% $ 509,489 11.20%
Operatingincome . . .. ... ... . .. .. $ 202,527 4.36% $ 235906 5.19%

Gross profititem notedabove . ... .. ... ... .. ... .. — — (60,623) -1.33%

Operating expense items noted above . ............ 1,378 0.03% 8,686 0.19%
Adjusted cperatingincome. . .. ... .. ... ... ... $ 203,905 439% $ 183,969 4.05%
Net income per share—diluted . ... ... ............. 3 3.83 $ 4.21

Per share gross profititem noted above . . ... ....... — (1.21)

Per share operating expense items noted above ... ... 0.03 0.17

Add back loss on discontinued operations .. ... ... .. — 010
Adjusted net income per share—diluted . . . ... .. ... ... 5 3.86 $ 327
Adjusted net income per diluted share growth rate over the

prioryearperiod ... ... ... ... 18%
Weighted average number of common shares—diluted . . . 27,976 31,371

Comparison of Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Net Sales. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2007 were $4.6 billion, up 2.2%, compared with
$4.5 billion in 2006. The twelve-month period ended December 31, 2007 had one more selling day
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| of 2006. Adjusted for this change in workdays, sales grew 1.8%. The
by product category for 2007 and 2006 {in millions}:

compared with the same perioc
following table shows net saleg

Years Enced
December 31,

2007 2006
Technology products . . . .. |, ... ... .. .. .. .. . .. $1,729 $1,767
Traditional office products (including cut-sheetpaper}. . .. ............ .. ... 1,374 1,315
Janitorial and breakroom supplies . . . . ... e 925 849
Office furniture . . . . .. .. . | .. 535 536
Freightrevenue .. ... ... ] ... .. .. o i e 77 70
Industrial supplies . ... ... ] .. 3 -
Other ... e 3 10
Totalnetsales ....... ... . $4646 $4,547

Sales in the technology produtts category declined 2.2% in 2007 compared to 2006. This category

continues to represent the large
for approximately 37% for 200

st percentage of the Company’s consolidated net sales and accounted
. Competitive pressures and continued focus on margin management

have led to declines in this are

Sales of traditional office prod
supplies represented approxim
in this category was primarily d

a of the business.

ucts in 2007 grew approximately 4.5% versus 2006. Traditional office
ately 30% of the Company’s consolidated net sales for 2007. The growth

iven by higher cut-sheet paper sales as well as growth in new emerging

channels.

Sales growth in the janitorial arlld breakroom supplies category remained strong, rising approximately
9% in 2007 compared to 2006. This category accounted for nearly 20% of the Company’'s 2007
consolidated net sales. Growtl} in this category was primarily due to volume increases in foodservice
and paper products aided by limproved service levels, breadth of line, new cataiogs and marketing
efforts. A new multi-year agreement signed in the fourth gquarter 2007 with a major account also
contributed to this increase.

Office furniture sales in 2007 VJ
12% of the Company’s 2007 ¢

re flat compared to 2006. Office furniture accounted for approximately
pnsolidated net sales.

counted for less than 1% of the Company’s net sales in 2007 as the
not completed until late December.

Sales of industrial supplies ad
acquisition of ORS Nasco was

The remaining 1% of the Company's consolidated net sales came from freight and advertising revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin Rate. Gross profit (gross margin doliars) for 2007 was $706.7 million,
compared to $754.1 million in 3006, The gross margin rate (gross profit as a percentage of net sales) for
2007 was 15.2%, as compared|to 16.6% for 2008, The decline in gross profit dollars and rate is partially
attributable to incremental ingome in 2006 related to the Company’s product content syndication
program and marketing program changes. These non-recurring benefits accounted for $60.6 million or
133 basis points. Adjusting forithis item, the gross margin rate in 2006 was 15.3% or 4 bps higher than
2007. Successful management]efforts in key margin components including supplier aliowances (17 bps)
were partially offset by lower [zvels of buy-side inflation (21 bps).

Operating Expenses. Opergting expenses for 2007 totaled $504.2 million, or 10.9% of net sales,
compared with $518.2 million] or 11.4% of net sales in 2006. Operating expenses in 2007 include a
$1.4 million restructuring charge related to finalizing the 2006 Workforce Reduction Program. During
2006, operating expenses were unfavorably affected by a $6.0 million restructuring charge reflecting the
workforce reduction and a $6.7 million charge related to the write-off of the Company’s internal systems
initiative. These effects were partially offset by a $4.1 million reversal of a prior-period restructuring
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charge. Adjusting for these non-recurring items, operating expenses in 2007 and 2006 were 10.8% and
11.2% as a percentage of net sales. The 38 bp improvement in operating expenses is mainly due to
reduced payroll and employee related expenses as a result of the previously mentioned workforce
reduction.

Interest Expense, net. Net interest expense for 2007 was $11.9 million, compared with $7.3 million in
2006. The increase in interest expense in 2007 was attributable to higher borrowings for the increased
stock repurchases and acquisition of ORS Nasco, offset by lower average rates.

Other Expense, net. Other Expense for 2007 was $14.6 million, compared with $12.8 million in 2006.
Net Other Expense for 2007 and 2006 primarily reflected costs associated with the sale of certain trade
accounts receivable through the Receivables Securitization Program. The 2007 increase is due primarily
to incremental sales of accounts receivable,

Income from Centinuing Operations before Income Taxes. [ncome from continuing operations
before income taxes for 2007 totaled $176.0 million compared to $215.8 million in 2006.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense was $68.8 million in 2007, compared with $80.5 million in 2006.
The Company's effective tax rate was 39.1% in 2007, compared to 37.3% in 20086. This effective tax rate
increase relates to higher income tax contingencies and the mix of income between jurisdictions and
legal entities.

Income From Continuing Operations. Income from continuing operations for 2007 totaled
$107.2 million, or $3.83 per diluted share, compared with $135.3 million, or $4.31 per diluted share, in
2006. Adjusting for the impact of the non-recurring items noted above, diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations were $3.86 per share in 2007 versus $3.17 per share in 2006.

Loss From Discontinued Operations. On June 8, 2008, the Company sold its Canadian Division. The
after-tax loss from discontinued operations totaled $3.1 million, or $0.10 per diluted share for the year
ended December 31, 2006.

Net Income. Net income for 2007 totaled $107.2 million, or $3.83 per diluted share, compared with net
income of $132.2 million, or $4.21 per diluted share for 2006. Adjusting for the impact of the
non-recurring items noted above, diluted earnings per share were $3.86 per share in 2007 versus $3.27
per share in 2006.

Comparison of Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Net Sales. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $4.5 billion, up 6.3%, compared with
$4.3 billion in 2005. The twelve-month period ended December 31, 2006 had one less selling day
compared with the same period of 2005. The acquisition of Sweet Paper on May 31, 2005 added
approximately 2.5% to the overall net sales growth. The following table shows net sales by product
category for 2008 and 2005 (in millions):

Years Ended
December 31,

72006 2005
Technology products . . .. .. ... . .. e e $1,767 $1,729
Traditional office products (including cut-sheet paper). . . ... ............... 1,315 1,261
Janitorial and breakroom supplies . . . . . ... ... 849 699
Office furniture . . . . .. . . 536 520
Freightravenue ... ... .. .. ... . 70 59
Oher . L e e 10 11
Total net sales . . ... . $4,547 $4,279
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Sales in the technology produc

continued to represent the large

for approximately 39% for 2006

business and expansion of the

Sales of traditional office pro

s category grew just over 2% in 2006 compared to 2005. This category
st percentage of the Company’s consolidated net sales and accounted
This category benefited from continued strength in the printer imaging
Company’s private label products within this category.

ucts in 2006 grew approximately 4% versus 2005. Traditional office

supplies represented approximately 29% of the Company's consolidated net sales for 2006. The growth

in this category was primarily

riven by higher cut-sheet paper sales as well as growth in individual

categories such as school supplies.

Sales growth in the janitorial afid breakroom supplies product category remained strong, rising more

than 21% in 2006 compared
Company's 2006 consclidated
resulting from the Sweet Paper
Company's Consolidated Finar
Sales also increased due to th

Office furniture sales in 2006 in
of the Company's 2006 conso

to 2005 and this category accounted for approximately 18% of the
net sales. Growth in this category was primarily due to additional sales
acquisition (see "Acquisition of Sweet Paper” caption in Note 4 to the
cial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).
g roll out of a nationwide foodservice consumables product offering.

reased 3% compared to 2005. Office furniture accounted for nearly 12%
idated net sales.

The remaining 1% of the Comp
revenue.

any’s consolidated net sales for 2006 represents freight and advertising

Gross Profit and Gross Margin Rate. Gross profit (gross margin dollars) for 2006 was $754.1 million
compared to $642.0 million in 2005. The increase in gross profit dollars was primarily due to higher net
sales and a higher margin ra o as well as non-recurring income related to the Company's product
content syndication program gnd marketing program changes.

The gross margin rate {gross profit as a percentage of net sales) for 2006 was 16.6%, as compared to
15.0% for 2005. The gross margin rate was favorably impacted by non-recurring benefits resulting from
the Company’s praoduct content syndication program and certain marketing program changes of
$60.6 million, or 133 basis points, incremental supplier allowances of 32 basis points due to the mix of

product purchases and higher
resulting from changes in the
margin were partially offset by

Operating Expenses. Oper:
compared with $469.9 million,
sales in 2006 were impacted b!

purchase volumes, and a higher pricing margin rate of 26 basis points
Company's pricing programs. These favorable components of gross
unfavorable inventory related items of 20 basis points.

iting expenses for 2006 totaled $518.2 million, or 11.4% of net sales,
or 11.0% of net sales in 2005. Operating expenses as a percentage of net

the non-recurring items noted above under “Comparison of Results for

the Years Ended December 3], 2007 and 2008". Operating expenses for 2005 include a $1.3 million
reversal of restructuring resen)es related to the 2002 and 2001 Restructuring Plans. Adjusting for these
non-recurring items, operatingjexpenses increased from 11.0% of net sales in 2005 to 11.2% of net sales
in 2006. The increase was primtarily due to (1) $8.0 million in equity compensation expense which began
being expensed in 2006 due to new accounting rules; (2} an increase in payroll and employee related
expenses of $40.9 million; an% partially offset by (3) a $6.7 million gain on the sale of the Company’s
Edison, New Jersey and Pennsauken, New Jersey distribution centers in 2006.

nterest expense for 2006 was $7.3 million, compared with $2.7 million in
expense in 2006 was attributable to higher borrowings combined with

Interest Expense, net. Neti
2005. The increase in interes]
higher interest rates.

Other Expense, net. Net Other Expense for 2006 was $12.8 million, compared with $7.0 million in
2005. Net Other Expense for 2006 and 2005 primarily reflected costs associated with the sale of certain
trade accounts receivabte thrpugh the Receivables Securitization Program. The 2006 increase is due
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primarily to incremental sales of accounts receivable to fund the Sweet Paper acquisition, which closed
on May 31, 2005 and to fund higher working capital requirements.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense was $80.5 million in 2006, compared with $60.9 million in 2005.
The Company's effective tax rate was 37.3% in 2006, compared to 37.5% in 2005.

Income From Continuing Operations. Income from continuing operations for 2006 totaled
$135.3 million, or $4.31 per diluted share, compared with $101.5 million, or $3.02 per diluted share, in
2005. Adjusting for the impact of the non-recurring items noted above, diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations were $3.17 per share in 2006 versus $3.00 per share in 2005.

Loss From Discontinued Operations. On June 9, 2006, the Company sold its Canadian Division. The
after-tax loss from discontinued operations totaled $3.1 million, or $0.10 per diluted share for the year
ended December 31, 2006, compared with a loss of $4.0 million, or $0.12 per diluted share for the same
period of 2005.

NetIncome. Netincome for 2006 totaled $132.2 million, or $4.21 per diluted share, compared with net
income of $37.5 million, or $2.90 per diluted share for 2005. Adjusted for the non-recurring items noted
above, diluted earnings per share was $3.27 for 2006 and $2.88 for 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General

USl is a holding company and, as a result, its primary sources of funds are cash generated from the
operating activities of its operating subsidiary, USSC, including the sale of certain accounts receivable,
and cash from borrowings by USSC. Restrictive covenants in USSC’s debt agreements restrict USSC’s
ability to pay cash dividends and make other distributions to USI. In addition, the right of USI to
participate in any distribution of earnings or assets of USSC is subject to the prior claims of the creditors,
including trade creditors, of USSC.

The Company’s outstanding debt under GAAP, together with funds generated from the sale of accounts
receivable under the Company’s off-balance sheet Receivables Securitization Program (as defined
below), consisted of the following amounts {in thousands):

Asg of As of
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
2007 Credit Agreement—Revolving Credit Facility . . . . . ... . ... ... $ 108,200 $ 110,500
2007 Credit Agreement—Term Loan . . . ..................... 200,000 —
2007 Master Note Purchase Agreement . ... ................. 135,000 —
Industrial development bond, at market-based interest rates, maturing
N 2011 . e e e 6,800 6,800
Debt under GAAP . . . ... ... . . e 451,000 117,300
Accounts receivable sold®™ . . ... ... L L 248,000 225,000
Total outstanding debt under GAAP and accounts receivable sold
(adjusted debt) . ........ ... .. . .. ... 699,000 342,300
Stockholders’ equity . ... ... . ... e 574,254 800,940
Total capitalization . . . ... ... ... . . $1,273,254 $1,143,240
Adjusted debt-to-total capitalizationratio . .. .................. 54.9% 29.9%

(1) See discussion below under “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Receivables Securitization Program”
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The most directly comparable {inancial measure to adjusted debt that is calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP is total{debt (as provided in the above table as “Debt under GAAP”). Under
GAAP, accounts receivable soldJlunder the Company’'s Receivables Securitization Program are required
to be reflected as a reduction inlaccounts receivable and not reported as debt. Internally, the Company
considers accounts receivable 5old to be a financing mechanism. The Company therefore believes it is
helpful to provide readers of {;s financial statements with a measure (“adjusted debt”) that adds
accounts receivable sold to dabt and calculates debt-to-total capitalization an the same basis. A
reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures is provided in the table above. Adjusted debt and the
adjusted-debt-to-total-capitalizaltion ratio are provided as additional liquidity measures.

In accordance with GAAR, total debt outstanding at December 31, 2007 increased by $333.7 million to
$451.0 million from the balance at December 31, 2006. This resulted from an increase in borrowings
under the 2007 Credit Agreement with the $200 million Term Loan and the $135 million private
placement previously described. Adjusted debt as of December 31, 2007 increased by $356.7 million
from the balance at December 31, 2006 as a result of a $23.0 million increase in the amount sold under
the Company's Receivables Securitization Program and the increase of $333.7 million in debt previously
described.

At December 31, 2007, the Corpipany’s adjusted debt-to-total capitalization ratio was 54.9%, compared
to 29.9% at December 31, 2005.

Operating cash requirements land capital expenditures are funded from operating cash flow and
available financing. Financing available from debt and the sale of accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2007, is summarized below (in millions):

Availability
Maximum financing availabl> under:
2007 Credit Agreement—Revtlving CreditFacility .. .................... $425.0
2007 Credit Agreement—Term Loan . . ........ ... ... . . ... .. . ....... 200.0
2007 Master Note Purchase Agreement™ . . .. ... ... ... . ... . ... . ... 135.0
Receivables Securitization Program® . .. . . ... ... ... ... ... ... 248.0
Industrial Development Bond|. . . .. ... .. ... .. .. . 6.8
Maximum financing availabije . . . .. ... .. ... .. .. ... .. . $1,014.8
Amounts utilized:
2007 Credit Agreement—Revplving Credit Facility . .. ... ................ 109.2
2007 Credit Agreement—Termq Loan .. ..... ... . ... . . i 200.0
2007 Master Note Purchase Agreement . . . . . . ... ... . .. ..., 135.0
Receivables Securitization Program . . .. .. ... .. . L L 248.0
Qutstanding letters of credit J. . . . .. ... ... ... .. L 19.5
Industrial Development Bond]. . . .. ... ... .. ... .. 6.8
Total financing utilized . . Y. .. .. ... L 7185
Available financing, beforefrestrictions .. . .......... ... ... ... ... ..., 296.3
Restrictive covenant limitatior] . . . ... ... ... ... . ... . .. . . 80.2
Available financing as of Bpeember 31,2007 . .. . . ... ... ... ... . ... .. $ 21641
(1) Effective October 15, 2007, the maximum financing available increased by $135 million when the Company
entered into a Master Note Pyrchase Agreement and sold $135 million of floating rate senior secured notes as
described further in “Credit ﬂgreement and Other Debt"” below. The 2007 Master Note Purchase Agreement
alfows USSC to borrow up tq $1 billion of senior secured notes of which $135 million have been issued and
sold thus far.
{2) The Receivables Securitizatign Program provides for maximum funding available of the lesser of $250 million

or the total amount of eligible receivables sold.

Restrictive covenants, most ndtably the leverage ratio covenant under the 2007 Credit Agreement and
the 2007 Master Note Purchase Agreement {both as defined in Note 9 of the Consalidated Financial
Statements} may separately lirpit total available financing at points in time, as further discussed below.
As of December 31, 2007, the leverage ratio covenant in the 2007 Credit Agreement restricted the
Company's ability to borrow the full available funding from debt and the sale of accounts receivable (as
shown above).
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The Company believes that its operating cash flow and financing capacity, as described, provide
adequate liquidity for operating the business for the foreseeable future.

Disclosures About Contractual Obligations

The following table aggregates all contractual obligations that affect financial condition and liquidity as of
December 31, 2007 (in thousands):

Payment due by period

Contractual obligations 2008 2009 & 2010 2011 & 2012  Thereafter Total
Longtermdebt............... $8 - 3 — $316,000 $135,000 $451,000
Fixed interest payments on long-

termdebt™ .. ... L. 16,215 32,430 28,120 331 77,096
Cperatingleases . .. .. ......... 52,166 80,489 48,661 55,784 237,100
Purchase obligations . .......... 7,103 2,819 467 - 10,389

Total contractual cash obligations .  $75,484 $115,738 $303,248 $191,115  $775,585

{1} The Company has entered into two interest rate swap transactions on a portion of its long-term debt. The fixed
interest payments noted in the table are based off cf the notional amounts and fixed rates inherent in the two
swap transactions and related debt instruments. For more detail see Note 20, “Derivative Financial
Instruments”, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, the Company has
$116 million of long-term debt that is based on variable market rates. The projected interest payments on this
portion of the Company's long-term debt is not included in this table. See Note 9, “Long-Term Debt” for further
detail.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had uncenditional purchase obligations of $10.4 million related
to equipment for the new Orlando facility and various software maintenance agreements and other
information technology projects.

At December 31, 2007, the Company has a liability for unrecognized tax benefits of $9.2 million as
discussed in Note 15, “Income Taxes”, and an accrual for the related interest, that are excluded from the
Contractual Obligations table. Due to the uncertainties related to these tax matters, the Company is
unabie to make a reasonably reliable estimate when cash settlement with a taxing authority may occur.

Credit Agreement and Other Debt

On July 5, 2007, US| and USSC entered into a Second Amended and Restated Five-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement with PNC Bank, National Association and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Syndication Agents, KeyBank National Association and LaSalle Bank, National Association, as
Documentation Agents, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Agent (as amended on
December 21, 2007, the *2007 Credit Agreement’). The 2007 Credit Agreement provides a Revolving
Credit Facility with a committed principal amount of $425 million and a Term Loan in the principal amount
of $200 million. Interest on both the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan is based on the three-
month LIBOR plus an interest margin based upon the Company’s debt to EBITDA ratio (or “Leverage
Ratio,” as defined in the 2007 Credit Agreement). The 2007 Credit Agreement prohibits the Company
from exceeding a Leverage Ratio of 3.25 to 1.00 and imposes other restrictions on the Company’s ability
to incur additional debt. The Revolving Credit Facility expires on July 5, 2012, which is also the maturity
date of the term loan.

On October 15, 2007, US| and USSC entered into a Master Note Purchase Agreement (the “2007 Note
Purchase Agreement”) with several purchasers. The 2007 Note Purchase Agreement allows USSC to
issue up to $1 billion of senior secured notes, subject to the debt restrictions contained in the 2007 Credit
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement, USSC issued and soid $135 million of
floating rate senior secured notes due October 15, 2014 at par in a private placement (the
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“Series 2007-A Notes"). Interesj on the Series 2007-A Notes is payable quarterly in arrears at a rate per
annum equal to three-month LIBOR plus 1.30%, beginning January 15, 2008. USSC may issue
additional series of senior securgd notes from time to time under the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement but
has no specific plans to do so atjthis time. USSC used the proceeds from the sale of these notes to repay

borrowings under the 2007 Credit Agreement.

On November 6, 2007, USSC, eptered into an interest rate swap transaction (the “‘November 2007 Swap
Transaction™) with U.S. Bank National Association as the counterparty. USSC entered into the November
2007 Swap Transaction to mitig'ate USSC's floating rate risk on an aggregate of $135 million of LIBOR
based interest rate risk. Under tne terms of the November 2007 Swap Transaction, USSC is required to
make quarterly fixed rate payments to the counterparty calculated based on a notional amount of
$135 million at a fixed rate of 4.674%, while the counterparty is obligated to make quarterly floating rate
payments to USSC based on the three-month LIBOR on the same referenced notional amount. The
November 2007 Swap Transactjon has an effective date of January 15, 2008 and a termination date of
January 15, 2013

On December 20, 2007, USS(
Swap Transaction”) with Key H
December 2007 Swap Transacl
of LIBOR based interest rate rid

entered into an interest rate swap transaction (the “December 2007
ank National Association as the counterparty. USSC entered into the
on to mitigate USSC’s floating rate risk on an aggregate of $200 million
k. Under the terms of the December 2007 Swap Transaction, USSC is
required to make quarterly fixed rate payments to the counterparty calculated based on a notionai
amount of $200 million at a fixgd rate of 4.075%, while the counterparty is obligated to make quarterly
floating rate payments to USSC based on the three-month LIBOR on the same referenced notional
amount, The December 2007 Bwap Transaction has an effective date of December 21, 2007 and a
termination date of June 21, 2012,

As of December 31, 2007 and Clecember 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding letters of credit under
the 2007 Credit Agreement and its predecessor agreement of $19.5 million and $17.3 miliion,
respectively.

At December 31, 2007 funding levels {including amounts sold under the Receivables Securitization
Program), a 50 basis point movement in interest rates would result in an annualized increase or
decrease of approximately $1.8 million in interest expense, on a pre-tax basis, and loss on the sale of
certain accounts receivable, and ultimately upon cash flows from operations.

Refer to Note 9 “Long-Term Dejpt” for further descriptions of the provisions of 2007 Credit Agreement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangemints—Receivables Securitization Program

General

USSC maintains a third-party
Securitization Program” or thll “Program”). On November 10, 2006, the Company entered into an
amendment to its Revolving C?edit Facility {the “2006 Credit Agreement”) which, among other things,
increased the permitted size of the Receivables Securitization Program to $350 million, a $75 million

accounts receivable securitization program (the “Receivables

increase from the $275 million |
Company increased its commi
Securitization Program, USSC
{(except for certain excluded ¢
Lagasse, Inc. and foreign oper:
The Receivables Company, in
The trust then sells investment
receivable owned by the trust,
provide standby liquidity fund

mit under the 2005 Credit Agreement. During the first quarter of 2007, the
ments to the maximum available of $250 million. Under the Receivables
ultimately sells, on a revolving basis, its eligible trade accounts receivable
ccounts receivable, which initially includes all accounts receivable of
tions) to USS Receivables Company, Lid. (the “Receivables Company").
urn, ultimately transfers the eligible trade accounts receivable to a trust.
certificates, which represent an undivided interest in the pool of accounts
to third-party investors. Certain bank funding agents, or their affiliates,
ng to support the sale of the accounts receivable by the Receivables
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Company under 364-day liquidity facilities. Standby liquidity funding is committed for 364 days and must
be renewed before maturity in order for the Program to continue. The Program liquidity was renewed on
March 23, 2007. The Program contains certain covenants and requirements, including criteria relating to
the quality of receivables within the poocl of receivables. If the covenants or requirements were
compromised, funding from the Program could be restricted or suspended, or its costs could increase.
In such a circumstance, or if the standby liquidity funding were not renewed, the Company could require
replacement liquidity.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company has chosen to sefl $248 million of interests in trade accounts
receivable to the trust.
Cash Flows

Cash flows for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are summarized
below (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . .. $ 218,054 $ 13,994  $ 235,067
Net cash used in investing activities . . .. ....... {197,898) (18,624) (171,748)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . (13,188) 2,198 (62,680)

Cash Flows From Operations

The Company’s cash flow from operations are generated primarily from net income before depreciation
and amortization and changes in working capital. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year
ended December 31, 2007 totaled $218.1 million, compared with $14.0 million and $236.1 million in
2006 and 2005, respectively. Net cash from operations in 2007 was positively impacted by working
capital improvements versus 2006 particularly in inventory and payables. After excluding the impacts of
accounts receivable sold under the Receivables Securitization Program (see table below), the
Company's operating cash flows for 2007 were $195.1 million, compared to $14.0 million in 2006 and
$129.6 million in 2005.

Operating cash flows in 2007 were primarily attributed to:
(1) net income of $107.2 million;
{2) depreciation and amortization of $42.7 million;
{3) an increase in accounts payable of $42.7 million;
{4) a decline in inventories of $14.4 million; and
{5) an increase in accrued liabilities of $21.6 million, offset by
(6) a $26.6 million increase in accounts receivabie, excluding the impacts of accounts receivable
sold; and
(7) a $6.2 million increase in other assets.

Operating cash flows in 2006 were due to:
(1) net income of $132.2 million;
(2) depreciation and amortization expense of $38.2 million;
(3) the write-off of capitalized software development costs of $6.5 million;
(4) a $5.9 million loss on the sale of the Canadian Division;
(5) a $5.9 million increase in accrued liabilities, offset by
{6) a $37.5 million increase in accounts receivable, excluding the impacts of accaunts receivables
sold;
(7) a $63.3 million decrease in accounts payable;
{8) a $51.3 million reduction in deferred credits;
{9) an increase in inventory of $7.4 million;

33




(10} a $5.5 million increase in other assets; and
(11) a $5.5 millicn gain onfthe sale of property, plant and equipment.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 totaled $14.0 million,
compared with $236.1 million in 2005. Net cash from operations in 2006 was negatively impacted
unfavorable changes in working capital partially offset by higher netincome. After excluding the impacts
of accounts receivable sold under the Receivables Securitization Program (see table below), the
Company's operating cash flows for 2006 were $14.0 million, compared to $129.6 million in 2005.

Operating cash flows in 2005 vwere due to:

(1) net income of $97.5 n}mnon;

(2) depreciation and amofization expense of $32.1 million;

(3) a $15.3 million increaIe in accrued liabilities;

(4) a $13.6 million increase in accounts payable;

(5) a $4.2 million increase in deferred credits, offset by

{6) an increase in inventgry of $25.7 million;

(7) a$11.0 million increasg in accounts receivable, excluding the impacts of accounts receivables
sold; and

(8) a $7.4 million increase in other assets.

The Company views accounty receivable sold through its Receivables Securitization Program (the
“Program”) to be a financing tnechanism based on the following considerations and reasons:

* The Program typically i# the Company's preferred source of floating rate financing, primarily
because it generally cairies a lower cost than other traditional borrowings;

* The Program characterij‘tics are similar to those of traditional debt, including being securitized,
having an interest comgonent and being viewed as traditional debt by the Program's financial
providers in determining capacity to support and service debt;

* The terms of the Progra(n are structured to be similar to those in many revolving credit facilities,
including provisions adaressing maximum commitments, costs of borrowing, financial covenants
and events of default;

+ As with debt, the Company elects, in accordance with the terms of the Program, how much is
funded through the Program at any given time;

* Provisions of the 2007 Credit Agreement and the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement aggregate true
debt (including borrowings under the Credit Facility) together with the balance of accounts
receivabie sold under ti‘w Program into the concept of “Consolidated Funded Indebtedness.”
This effectively treats the Program as debt for purposes of requirements and covenants under
those agreements; and

» For purposes of managipg working capital requirements, the Company evaluates working capital
before any sale of accounts receivables sold through the Program to assess accounts receivable
requirements and performance of such measures as days outstanding and working capital
efficiency.
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Net cash provided by operating activities excluding the effects of receivables sold and net cash used in
financing activities including the effects of receivables sold for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005 is provided below as an additional liquidity measure (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . .. $218,054  $ 13,994 $ 236,067
Excluding the change in accounts receivable sold . . (23,000} — (106,500)
Net cash provided by operating activities excluding
the effects of receivablessold . . .. ........ .. $195,054 $ 13,994 $ 129,567

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activites . $(13,188) § 2,198 $ (62,680)

Including the change in accounts receivable sold . . 23,000 — 106,500
Net cash provided by financing activities including
the effects of receivables sold . .. ........... $ 9812 $ 2,198 $ 43,820

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was
$197.9 million, $18.6 million and $171.7 million, respectively. During 2007, the Company used cash for
investing activities to acquire ORS Nasco, for approximately $180.6 million, net of cash acquired {see
“Acquisition of ORS Nasco Helding, Inc.” above). Gross capital spending in 2007 was $18.7 million.
During 20086, cash used in investing activities included $46.7 million in capital expenditures for IT
systems, infrastructure and ongoing operations, partially offset by $14.8 million in proceeds primarity
from the sale of the Company's Edison and Pennsauken facilities both located in New Jersey and
$13.3 million in cash proceeds from the sale of the Company's Canadian Division (see “Sale of
Canadian Division” above). A final payment related to the sale of the Canadian Division was then
received in 2007 for $1.3 million. During 2005, the Company used cash for investing activities to acquire
Sweet Paper for $123.5 million, net of cash acquired (see "Acquisition of Sweet Paper” caption in Note 4
to the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K), and net capital expenditures for ongoing operations of $48.3 million. The Company expects
gross capital spending (before the impact of any sales proceeds) for 2008 to be in the range of
$25 million to $35 million.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

The Company’s cash flow from financing activities is largely dependent on levels of borrowing under the
Company’s credit agreements and the acquisition or issuance of treasury stock.

Net cash used by financing activities for 2007 totaled $13.2 million, compared to a source of cash of
$2.2 million in 2006 and use of cash of $62.7 million in 2005. In 2007, the Company repurchased
6,561,416 shares of its commaon stock at an aggregate cost of $383.3 million. In addition, for 2007 the
Company’s financing activities included the addition of a $135 million private placement note and a
$200 million Term Loan, both previously described above. Net proceeds from stock option exercises
were also $29.0 million in 2007. During 2006, the Company repurchased 2,626,275 shares of its
common stock at an aggregate cost of $124.7 million, offset by borrowings of $96.3 million under the
Credit Agreement’s Revolving Credit Facility and $26.2 million from the net proceeds of stock options
exercised. During 2005, the Company repurchased 1,794,685 shares of its common stock at an
aggregate cost of $84.5 million. This cash outflow was partially offset by $19.6 million in net proceeds
from the exercise of stock options.
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Seasonality

The Company experiences sgasonality in its working capital needs, with highest requirements in
December through February, reflecting a buitd-up in inventory prior to and during the peak January sales
period. See the information unéer the heading “Seasonality” in Part |, ltem 1 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. The Company belieVes that its current availability is sufficient to satisfy the seasonal working
capital needs for the foreseeable future.

Inflation/Deflation and Changding Prices

The Company maintains subsgtantial inventories to accommodate the prompt service and delivery
requirements of its customers. Accordingly, the Company purchases its products on a regular basis in
an effort to maintain its inventory at levels that it believes are sufficient to satisfy the anticipated needs of
its customers, based upon hisjorical buying practices and market conditions. Although the Company
historically has been able to pass through manufacturers’ price increases to its customers on a timely
basis, competitive conditions wiill influence how much of future price increases can be passed on to the
Company's customers. Conversely, when manufacturers’ prices decline, lower sales prices could result
in lower margins as the Compgny sells existing inventory. As a result, changes in the prices paid by the
Company for its products could have a material effect on the Company’s net sales, gross margins and
net income.

New Accounting Pronouncerments

In December 2007, the Financfal Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS[") No. 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS No. 141(R)"), which is a
revision to SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, originally issued in June 2001. The revised statement
retains the fundamental requirgments of SFAS No. 141 but does define the acquirer and establishes the
acquisition date as the date thi the acquirer achieves control. The main features of SFAS No. 141(R) are
that it “requires an acquirer lo recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the gequiree at the acquisition date, measured at their fair values as of that
date, with limited exceptions ndted in the Statement. SFAS No. 141(R) requires the acquirer to recognize
goodwill as of the acquisition|date. Finally, the new Statement makes a number of other significant
amendments to other Statements and other authoritative guidance including requiring research and
development costs acquired tP be capitalized separately from goodwill and requires the expensing of
transaction costs directly related to an acquisition. This new Statement is not effective until fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 141(R)
to have a material impact on [ts financial position and/or its results of operations.

In December 2007, the FASE issued Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling interests in Consolfidated
Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB No. 51 ("SFAS No. 1607), which requires, among other
items, that ownership interest jn subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent be clearly identified,
labeled, and presented in the|consolidated statement of financial position within equity, but separate
from the parent’'s equity. Thel Statement also requires that the amount of consolidated net income
attributable to the parent and (to the noncentrolling interest be clearly identified and presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of income. Finally, SFAS No. 160 requires that entities provide
sufficient disclosures that clez&rly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the
interests of the noncontrollinglowners. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2008. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 160 to have a material impact
on its financial position and/or its results of operations.

In July 2006, the FASB issuedFASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—
an Interpretation of FASB Statement 109 (“FIN No. 48”'), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in
tax positions. This Interpretatjon provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be
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recognized in the financial statements, only if it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained
upon examination, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN No. 48 were
effective as of the beginning of fiscal 2007, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting
principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. For additional information regarding
FIN No. 48, see Note 15 “Income Taxes™.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 157),
which clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands
the disclosures regarding fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a
material impact on its financial position and/or results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)
(“SFAS No. 158”"). SFAS No. 158 requires employers to recognize the funded status of a defined benefit
postretirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes
in that funded status in comprehensive income in the year in which the changes occur. The funded status
of a defined benefit pension plan is measured as the difference between plan assets at fair value and the
plan’s projected benefit obligation. Under SFAS No. 158, employers are also required to measure plan
assets and benefit obligations at the date of their fiscal year-end statement of financial position. The
Company adopted the required provisions of SFAS No. 158 as of December 31, 2006, while the
requirement to measure a plan’s assets and obligations as of the balance sheet date is effective for fiscal
years ending after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting the
measurement date provisions of this Statement on its financial position and/or results of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities ("SFAS No. 159"), which permits all entities to choose to measure eligible financial
instruments at fair value at specific election dates. SFAS No. 159 requires companies to report
unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date and recognize upfront costs and fees related to those items in earnings as
incurred and not deferred. SFAS No. 159 applies to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this Statement on its financial position and/or
results of operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The Company is subject to market risk associated principally with changes in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company's exposure to interest rate risks is principally limited to the Company's outstanding
long-term debt at December 31, 2007 of $451.0 million, $248.0 million of receivables sold under the
Receivables Securitization Program and the Company's $94.8 million retained interest in the trust (as
defined).

As of December 31, 2007, 100% of the Company's outstanding debt is priced at variable interest rates
based primarily on the applicable bank prime rate, the LIBOR or the applicable commercial paper rates
related to the Receivables Securitization Program. As of December 31, 2007, the applicable bank prime
interest rates used for the Company’s various borrowings was 7.25% and the average rate for LIBOR
borrowing was approximately 6.05%. While the Company does have $451 million of outstanding LIBOR
based debt at December 31, 2007, the Company has hedged $335 million of this debt with two separate
interest rate swaps previously mentioned and further discussed in Note 2, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies”, and Note 20, "“Derivative Financial Instruments”, to the Consolidated Financial
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Statements. At year-end funding levels, a 50 basis point movement in interest rates would result in an
annualized increase or decreasg of approximately $1.8 million in interest expense and [oss on the sale of
certain accounts receivable, o} a pre-tax basis, and ultimately upon cash flows from operations.

The Company’s retained intergst in the trust (as defined) is also subject to interest rate risk. The
Company measures the fair value of its retained interest throughout the term of the securitization
program using a present value nodel that includes an assumed discount rate of 5% per annum and an
average collection cycle of approximately 40 days. Based on the assumed discount rate and short
average collection cycle, the relained interest is recorded at book value, which approximates fair value.
Accordingly, a 50 basis point fiovement in interest rates would not result in a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations. -

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company's foreign currengy exchange rate risk is limited principally to the Mexican Peso, as well as
product purchases from Asiarj countries valued and paid in U.S. dollars. Many of the products the
Company sells in Mexico are plrchased in U.S. dollars, while the sale is invoiced in the local currency.
The Company's foreign curren'cy exchange rate risk is not material to its financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. The Company has not previously hedged these transactions, but it may enter
into such transactions in the fijture.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act to mean a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Company's principal executive and principat financial officers to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company; (i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the Company; and (i) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Any system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the
possibility that a control can be circumvented or averridden and misstatements due to error or fraud may
occur and not be detected. Also, because of changes in conditions, internal controt effectiveness may
vary over time. Accordingly, even an effective system of internal control will provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, in relation to the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management’s
assessment included an evaluation of elements such as the design and operating effectiveness of key
financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies and the Company’s overall
control environment. That assessment was supported by testing and monitoring performed both by the
Company’s Internal Audit organization and its Finance organization.

On December 21, 2007, the Company acquired ORS Nasco Holding, Inc. (ORS Nasco). Consistent with
published guidance of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Company excluded from its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007,
ORS Nasco's internal control over financial reporting. Total assets and revenues from the ORS Nasco
acquisition represent $221.8 million and $2.9 million, respectively of the related consolidated financial
statements of United Stationers Inc. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Based on that assessment, management concluded that as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting was effective. Management reviewed the results of its
assessment with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, who audited and reported on the
consolidated financial statements included in this Annuat Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation
report on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as stated in their
report which appears on page 40 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and
Shareholders of United Stationeis Inc.

We have audited United Stationefs Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Orgarjizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). United
Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its ass&ssment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting
included in the accompanying reﬁ)ort on Management's Assessment of Internal Caontrol over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accorgance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board {United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effectivg internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness ?xists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepied accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fgirly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance|that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordancg with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) grovide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements. :

Because of its inherent limitationg, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate chause of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deterigrate.

As indicated in the accompanying Nlanagement's Annual Report on Internal Control Qver Financial Reporting,
management’s assessment of and tonclusion on the effectiveness of internal cantrol over financial reporting
did not include the internal contrpls of ORS Nasco, Inc. (ORS Nasco), which is included in the 2007
cansolidated financial statements of United Stationers Inc. Total assets and revenues from the ORS Nasco
acquisition represent $221.8 millign and $2.9 million, respectively, of the related consolidated financial
statements of United Stationers Ing. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007. Gur audit of internal
control over financial reporting of United Stationers Inc. also did not include an evaluation of the internal
control over financial reporting of :PRS Nasco.

In our opinion, United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
contrel over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSQO ctriteria.

We also have audited, in accordange with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, sharehaolders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three %ears in the period ended December 31, 2007, and our repont dated
February 27, 2008, expressed an ynqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 27, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
United Stationers Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of United Stationers Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007.
Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at ltem 15(a). These
consolidated financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial staternents are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supponrting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31,
2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to
the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects, the information
set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2007, the Company
adopted the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109", effective
January 1, 2006 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 {revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment”; and effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted certain
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans™.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
February 27, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, lllinois
February 27, 2008
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UNIED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
{in thousands, except per share data)

Seelnotes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Netsales ............... .. . ... . . . $4,646,399 $4,546,914 $4,279,089
Costofgoodssold. .. ...... ... ... .. ... .. .. . ... ... 3,939,684 3,792,833 3,637,085
Grossprofit . ... ... .. .. o 706,715 754,081 642,024
Operating expenses:

Warehousing, marketing and agministrative expenses . . ... ... .. 502,810 516,234 471,193

Restructuring charge (reversalifnet ... ........ ... ... ..... 1,378 1,941 {(1.331)
Total operating expenses . . . .. |. ... ... . .. o L 504,188 518,175 469,862
Operatingincome ., ......... ). ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... 202,527 235,906 172,162
Interest @Xpense . . . . . ... e e e e e e 13,109 8,276 3,050
Interest income . .. .. ... e (1,197) (970) (342)
Otherexpense, net . . ........0. ... ... ... . . L. 14,585 12,786 7.035
Income from continuing operations before income taxes .. ....... 176,020 215,814 162,419
INCOME 1AX BXPENSE . . . . . . . e e e e e 68,825 280,510 60,949
Income from continuing operationf ........................ 107,195 135,304 101,470
Loss from discontinued operationg, netoftax . . ............... — (3,091) (3,969}
Netincome . ............. 0. i . $ 107,195 132,213 $ 97,501
Net income per share — basic:

Net income per share — continliing operations . . . ... ... .. ... $ 3.92 437 §$ 3.08

Net loss per share — discontinjed operations . . .. ... ... ... .. — (0.10) {0.12)

Netincomepershare —basic 1. . . . ... v v i % 392 % 427 % 2.96

Average number of commeon shares outstanding — basic . . . .. .. 27,323 30,956 32,948
Net income per share — diluted:

Net income per share — continying operations ... ........... $ 3.83 431 3 3.02

Net loss per share — discontinied operations . . .. . ....... ... — (0.10) {0.12)

Net income per share —diluted . .. ..................... $ 383 8 421 § 2.90

Average number of commaon shires outstanding — diluted . . . . . . 27,976 31,371 33,612




UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

As of December 31,

2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand cashequivalents .. ... ..... ... .. .. . .. i, $ 21957 § 14989
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $13,351 in 2007

and $14,481in2006 .............. e e 321,305 273,893
Retained interest in receivables sold, less allowance for doubtiul accounts of

$5,804in 2007 and $4,736 1IN 2006 . ... ... ... 94,809 107,149
IO S . . . . e e e e e e e 715,161 681,118
Other current assets . . . . . . . i e e e e e e 38,595 36,671

Total current @ssets . . . . . . . o e e e e e 1,191,827 1,113,820

Property, ptant and equipment, at cost:
Land . . e e e e e e 13,209 13,216
BUIdINgS . . . . . e e 65,406 60,434
Fixtures and equipment . . . . . ... . . e 268,979 245,488
Leasehald Improvements . . . .. . .. e e 19,943 18,965
Capitalized software costs . . . . .. ... .. L 56,480 51,709
Total property, plantand equipment .. . ... ... . . o e 424 017 389,812
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization. . . .. ...... ... .. .. .. 250,894 208,334
Net property, plant and equipment . . . . . .. .. . .. L L 173,123 181,478
Intangible assets, net . . . . . .. e 68,756 26,756
Goodwill . . . . e 315,526 225,816
Other. . . e 16,323 12,485
Total BSSBIS . o . . i e e $1,765,555 $1,560,355
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . . ... ... e $ 448,608 § 382625
Accrued liabilities . . . . ... . 199,839 179,156
Deferred credits . . . . . .. ot e e e e e e 122 483
Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . ... . e 648,569 562,264
Deferred iNnCOmME taxes . . . . . . . . . .. e e 30,172 17,044
Long-term debt . . . ... e e 451,000 117,300
Other long-term liabilities . . . . .. ... . e 61,560 62,807
Total liabilities . . . . . . .. . e e e 1,191,301 759,415
Stockholders’ equity;
Common stock, $0.10 par value; authorized — 100,000,000 shares, issued —

372178142007 and 2006 . . . . .. .. e e 3,722 3,722
Additional paid-incapital . . .. ... ... 376,379 360,047
Treasury stock, at cost — 12,645,513 shares in 2007 and 7,172,932 shares in

2006 . . . e (650,187) (297,815)
Retained earningS . . . . .. . L e 859,292 750,322
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, netoftax .. ... .. .. ... .. .. ... (14,952) {15,336)

Total stockholders’ equity . . . ... ... e 574,254 800,840

Total liabilities and stockholders equity. . . . .......... ... ... ... .. .. $1,765,555 $1,560,355

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED S

As of December 31,2004 . . . ... .. ..

Netincome ., ,.................

Unrealized translation adjustments . . . .

Minimum pension liability adjustments,
net of tax benefit of $672. .. ... ...

Comprehensive income ... ... ...
Acquisition of treasury stock . . .. .., .
Stock compensation . . . ..........

As of December 31,2005. . ........

Netincome . . .................
Unrealized translation adjustments . . . .
Realized translation adjustments . . . . .
Minimum pension liability adjustments,
netof tax of $2551 .. ... ... .. ..

Comprehensive (loss) income . . ...
Adjustments to apply SFAS No. 158, net
of tax benefit of $2,741 . . .. ... ...
Acquisition of treasury stock . . ... ...
Stock compensation . . . ... ... .. ..

As of Decernber 31,2006, . ........

Netincome. .. ................
Unrealized translation adjustments . . .,
Minimumn pension liability adjustments,
netoftaxof $1,789 .. ... .... ...
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps,
net of tax benefit of $1,380 . . . . ...

Comprehensive income . ... .....
Adoptionof FIN48 . . .. ... .......
Acquisition of treasury stock . . . ... ..
Stock compensation . .. ... ... ...

As of December 31,2007 . . ... ... ..

UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Accumulated

)TATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(<lollars in thousands, except share data)

Additional Other Tota
Cammon Stock Treasury Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Retained Stockholders’
Shares Amount  Shares Amount  Capital Income {Loss) Earnings Equi
37,217,814 $3,722  (4,076,432) $(119,435) $337,192 $ (5,016) $520,608 $ 737,071
— —_ — — — —_ 97,501 97,501
—_ _ - - — 2,534 — 2,534
— — — - — (1,131) — {1,131)
— — — — — 1,403 97,501 98,904
— — (1,848,385} (B87.056) — — — (87,056)
— — 582,374 12,157 7,436 — — 19,593
7,217,814 $3,722  (5,340,443) $(194,334) $344 628 $ (3,613) $618,109 $ 768,512
— — — — — — 132,213 132,213
— — — — — N7 — an7
— - - — - (12,325) — (12,3p85)
— — — — — 4,215 — 4215
— — — — — {7,193) 132,213 125,020
- — — - — {4,530) — {4,580)
— —  {2,574,575) (122,212) — — — (122,212}
— — 742,086 18,731 15,419 — — 34,150
37,217,814 $3,722 (7,172,932} ${297,815) $360,047 $(15,336) $750,322 $ 800,940
— — — — - — 107,195 107,195
— — — — — {300) — (300)
— — — — — 2,983 — 2,983
- — - — — {2,299) — (2,299)
— —_ —_ - — 384 107,195 107,579
_ — — — — — 1,775 1,775
— — (6,562,049} (383,360) — — — (383,360)
— — 1,089,468 30,988 16,332 — — 47,320
37,217,814 $3,722 (12,645,513) $(650,187) $376,379 $(14,952) $859,292 $ 574,254
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
NEL INCOME . o . sttt e e e $107,195 $132213 § 97,501
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Cepreciation and amortization . . . ... ... .. .. e 42,700 38,232 32,079
Amortization of capitalized financingcosts . . ... ... ... o oo oo 705 801 670
Write-off of capitalized software develocpmentcosts . . .. .. ... ... ... ... .. ... — 6,501 —
Share-based compensation . . . ... ... ... e 8,838 7,953 —
Loss on sale of Canadian Division . ... .. .. ... . i e e — 5,885 —
Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation . .................. .. (9,467) 4,572) —
Write down of assets heldforsale . ....... ... . . ... . .. i i i, 546 — —
Loss (gain} on the disposition of property, plant and equipment . .. ...... ........ 529 (5,482) 264
Deferred INCOME IaXES . . . o o vt e e e e e e e {4,119) (16,143) {1,425)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisitions:
Increase in accounts receivable, net . .. .. .. .. L L L e e e (15,907) {(46,875) {15,725)
Decrease in retained interest in receivables sold, net . . ... ... ... oo L 12,340 9,389 111,269
Decrease (increase) ininventory . ... ... .. ... ... ... e 14,404 (7,371) (25,690)
Increase iN Other ASSELS . . . . . . .. it e e e e (6,161) (5,504) {7,358)
Increase (decrease) inaccounts payable .. ...... ..... .. ... .. 70,012 (20,165) 3,701
(Decrease) increase in checksin-transit . .. ....... .. .. .. ... ... o {27,349) (43,099) 9,887
Increase in accrued liabilities . . . . ... 0 e e 21,672 5,916 15,312
{Decrease) increase indeferred credits . . ........ ... ... . o i o (361) (51,255} 4,220
Increase in other liabilities . . . .. . 0 i e 2,527 7,570 11,362
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . .. ......... ... ... ... 218,054 - 13,994 236,067
Cash Flows From investing Activities: :
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . . .. .. ... ... {180,603) —  (123,530)
Sale of Canadian DiviSION . . . . . .. . i e e 1,295 13,332 —
Capital expenditures . . . . . ... ... . L e e (18,685) (46,725) (48,274)
Froceeds from the disposition of property, plant and equipment . ... ............. 95 14,769 56
Net cash used in investing activities ... ....... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. .. (197,898} (18,624} (171,748)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities: ‘
Met (repayments) borrowings under Revolving Credit Facility . . ................. (1,300) 96,300 3,000
Borrowings from financing agreements . ... .. ... L o 335,000 — —
Faymentof debtissuance costs . . . .. ... .. ... L (1,980) (163) (733)
Met proceeds from the exercise of stockoptions. . .. ......... ... .. ... .. .... 28,965 26,217 19,593
Acquisition of treasury sfock, atcost . . ... ... ... ... (383,330) (124,728) (84,540)
Excess tax benefits related to share-based compensation . .................... 9,467 4,572 —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activites . .. .. .................. (13,188) 2,198 (62,680)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . .. ............... — 6 57
Net change in cash and cash equivalents . . . .. ... ... ... .. i 6,968 (2,426} 1,696
Cash and cash equivalents, beginningofperiod ... ....... ... ... . ... .. ..... .. 14,989 17,415 15,719
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period .. .. ...... ... ... . . . oL, $ 21957 $ 14989 $ 17415

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

45



UNI
NOTES

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Consolida
wholly owned subsidiary Unite

{ED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ed Financial Statements represent United Stationers Inc. (“USI") with its
d Stationers Supply Co. (“*USSC"), and USSC's subsidiaries (collectively,

“United” or the “Company’
accordance with accounting p

). The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in
inciples generally accepted in the United States and include the accounts

of US! and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
The Company is the largest broad line wholesale distributor of business products in North America, with
net sales of $4.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. The Company operates in a single
reportable segment as a natiorjal whotesale distributor of business products. The Company stocks more
than 100,000 items and offers|thousands more from over 1,000 manufacturers. These items include a
broad spectrum of technology products, traditional business products, office furniture, janitoria! and
breakroom supplies, and ingustrial supplies. In addition, the Company also offers private brand
products. The Company prirparily serves commercial and contract office products dealers. The
Company sells its products through a national distribution network of 70 distribution centers to
approximately 30,000 resell l, who in turn sell directly to end-consumers.

ert
Acquisition of ORS Nasco HIoIding, Inc.

On December 21, 2007, the Company's subsidiary, USSC, completed the purchase of 100% of the
outstanding shares of ORS Nasco Holding, Inc. (ORS Nasco) from an affiliate of Brazos Private Equity
Partners, LLC of Dallas, Texgs, and other shareholders. This acquisition was completed with the
payment of the base purchas price of $175.0 million plus estimated working capital adjustments, a
pre-closing tax benefit payment and other adjusting items. in total, the purchase price was
$180.6 million, including $¢.5 million in transaction costs and net of cash acquired. The acquisition will

allow the Company to diversi

1

its product offering and provides an entry into the wholesale industrial

supplies market. The purchasg price was financed through the addition of a $200 million Term Loan

under the accordion feature of
certain post-closing adjustme
Nasco’s results of operations
providing pro forma financial i

ORS Nasco is a pure wholesg
$285 million. The company sel
items and offering about 2(
approximately 500 manufactur,
multiple channels, including in
welding, and oil field services.

strategically located across th

The acquisition was accountd

United’s existing credit agreement. The purchase price is also subject to
nts. The Company’'s Consolidated Financial Statements include ORS
since December 21, 2007 and are not deemed material for purposes of
nformation.

fe distributor of industrial supplies, with annual sales of approximately
s exclusively to independent distributors, stocking approximately 60,000
0,000 premium branded and private label products in total from
ers. ORS Nasco sells to approximately 7,000 independent distributors in
dustrial, MRO {maintenance, repair and operations), safety, construction,
t serves a very diverse customer base through eight distribution centers
2 United States, and is headquartered in Muskogee, Oklahoma.

d for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standar
the fair market value of the as

No. 141, Business Combinations, with the excess purchase price over
ts acquired and liabilities assumed allocated to goodwill. Based on a

2
preliminary purchase price ali.fscation, the preliminary purchase price of $180.6 million, net of cash

received, has resulted in good

ill and intangible assets of $88.7 million and $44.6 million, respectively.

Neither the goodwill nor the intangible assets are expected to generate a tax deduction. The intangible
assets purchased include une‘aJ:ortizable intangibles of $12.3 million related to trademarks and trade
names that have indefinite lives while the remaining $32.3 million in intangible assets acquired is
amortizable and related to cus{omer lists and certain non-compete agreements. The weighted average
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Basis of Presentation {(Continued)

useful life of amortizable intangibles is expected to be approximately 14 years. The Company recorded
amortization for these intangibles from December 21, 2007 through year end. Subsequent adjustments
may be made to the purchase price allocation based on, among other things, post-closing purchase
price adjustments and finalizing the valuation of tangible and intangible assets. Amortization expenses
associated with the ORS Nasco intangible assets is expected to be approximately $2.1 million per year.

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation
{dollars in thousands)

Purchase price, net of cashacquired . .. ....... ... ... ... ... . ... . ... $ 180,603
Allocation of Purchase Price:
Accountsreceivable . . ... ... L. e (31,615)
INVENIORIES . . . e e e e e e e (48,552)
Other cUment aSSeYS . . . . . .. i i e s (5,433)
Property, plant & equipment . ... ... . . o e (7,697}
Intangible @ssets . . ... ... ... e (44,610)
Total assets acquired . . . ... .. .. e (137,907}
Trade accounts payable . .. . ... ... . ... e 23,272
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . ... e e 3,467
Deferred taxes . . . . . e s 20,275
Total liabilities assumed . . ... . ... e 47,014
Amountto goodwill ... .. ... .. $ 89,710

Reclassifications

Cenrtain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. Such
reclassifications were limited to Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement presentation and did not
impact the Statements of income. Specifically, the Company reclassified capitalized software costs from
“Other Assets” to “Property, Plant and Equipment” beginning in the first quarter of 2006, with prior
periods updated to conform to this presentation. For the year ended December 31, 2005, $17.0 million,
in operating cash outflows was reclassified as cash outflows from investing activities.

Additionally, the Company reclassified certain offsets to “Accrued Liabilities” related to merchandise
return reserves to “Inventory”. This reclassification began in the fourth quarter of 2007, with prior periods
updated to conform to this presentation. For the year ended December 31, 2006, $7.0 million was
reclassified to “Inventory” out of “Accrued Liabilities” with corresponding changes made to the
Statement of Cash Flows within "Cash Flows From Operating Activities”.

Common Stock Repurchases

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $68.5 million remaining of a $200 million Board
authorization from August 2007 to repurchase US| common stock. During 2007, the Company
repurchased 6,561,416 shares of USI's common stock at an aggregate cost of $383.3 million. In 2006,
the Company repurchased 2,626,275 shares of USI's common stock at an aggregate cost of
$124.7 million. In 2005, the Company repurchased 1,794,685 shares of US| common stock at an
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NOTES TO CC

ED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Basis of Presentation {Continued)

aggregate cost of $84.5 millio
repurchase authorizations is a

Authorizations:
2007 Authorization ($100 millio
2007; and $200 million on Au
2006 Authorization (completed)
2005 Authorization (completed)
2004 Authorization (completed)
2002 Authorization (completed)

Repurchases:
2007 repurchases
2006 repurchases
2005 repurchases
2004 repurchases
2002 repurchases

Total repurchases

Remaining repurchase authorized

n. A summary of total shares repurchased under the Company's share
s follows (dollars in millions, except share data):

Share Repurchases

History
Cost Shares

on March 6, 2007, $100 miliicn on May 9,
nust 15, 2007) .. .. .. .. e $ 400.0
............................... 100.0
............................... 75.0
............................... 100.0
............................... 50.0
............................... $(383.3) 6,561,416
............................... (124.7) 2,626,275
............................... (84.5) 1,794,685
............................... (40.9) 1,072,654

.............................. (23.1) 858,964

.............................. (656.5) 12,913,994
At December 31,2007 ... ... ......... $ 685

All share repurchases were ex

ecuted under four separate authorizations of the Company’s Board of

Directors on the respective dales noted in the table above. Effective on July 5, 2007, the Company
entered into the 2007 Credit Agreernent to provide, among other things, increased flexibility to the
Company to purchase its comnjon stock. Purchases may be made from time to time in the open market

or in privately negotiated transa
the Company may continue or

Acquired shares are included

ctions. Depending on market and business conditions and other factors,
suspend purchasing its common stock at any time without notice.

n the issued shares of the Company and treasury stock, but are not

included in average shares oulstanding when ¢alculating earnings per share data. During 2007, 2006

and 2005, the Company reissz‘
stock to fulfill its obligations ur

Canadian Division—Discontii
During the first quarter of 2006

operations (the “Canadian Divis

time. All prior-periods have be

adjustment for the value of an

\n
On June 9, 20086, the Comparl'
SYNNEX Canada Limited (the]

$14.3 million. The purchase i

ted 1,089,468; 742,086, and 582,374 shares, respectively, of treasury
der its equity incentive plans.

ued Operations

the Company announced its intention to sell its Azerty United Canada
ion”) and therefore began reporting it as discontinued operations at that
reclassified to conform to this presentation.

completed the sale of certain net assets of its Canadian Division to
“Buyer”), a subsidiary of SYNNEX Corporation, for approximately
rice was subject to certain post-closing adjustments, including an
inventory and accounts receivable included in the sale that was not

subsequently sold or collected within 180 days from the date of sale. During 2006, the Company
received cash payments from the Buyer of $13.3 million. An additional $1.3 million was received during
the first quarter of 2007 to finalizg this transaction. As part of the sale, the Buyer agreed to assume certain
liabilities of the Canadian Divisign and offered employment to some of the employees. Under the terms

of the sale, the Company is resy}

onsible for severance costs associated with employees not retained by
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Basis of Presentation (Continued)

the Buyer. As of December 31, 2006, this amount totaled $0.6 million and has been included in the loss
from the sale of the Canadian Division for 2008. In addition, the Company had three leased facilities
associated with the Canadian Division that have been vacated and are subject to required lease
obligations over the next four years. As of December 31, 2006, obligations for two of the three facilities
have been settled or are being sublet. Total accrued exit costs associated with the Canadian facilities
were $0.5 million at December 31, 2006. Obligations for the third facility were settled in the fourth quarter
of 2007 and no obligations remain at December 31, 2007.

Losses associated with the discontinued operations of the Canadian Division for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005
Pre-tax loss from ongeoing operations . . .. ............ ... ... .. § (794) $(6,330)
Pre-tax loss from the sale of the Canadian Division .. ............. (5,885) —
Total pre-tax loss from discontinued operations . . . . .............. {6,679) (6,330)
Total income tax benefit . .. . ... .. e 3,588 2,361
Total after-tax loss from discontinued operations . ... .... ... ... ... $(3,091} $(3,969)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. For all acquisitions,
account balances and results of operations are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of
the date acquired.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

Various assumptions and other factors underlie the determination of significant accounting estimates.
The process of determining significant estimates is fact specific and takes into account factors such as
historical experience, current and expected economic conditions, product mix, and in some cases,
actuarial techniques. The Company periodically reevaluates these significant factors and makes
adjustments where facts and circumstances dictate.

Supplier Allowances

Supplier allowances (fixed or variable) are common practice in the business products industry and have
a significant impact on the Company’s overall gross margin. Gross margin is determined by, among
other items, file margin (determined by reference to invoiced price), as reduced by customer discounts
and rebates as discussed below, and increased by supplier allowances and promotional incentives.
Receivables related to supplier allowances totaled $134.8 million and $123.0 million as of December 31,
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CCJNSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2007 and 2006. These receivables are included in “'Accounts receivable™ in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.

In 2007, approximately 15% of the Company’s annual supplier allowances and incentives were fixed,
based on supplier paricipatign in various Company advertising and marketing publications. Fixed
allowances and incentives arejtaken to income through lower cost of goods sold as inventory is sold.

The remaining 85% of the Company’'s annual supplier allowances and incentives in 2007 were variable,
based on the volume and mij] of the Company’s product purchases from suppliers. These variable
allowances are recorded baseq on the Company’s annual inventory purchase volumes and product mix
and are included in the Company's financial statements as a reduction to cost of goods sold, thereby
reflecting the net inventory purchase cost. Supplier allowances and incentives attributable to unsold
inventory are carried as a component of net inventory cost. The potential amount of variable supplier
allowances often differs based on purchase volumes by supplier and product category. As aresult, lower
Company sales volume (whi C reduce inventory purchase requirements) and product sales mix

changes (especially because higher-margin products often benefit from higher supplier allowance rates)
can make it difficult to reach some supplier allowance growth hurdles.

Fixed supplier allowances tradilionally represented 40% to 45% of the Company's total annual supplier
allowances, compared to the] 15% referenced above. This ratio has declined significantly as the
Company’s 2007 supplier coltracts eliminate the majority of the historical fixed component and
replaced it with a variable allgwance based on product purchases. The Company transitioned (o0 a
calendar year program with its 2006 Supplier Allowance Program for product content syndication. This
change altered the year-over-ygar timing on recognizing related income, and has resulted in a ona-time
positive impact on gross margjn during 2006 of $41.6 miltion related to this program.

Customer Rebates

Customer rebates and discourjts are common practice in the business products industry and have a
significant impact on the Comgany’s overall sales and gross margin. Such rebates are reported in the
Consolidated Financial Statements as a reduction of sales. Customer rebates of $59.5 million and $38.5
miliion, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, are included as a component of “Accrued liabilities” in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Customer rebates include volume rebates, sales growth incentives, advertising allowances,
participation in promotions ang other miscellaneous discount programs. These rebates are paid to
customers monthly, quarterly apd/or annually. Estimates for volume rebates and growth incentives are
based on estimated annual sgtes volume to the Company’s customers. The aggregate amount of
customer rebates depends on lproduct sales mix and customer mix changes. Reported results reflect
management’s current estimate of such rebates. Changes in estimates of sales volumes, product mix,
customer mix or sales patterns, llor actual results that vary from such estimates may impact future results.

During 2006, the Company clianged the timing of certain marketing programs impacting catalog
charges and related customer|rebates, which resulted in a non-recurring favorable impact to gross
margin of $19.0 million.
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when a service is rendered or when title to the product has transferred to the
customer. Management records an estimate for future product returns related to revenue recognized in
the current period. This estimate is based on historical product return trends and the gross margin
associated with those returns. Management also records customer rebates that are based on annual
sales volume to the Company's customers. Annual rebates earned by customers include growth
components, volume hurdle components, and advertising allowances.

Shipping and handling costs billed to custorners are treated as revenues and recognized at the time title
to the product has transferred to the customer. Freight costs are included in the Company’s financial
statements as a component of cost of goods sold and not netted against shipping and handling
revenues. Net sales do not include sales tax charged to customers.

Share-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2007, the Company had two active share-based employee compensation plans
covering key associates and/or non-employee directors of the Company. Historically, the majority of
awards issued under these plans have been stock options with service-type conditions. Effective
January 1, 2006, the Company accounts for stock-based compensation utilizing the fair value
recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123(R), Share-
Based Payment. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Valuation of Accounts Receivable

The Company makes judgments as to the collectability of accounts receivable based on historical trends
and future expectations. Management estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts, which addresses
the collectability of trade accounts receivable. This allowance adjusts gross trade accounts receivable
downward to its estimated collectible, or net realizable value. To determine the allowance for doubtiul
accounts, management reviews specific customer risks and the Company’s accounts receivable aging.
Uncollectible receivable balances are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts when it is
determined that the receivable balance is uncollectible.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is initially recorded based on the premium paid for acquisitions and is subsequently tested for
impairment. The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or
circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred, such as a significant adverse change in
the business climate, loss of key personnel or a decision to sell or dispose of a reporting unit.
Determining whether an impairment has occurred requires valuation of the respective reporting unit,
which the Company estimates using a discounted cash flow method. When available and as
appropriate, comparative market multiples are used to corroborate discounted cash flow results. If this
analysis indicates goodwill is impaired, an impairment charge would be taken based on the amount of
goodwill recorded versus the fair value of the reporting unit computed by independent appraisals.

Intangible assets are initially recorded at their fair market values determined on quoted market prices in
active markets, if available, or recognized valuation models. Intangible assets that have finite useful lives
are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Intangible assets that have indefinite useful
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ested at least for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate

an impairment may have occuyred. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Insured Loss Liability Estim

.

The Company is primarily resp nsible for retained liabilities related to workers’ compensation, vehicle,
property and general liability apd certain employee health benefits. The Company records expense for
paid and open claims and an gxpense for claims incurred but not reported based on historical trends
and on certain assumptions about future events. The Company has an annual per-person maximum

cap, provided by a third-party [nsurance company, on certain employee medical benefits. In addition,

the Company has both a per-
workers' compensation claims

Leases

The Company leases real estat

;

ceurrence maximum loss and an annual aggregate maximum cap on

and personal property under operating leases. Certain operating leases

£
include incentives from Iandlo{ds including, landlord “build-out” allowances, rent escalation clauses

and rent holidays or periods ir
accounts for landlord “build-ou
this deferred rent on a straigh

which rent is not payable for a certain amount of time. The Company
t" allowances as deferred rent at the time of possession and amortizes
-line basis over the term of the lease. The Company also recognizes

leasehold improvements assoc
over the shorter of {1) the tern

The Company accounts for ren

ated with the “build-out” allowances and amortizes these improvements
of the lease or (2) the expected life of the respective improvements.

I escalation and rent holidays as deferred rent at the time of possession

and amortizes this deferred rerjt on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. As of December 31,
2007, the Company is not a party to any capital leases.

Inventories

Inventory constituting approxinjately 81% and 82% of total inventory as of December 31, 2007 and 2008,

respectively, has been valued
better matching of costs and
{"“FIFO™)
recorded at the lower of cost or|
FIFO cost or market, inventory

ynder the last-in, first-out

!

{“LIFO") accounting method. LIFQ results in a
evenues. The remaining inventory is valued under the first-in, first-out

accounting method.uwnventory valued under the FIFO and LIFO accounting methods is

arket. If the Company had valued its entire inventory under the lower of
ould have been $60.4 million and $52.2 million higher than reported as

of December 31, 2007 and Degember 31, 2006, respectively. The increase in the LIFO reserve, which
increased cost of sales by $8{2 million, was partially offset by reduced cost of sales resulting from
decrements in certain LIFO gools. During 2007, inventory quantities for the portion of inventory

accounted for under the LIF

accounting method were reduced. These reductions resulted in

liguidations of LIFQ inventory quantities carried at lower costs prevailing in prior years as compared with
the cost of current year purchases. The effect of these liquidations decreased cost of sales by

approximately $3.7 million.

The Company also records adjl
defective or slow moving is rec
using historical trends and are

Istments to inventory for shrinkage. Inventory that is cbsolete, damaged,
orded to the lower of cost or market. These adjustments are determined
adjusted, if necessary, as new information becomes availabie.
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Pension and Postretirement Health Benefits

Calcutating the Company's obligations and expenses related to its pension and postretirement health
benefits requires selection and use of certain actuarial assumptions. As more fully discussed in Notes 12
and 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, these actuarial assumptions include discount rates,
expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, and rates of increase in compensation and healthcare
costs. To select the appropriate actuarial assumptions, management relies on current market conditions
and historical information. Pension expense for 2007 was $7.4 million, compared to $8.8 million and
$8.1 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. A one percentage point decrease in the expected assumed
discount rate would have resulted in an increase in pension expense for 2007 of approximately
$4.1 million and increased the year-end projected benefit obligation by $18.3 million.

Costs associated with the Company’s postretirement health benefits plan for 2007 totaled $0.1 million,
compared to $0.1 million and $0.9 million for 2006 and 2005, respectively. A one-percentage point
decrease in the assumed discount rate would have resulted in incremental postretirement healthcare
expenses for 2007 of approximately $0.1 milion and increased the yearend accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation by $0.5 million. Current rates of medical cost increases are trending
above the Company’s medical cost increase cap of 3% provided by the plan. Accordingly, a one
percentage point increase in the assumed average healthcare cost trend would not have a significant
impact on the Company's postretirement health plan costs.

The Company adopted the recognition and related disclosure provisions of Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB™} Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {“SFAS”) No. 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87,88,106, and 132(R) {""SFAS No. 158,") on December 31, 2006 for its pension and
postretirement health benefits. The Company will adopt the measurement date provisions of SFAS
No. 158 for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008, in accordance with the statement. This adoption
will then measure the plan assets and benefit obligations as of the Company’s fiscal year end. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting the measurement date provisions of this
Statement on its financial position and/or results of operations.

Cash Equivalents

An unfunded check balance (payments in-transit} exists for the Company's primary disbursement
accounts. Under the Company’s cash management system, the Company utilizes available borrowings,
on an as-needed basis, to fund the clearing of checks as they are presented for payment. As of
December 31, 2007 and 20086, outstanding checks totaling $70.8 million and $38.1 million, respectively,
were included in “Accounts payable” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. All highly liquid debt
instruments with an original maturity of three months or less are considered cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are determined by
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated usefu! life
assigned to fixtures and equipment is from two to 10 years; the estimated useful life assigned to
buildings does not exceed 40 years; leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their
useful lives or the term of the applicable lease. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense
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as incurred. As of December 31, 2007, the Company has one building and associated assets with total
net book value of $5.4 million{classified as “held for sale” within “Other assets” on the Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets.|This facility is no longer being used and the Company has signed an
agreement to sell the building. Euring 2007, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $0.6 million

on certain Information Technology (IT} hardware “held for sale”. During 2006, the Company soid its
Edison, NJ and Pennsauken, INJ facilities for a total gain of $6.7 million.

Software Capitalization

The Company capitalizes interpal use software development costs in accordance with the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for Costs of
Computer Software Developed|or Obtained for internal Use. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line
basis over the estimated usefl! life of the software, generally not to exceed seven years. Capitalized
software is included in “Propegty, plant and equipment, at cost” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Capitalized software is includ¢d in “Property, plant and equipment, at cost” on the Consclidated
Balance Sheet of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006. The total costs are as follows (in
thousands):

As of As of

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Capitalized software development costs . . ..... .. $ 56,480 $ 58,210
Write-off of capitalized sofjware development costs . . — (6,501)
Accumulated amortization] . . ... ............. (36,359) (28,620)
Net capitalized software|development costs . . . .. $20121 $ 23,089

internal systems initiative. The $6.5 million write-off is reflected in “Warehousing, marketing and
administrative expenses” on the Consolidated Statement of Income for 20086. As of December 31, 2007
and 2006, net capitalized sojtware development costs included $8.3 million and $11.0 million,
respectively, related to the Company’s Reseller Technology Solution investment. These capitalized
software development costs are being amortized over five years with $2.9 million and $1.7 million of
amortization expense recorded(for the years ending December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. There
was no amortization expense related to this investment in 2005.

Buring 2006, the Company wro(le-off $6.5 million of capitalized software development costs related to an

Derivative Financial Instrumejts

The Company's risk management policies allow for the use of derivative financial instruments to
prudently manage foreign currepcy exchange rate and interest rate exposure. The policies do not aliow

primarily uses interest rate swaps which are subject to the management, direction and contro! of our

such derivative financial instrU}ents to be used for speculative purposes. At this time, the Company

financial officers. Risk management practices, including the use of all derivative financial instruments,

are presented to the Board of [

All derivatives are recognized
receivable position are included
"Other long-term liahilities™. The
cash flow hedges in accordance

Directors for approval.

on the balance sheet date at their fair value. All derivatives in a net
in “Other assets”, and those in a net liability position are in¢cluded in
interest rate swaps that the Company has entered into are classified as
with SFAS No. 133 as they are hedging a forecasted transaction or the
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variability of cash flow to be paid by the Company. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is
qualified, designated and highly effective as a cash flow hedge are recorded in cther comprehensive
income, net of tax, until earnings are affected by the forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flow,
and then are reported in current earnings.

The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as the risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This
process includes linking all derivatives designated as cash flow hedges to specific forecasted
transactions or variability of cash flow.

The Company formally assesses, at both the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the
derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flow of hedged
iterns. When it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge then hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively in accordance with SFAS No. 133. At this time, this has not occurred as all
cash flow hedges contain no ineffectiveness. See Note 20 “Derivative Financial Instruments”’ for further
detail.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method, under which deferred income taxes are
recognized for the estimated tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial
staternent carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. A provision has not been made for
deferred U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign subsidiaries as
these earnings have historically been permanently invested. The Company accounis for interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company’s foreign operations is the local currency. Assets and tiabilities
of these operations are translated into U.S. currency at the rates of exchange at the balance sheet date.
The resulting translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, a separate
component of stockholders’ equity. Income and expense items are translated at average monthly rates
of exchange. Realized gains and losses from foreign currency transactions were not material.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 141(R), Business Combinations (“SFAS No. 141(R}"), which is a
revision to SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, originally issued in June 2001. The revised statement
retains the fundamental requirements of SFAS No. 141 but does define the acquirer and establishes the
acquisition date as the date that the acquirer achieves control. The main features of SFAS No. 141(R) are
that it requires an acquirer to recognize the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date, measured at their fair values as of that
date, with limited exceptions noted in the Statement. SFAS No. 141(R) requires the acquirer to recognize
goodwill as of the acquisition date. Finally, the new Statement makes a number of other significant
amendments to other Statements and other authoritative guidance including requiring research and
development costs acquired to be capitalized separately from goodwill and requires the expensing of
transaction costs directly related to an acquisition. This new Statement is not effective until fiscal years
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beginning on or after Decemb
to have a material impact on i

In December 2007, the FASB
Financial Statements—an ame
items, that ownership interest i

r 15, 2008. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 141(R)
s financial position and/or its results of operations.

issued Statement No. 180, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated
rdment of ARB No. 51 ("SFAS No. 160"), which requires, among other
N subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent be clearly identified,

labeled, and presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, but separate

from the parent’s equity. The
attributable to the parent and 1
face of the consolidated state
sufficient disclosures that clea

Statement also requires that the amount of consolidated net income
0 the noncontrolling interest be clearly identified and presented on the
ment of income. Finally, SFAS No. 160 requires that entities provide
ly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the

interests of the noncontrolling pwners. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after
December 15, 2008. The Comp'any does not expect the adoption of SFAS 160 to have a material impact

on its financial position and/or
In July 2006, the FASB issued F

its results of operaticns.

ASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—

an Interpretation of FASB Staterpent 109 (“FIN No. 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in

tax positions. This Interpretation provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be
recognized in the financial statgments, only if it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained

|

upon examination, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN No. 48 were

effective as of the beginning ¢
principle recorded as an adjust

of fiscal 2007, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting
ment to opening retained earnings. For additional information regarding

FIN No. 48, see Note 15 “Income Taxes”.

In September 2006, the FASB

ssued Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 157},

which clarifies the definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands

the disclosures regarding fair v

hlue measurements, SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning

after November 15, 2007. Thej Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a

material impact on its financial
in September 2006, the FASB

position and/or results of operations.

issued Statement No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)
(“SFAS No. 158"). SFAS No. 158 requires employers to recognize the funded status of a defined benefit
postretirement plan as an asset|or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes
in that funded status in compretjensive income in the year in which the changes occur. The funded status
of a defined benefit pension plaj is measured as the difference between plan assets at fair value and the

plan’s projected benefit obligati
and benefit obligations at the d

pn. Under SFAS No. 158, employers are required to measure plan assets
te of their fiscal year-end statement of financial position. The Company

adopted the required provisions of SFAS No. 158 as of December 31, 2006, while the requirement {0
measure a plan’s assets and ofjligations as of the balance sheet date is effective for fiscal years ending
after Decaember 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting the measurement
date provisions of this Statement on its financial position and/or resuits of operations.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities (“SFAS No. [158”), which permits all entities to choose to measure eligible financial
instruments at fair value at specific election dates. SFAS No. 159 requires companies to report
unrealized gains and {osses on {tems for which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date andjrecegnize upfront costs and fees related to those items in earnings as
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incurred and not deferred. SFAS No. 159 applies to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this Statement on its financial position and/or
results of operations.

3. Share-Based Compensation
Overview

As of December 31, 2007, the Company has two active equity compensation plans. A description of
these plans is as follows:

Amended 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP")

In March 2004, the Company's Board of Directors adopted the LTIP to, among other things, attract and
retain managerial talent, further align the interest of key associates to those of the Company’s
shareholders and provide competitive compensation to key associates. Awards include stock options,
stock appreciation rights, full value awards, cash incentive awards and performance-based awards. Key
associates and non-employee directors of the Company are eligible to become participants in the LTiP,
except that non-employee directors may not be granted incentive stock options. During 2007, the
Company granted stock options under the LTIP covering an aggregate of 459,268 shares of USI
common stock. In addition, the Company granted 120,795 shares of restricted stock under the LTIP
during 2007.

Nonemployee Directors’ Deferred Stock Compensation Plan

Pursuant to the United Stationers Inc. Nonemployee Directors’ Deferred Stock Compensation Plan,
non-employee directors may defer receipt of all or a portion of their retainer and meeting fees. Fees
deferred are credited quarterly to each participating director in the form of stock units, based on the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock on the quarterly deferral date. Each stock unit accourt
generally is distributed and settled in whole shares of the Company’s common stock on a one-for-one
basis, with a cash-out of any fractional stock unit interests, after the participant ceases to serve as a
Company director. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded
total compensation expense of $0.8 milion, $0.8 million and $0.8 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the accumulated number of stock units outstanding under this plan
was 39,156; 34,749; and 38,409; respectively.

Accounting For Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for those plans under the recognition and
measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards {SFAS”) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS No. 123").

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS
No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123(R)"}, using the modified-prospective-transition
method. The Company's adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) did not result in any cumulative effect of an
accounting change. Under this modified-prospective transition method, compensation cost recognized
in 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet
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vested as of January 1, 2006, b
provisions of SFAS No. 123
subsequent to January 1, 200
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R).
a pre-tax charge of $8.9 million

share-based compensation fo

»n (Continued)

3sed on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted
5, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the
Results for prior periods have not been restated. The Company recorded
($5.4 million after-tax), or $0.20 per basic and $0.19 per diluted share, for
the year ended December 31, 2007. The Company recorded a pre-tax

compensation for the year enfled December 31, 2006. The total intrinsic value of options exercised,
outstanding and exercisable fcr the year ended December 31, 2007 totaled $28.2 million, $11.4 million
and $11.3 million, respectively] During 2008, total intrinsic value of options exercised, outstanding and
exercisable was $12.7 million} $27.3 million and $21.9 million, respectively. Total intrinsic value of
restricted stock vested totaled i$0.5 million and $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, there was $17.9 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to rjon-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted. This cost
is expected to be recognized bver a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.

charge of $8.0 million ($5.0 r}illion after-tax), or $0.16 per basic and diluted share, for share-based

Prior to the adoption of SFAS Nb. 123(R}, the Company presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting
from the exercise of stock optigns as operating cash flows in the Company’s Statement of Cash Flows.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires that ¢ash flows resulting from the tax benefits from tax deductions in excess of
the compensation cost recognized for those options (excess tax benefits) be classified as financing cash
flows. For the years ended De{ember 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, the $9.5 million and $4.6 million
excess tax benefits classified a5 a financing cash inflows on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
would have been classified s an operating cash inflow if the Company had not adopted SFAS
No. 123(R}).

Historically, the majority of awa
conditions. In September 200
annual award grant.

rds issued under these plans have been stock options with service-type
(. the Company utilized both stock options and restricted stock in its

Stock Options

The fair value of each option pward is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option
valuation model that uses the gssumptions noted in the following table. Stock options generally vest in
annual increments over three years and have a term of 10 years. Compensation costs for all stock
options are recognized, net of Eestimated forfeitures, on a straight-line basis as a single award typically
over the vesting period. The Company estimates expected volatility based on historical volatility of the
price of its common stock. The]Company estimates the expected term of share-based awards by using
historical data relating to optior] exercises and employee terminations to estimate the period of time that
options granted are expected to be outstanding. The interest rate for periods during the expected life of
the option is based on the ue. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The Company
granted 459,268 stock options;during the year ended December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2007,
there was $11.5 million of tota] unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock option
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awards granted. Fair values for stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006 were estimated using the following weighted-average assumptions:

2007 2006
Fair value of options granted . . . .. ... .. ... ... e $14.23 $11.36
EXOICISE PIiCE . . . e e e e e e 59.62 46.07
Expected stock price volatility . .. .. ... ... ... 23.3% 23.6%
Riskfree interest rate . . . . . .. . ... L 4.3% 4.8%
Expected life of options (years) . . . ...... ... ... .. .. ... .. 3.5 35
Expected dividend yield . . . . ... ... ... .. ... . 0.0% 0.0%

The following table summarizes the transactions, exctuding restricted stock, under the Company’s
equity compensation plans for the last three years:

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise
2007 Price 2006 Price 2005 Price

Options outstanding — January 1 . ... ... ... 3,631,049 $39.19 3,707,782 $36.37 23,728,319 $33.30
Granted ........ ... .. ... e 459,268 59.62 768,993  46.07 738,840 46.53
Exercised .. ............. ... ... .... (1,120,098) 3342 (751,214) 3172 (645,403) 30.09
Cancelled .. ........................ (142,637) 46.35 (94,512) 4397 (113,974) 37.09
Options outstanding — December 31 .. ... .. 2,827,582 $44.45 3,631,049 $39.19 3,707,782 $36.37
Number of options exercisable . . .. ........ 1,714,434 $39.75 2025395 $35.87 1,939,246 $32.12

The following table summarizes outstanding and exercisable options granted under the Company’s
equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2007;

Remaining

Contractual Life

Exercise Prices  Qutstanding (Years) Exercisable
20.01—25.00 176,004 3.4 178,004
25.01—30.00 94,195 4.0 94,195
30.01--35.00 50,784 3.6 50,784
35.01—40.00 350,204 5.6 350,204
40.01—45.00 434,452 6.5 432,116
45.01—50.00 1,277,980 8.1 611,131
50.01—55.00 — — —
55.01—60.00 392,840 9.7 —
60.01—65.00 — — —
65.01—70.00 51,123 9.6 —
Total 2,827 582 7.3 1,714,434

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
applied the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to options granted under the Company’s stock
option plans in all periods presented. For purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the value of the options
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is estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model and expensed based on the options’ vesting
periods (in thousands):

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2005

Netincome, asreported . . . . ... .. ... e $97,501
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net

Of X . L e e e e 33
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation determined if the fair value method had

been used, net Of taX . . . . . . e e e e (5,430)
Proforma netincome . . . . ... .. . . . e $92,104
Net income per share — basic:

Asreported . . ... $ 296

PrO fOrMa . . o e 2.80
Net income per share — diluted:

As reponted . . L e $ 290

Pro fOrma . . . e e e 2.74

Restricted Stock

The Company granted 120,795 shares of restricted stock during the year ended December 31, 2007,
Included in 2007 grants were 61,312 shares granted to employees who were not executive officers and
6,189 shares granted to non-employee Directors. These awards generally vest in annual increments
over three years. There were also 53,294 shares granted to executive officers that vest with respect to
each officer in annual increments over three years provided that the following conditions are satisfied:
(1) the officer is still employed as of the anniversary date of the grant; and (2} the Company’s cumulative
diluted earnings per share for the four calendar quarters immediately preceding the vesting date exceed
$1.00 per diluted share as defined in the officers’ restricted stock award agreement. As of December 31,
2007, there was $6.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted
stock awards granted. A summary of the status of the Company’s restricted stock grants and changes
during the last three years is as follows:

Weighted Weilghted Weighted

Average Average Average

Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date

Restricted Stock 2007 Fair Value 2006 Fair Value 2005 Fair Value
Nonvested — January 1 . . ... ... ... 14,350 $47.48 20,400 $31.01 45,400 $27.29
Granted . . ... ... .. .. ..., 120,795 59.36 11,850 47.63 — —
Vested . . .......... ... ... .. .. {7,500} 46,23 (17,900) 28.81 (25,000) 24.25
Cancelled. . ... ............... (1,780) 59.02 — — — —
Nonvested — December 31 . . . ... ... 125,865 $58.79 14,350 $47.48 20,400 $31.01

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet reflects $315.5 million
and $225.8 million, respectively, of goodwill. The change in goodwill from 2006 to 2007 was the result of
purchase price adjustments associated with the acquisition of ORS Nasco (see Note 1 for more detail on
“Acquisition of ORS Nasco Holding, Inc.). As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had
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$68.8 million and $26.8 million in net intangible assets. Net intangible assets as of December 31, 2007
consist primarily of customer listings and non-compete agreements purchased as part of the Sweet
Paper acquisition (see “Acquisition of Sweet Paper” below} and ORS Nasco acquisition (see
“Acquisition of ORS Nasco Holding, Inc.” in Note 1). Amortization of intangible assets purchased as part
of the Sweet Paper and ORS Nasco acquisitions totaled $2.6 million, $2.6 million and $1.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Accumulated amortization of intangible
assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 totaled $6.6 million and $4.0 million, respectively.

Acquisition of Sweet Paper

On May 31, 2005, the Company’s Lagasse, Inc. (“Lagasse”) subsidiary completed the purchase of
100% of the outstanding stock of Sweet Paper Sales Corp. and substantially all of the assets of four
affiliates of Sweet Paper Sales Group, Inc. (collectively, "Sweet Paper”), a private wholesale distributor of
janitorial/sanitation, paper and foodservice products, for a total purchase price of $123.5 million,
including $2.2 million in transaction costs and net of cash acquired. The acquisition has enabled the
Company to expand its janitorial/sanitation product line, and enhance its presence in key markets in the
Southeast, California, Texas and Massachusetts. The purchase price was financed through the
Company's Receivables Securitization Program. The Company's Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements include Sweet Paper’s results of operations from June 1, 2005 and are not deemed material
for purposes of providing pro forma financial information.

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with SFAS
No. 141, Business Combinations, with the excess purchase price over the fair market value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed allocated to goodwill. Based on an allocation of the purchase price to
net assets acquired, $62.8 million has been allocated to goodwill and $30.8 million to amortizabte
intangible assets. The allocation of the purchase price includes a $3.0 million reserve established for
closure of certain Sweet Paper locations. During the second quarter of 2006, the Company made
$0.3 million in adjustments to the purchase price allocation {reducing goodwill by such amount),
resuiting from changes in amounts assigned to accounts receivable, intangible assets, trade accounts
payable and changes in expected liabilities associated with a purchase accounting reserve. The
intangible assets purchased include customer lists and certain non-compete agreements. The weighted
average useful life of the intangible assets is expected to be approximately 13 years. Amortization
expense associated with the Sweet Paper intangible assets is expected to be approximately $2.6 million
per year.

Sale of Canadian Division

As part of the sale of the Company’'s Canadian Division (see “Canadian Division—Discontinued
Operations” in Note 1), $15.1 million of goodwill was written-off and included in the $6.7 million pre-tax
loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Other Goodwill

During 2005, the Company reversed $7.2 million in income tax reserves, established in connection with
prior acquisitions, as a result of the expiration of applicable statutes of limitations. Such reversal resutted
in a decrease in goodwill during 2005 of $7.2 million and had no impact on the Company’s results of
operations.
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2006 Workforce Reduction Program

On October 17, 2006, the Company announced a restructuring plan to eliminate staff positions through
both voluntary and involuntary separation plans (the “Waorkforce Reduction Program”). The Workforce
Reduction Program included workiorce reductions of 110 associates and as of December 31, 20086, the
measures were substantially complete. The Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $6.0 million in 2006
for severance pay and benefits, prorated bonuses, and outplacement costs that will be paid primarily
during 2007. Cash outlays associated with the 2006 Workforce Reduction Program in 2007 totaled
$6.6 million. During 2006, cash outlays associated with Workforce Reduction Program totaled
$0.4 million. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had accrued reserves for the 2006
Workforce Reduction Program of $0.7 million and $5.6 million, respectively. The Company recorded an
additional charge of $1.7 million related to this action in 2007.

2002 Restructuring Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors approved a restructuring plan in the fourth quarter of 2002 (the 2002
Restructuring Plan”) that included additional charges related to revised real estate sub-lease
assumptions used in the 2001 Restructuring Plan, further downsizing of TOP operations (including
severance and anticipated exit costs related to a portion of the Company’s Memphis distribution center),
closure of the Milwaukee, Wisconsin distribution center and the write-down of certain e-commerce-
related investments. All initiatives under the 2002 Restructuring Plan are complete. However, certain
cash paymenits will continue for accrued exit costs that relate to long-term lease obligations that expire at
various times over the next three years. The Company continues to actively pursue opportunities to
sublet unused facilities.

During 20086, the Company reversed $4.1 million in restructuring and other charges as a result of events
impacting estimates for future obligations associated with the 2002 Restructuring Plan. The Company is
now using previously unused space in its Memphis distribution center for operations related to the
Company’s global sourcing initiative and to expand Lagasse's distribution capability for janitorial and
breakroom supplies including foodservice consumables products.

During 2005, the Company reversed $1.3 million in restructuring and other charges as a result of events
impacting estimates for future obligations associated with the 2002 and 2001 Restructuring Plans. The
Company negotiated a $0.3 million settiement ceasing, at a reduced rate, all future rent payments on a
facility included in both the 2002 and 2001 Restructuring Plans. The Company also reneqotiated the
terms of two existing leases with sub-tenants which resulted in a favorable $0.7 million impact. In
addition, the Company negotiated to receive approximately $0.3 million of future third-party technology
services in exchange for certain e-commerce-related investments previously written-down as part of the
2002 Restructuring Plan.

2001 Restructuring Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors approved a restructuring plan in the third quarter of 2001 (the “2001
Restructuring Plan™) that included an organizational restructuring, a consolidation of certain distribution
facilities and USSC's call center operations, an information technology platform consolidation,
divestiture of the call center operations of The Order People (“TOP"”) and certain other assets, and a
significant reduction of TOP’s cost structure. The restructuring plan included workforce reductions of
approximately 1,375 associates. All initiatives under the 2001 Restructuring Plan are complete. However,
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certain cash payments will continue for accrued exit costs that relate to long-term lease obligations that
expire at various times over the next three years. The Company continues to actively pursue
opportunities to sublet unused facilities.

As of December 31, 2007 and 20086, the Company had accrued restructuring costs on its balance sheet
of approximately $1.6 million and $2.4 million, respectively, for the remaining exit costs related to the
2002 and 2001 Restructuring Plans. Net cash payments related to the 2002 and 2001 Restructuring
Plans for 2007, 2006 and 2005 totaled $0.3 million, $1.0 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

6. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 included the
following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Unrealized currency translation adjustments. . . .. ... ... ...... % (3,167) & (2,867) $ 854
Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps, netoftax . ... ... .... .. (2,299) — —
Minimum pension liability adjustments, netoftax ... ........ .. (9,486) (7,939) (12,154)
Adjustments to apply SFAS No. 158, netoftax. .............. — (4,530) —
Total accumulated other comprehensiveloss . .. ........... .. $(14,952) $(15,336) $ (3,613}

7. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the pericd. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could
occur if dilutive securities were exercised into common stock. Stock options and deferred stock units are
considered dilutive securities. Stock options to purchase 0.2 million shares of cornmon stock were
outstanding at December 31, 2007, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per
share because the opticns’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common
shares and, therefore, the effect would be antidilutive. The amount of antidilutive options in prior years is
not material.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share {in thousands,
except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Numerator:
Netincome .. ....... . i e $107,195 $132,213  $97,501
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share — Weighted average
ShAreS . . . e 27,323 30,956 32,949
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options . .. ........ .. ... .. ... .. ... 653 415 663
Denominator for diluted earnings per share — Adjusted weighted
average shares and the effect of dilutive securities . .. ... ... 27,976 31,371 33,612
Net income per commaon share:
Net income pershare —basic . ..................... $ 382 § 427 $ 296
Net income per share — assuming dilution . . ... ......... $ 383 § 421 $ 290

8. Segment Information

SFAS No. 131, Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Refated Information, requires companies
to report financial and descriptive information about their reportable operating segments, including
segment profit or loss, certain specific revenue and expense items, and segment assets, as well as
information about the revenues derived from the company's products and services, the countries in
which the company earns revenues and holds assets, and major customers. This statement also
requires companies that have a single reportable segment to disclose information about products and
services, information about geographic areas, and information about major customers. This statement
requires the use of the management approach to determine the information to be reported. The
management approach is based on the way management organizes the enterprise to assess
performance and make operating decisions regarding the allocation of resources. SFAS No. 131 permits
the aggregation, based on specific criteria, of several operating segments into one reportable operating
segment. Management has chosen to aggregate its operating segments and report segment
information as one reportable segment. A discussion of the factors relied upon and processes
undertaken by management in determining that the Company meets the aggregation criteria is provided
below, followed by the required disclosure regarding the Company's single reportable segment.

Management defines operating segments as individual operations that the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM") (in the Company’s case, the President and Chief Executive Officer) reviews for the
purpose of assessing performance and making operating decisions. When evaluating operating
segments, management considers whether:

* The component engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses;

* The operating results of the component are regularly reviewed by the enterprise's CODM;
* Discrete financial information is available about the component; and

« Other factors are present, such as management structure, presentation of information to the
Board of Directors and the nature of the business activity of each component.
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Based on the factors referenced above, management has determined that the Company has three
operating segments, USSC (referred to by the Company as “Supply”), the first-tier operating subsidiary
of USI; Lagasse and ORS Nasco. Supply also includes operations in Mexico conducted through a USSC
subsidiary, as well as Azerty, which has been consolidated into Supply.

Management has also concluded that the Company’'s three operating segments meet all of the
aggregation criteria required by SFAS 131. Such determination is based on company-wide similarities in
(1) the nature of products and/or services provided, (2) customers served, (3) production processes
and/or distribution methods used, (4) economic characteristics including gross margins and operating
expenses and (5) regulatory environment. Management further believes aggregate presentation
provides more useful information to the financial statement user and is, therefore, consistent with the
principles and objectives of SFAS No. 131.

The following discussion sets forth the required disclosure regarding single reportable segment
information:;

The Company operates as a single reportable segment as North America’s largest broad line wholesale
distributor of business products, with 2007 net sales of $4.6 billion—including foreign operations in
Mexico. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s net sales from foreign
operations in Mexico totaled $88.9 million, $96.2 million and $88.6 million, respectively. In June 2008, the
Company sold its Canadian Division which had net sales for the year ended December 31, 2006 and
2005 of $47.9 million and $129.5 million, respectively. The Company stocks more than 100,000 items
from over 1,000 manufacturers. This includes a broad spectrum of manufacturers’ brand and private
brand office products, computer supplies, office furniture, business machines, presentation products,
janitorial and breakroom supplies and industrial supplies. The Company primarily serves commercial
and contract office products dealers and other independent distributors. The Company sells its products
through a national distribution network to more than 30,000 resellers, who in turn sell directly to
end-consumers. These products are distributed through the Company's network of 70 distribution
centers. As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, long-lived assets of the Company's foreign
operations in Mexico totaled $4.8 million, $4.8 million and $4.9 million, respectively.

The Company’s product offerings, comprised of more than 100,000 stockkeeping units (SKUs), may be
divided into the following primary categories: (i) traditional office products, which include writing
instruments, paper products, organizers and calendars and various office accessories; (i) technology
products such as computer supplies and peripherals; (ili) office furniture, such as desks, filing and
storage solutions, seating and systems furniture, along with a variety of products for niche markets such
as education government, healthcare and professional services; (iv) janitorial and breakroom supplies,
which includes janitorial and breakroom supplies, foodservice consumables, safety and security items,
and paper and packaging supplies; and (v} industrial supplies which includes hand and power tools,
safety and security supplies, janitorial equipment and supplies and welding products. In 2007, the
Company’s largest supplier was Hewlett-Packard Company, which represented approximately 20% of
its total purchases. No other supplier accounted for more than 10% of the Company's total purchases.

The Company's customers include independent office products dealers and contract stationers, office
products mega-dealers, office products superstores, computer products resellers, office furniture
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dealers, mass merchandisers, mail order companies, sanitary supply distributors, drug and grocery
store chains, e-commerce dealers and other independent distributors. No single customer accounted
for mere than 8% of the Company's 2007 consolidated net sales.

The following table shows net sales by product category for 2007, 2006 and 2005 (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Technology products . .. .. . . oo e $1,729 $1,767 $1,729
Traditional office products . . .. .. ... ... . ... . 1,374 1,315 1,261
Janitorial and breakroom supplies .. ... .. ... .. ... L 925 849 699
Office furniture . . . . . . ... .. . .. e 535 536 520
Freightrevenue . . ... ... ... .. .. . . i e 77 70 59
Industrial supplies . .. ... .. 3 — -—
Other . . 3 10 1
Total net sales . . . . ... e e e $4,646 $4,547 $4,279

9. Long-Term Debt

US! is a holding company and, as a result, its primary sources of funds are cash generated from
operating activities of its direct operating subsidiary, USSC, and from borrowings by USSC. The 2007
Credit Agreement {as defined below) and the 2007 Master Note Purchase Agreement {as defined below)
contains restrictions on the ability of USSC to transfer cash to USI.

Long-term debt consisted of the following amounts {in thousands):

As of As of
December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
2007 Credit Agreement — Revolving Credit Facility . . . . ... ... ... $109,200 $110,500
2007 Credit Agreement — Term Loan . . ... ... .............. 200,000 —
2007 Master Note Purchase Agreement (Private Placement) . . .. . .. 135,000 —
Industrial development bond, maturingin 2011 .. ............. 6,800 6,800
Total . . e e $451,000 $117,300

As of December 31, 2007, 100% of the Company's outstanding debt is priced at variable interest rates
based primarily on the applicable bank prime rate, the London interBank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or the
applicable commercial paper rates related to the Receivables Securitization Program. As of
December 31, 2007, the applicable bank prime interest rates used for the Company’s various
borrowings was 7.25% and the average rate for LIBOR borrowing was approximately 6.05%. While the
Company does have $451 million of outstanding LIBOR based debt at December 31, 2007, the
Company has hedged $335 million of this debt with two separate interest rate swaps previously
mentioned and further discussed in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”; and Note 20,
“Derivative Financial Instruments”, to the Consolidated Financial Statements. At year-end funding
levels, a 50 basis point movement in interest rates would result in an annualized increase or decrease of
approximately $1.8 million in interest expense and loss on the sale of centain accounts receivable, on a
pre-tax basis, and ultimately upon cash flows from operations.
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Credit Agreement and Other Debt

On July 5, 2007, USI and USSC entered into a Second Amended and Restated Five-Year Revolving
Credit Agreement with PNC Bank, National Association and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Syndication Agents, KeyBank National Association and LaSalle Bank, National Association, as
Documentation Agents, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Agent (as amended on
December 21, 2007, the “2007 Credit Agreement”). The 2007 Credit Agreement provides a Revolving
Credit Facility with a committed principal amount of $425 million and a Term Loan in the principal amount
of $200 million. Interest on both the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan is based on the three-
month LIBOR plus an interest margin based upon the Company’s debt to EBITDA ratio {or “Leverage
Ratio,” as defined in the 2007 Credit Agreement). The 2007 Credit Agreement prohibits the Company
from exceeding a Leverage Ratio of 3.25 to 1.00 and imposes other restrictions on the Company’s ability
to incur additional debt. The Revolving Credit Facility expires on July 5, 2012, which is also the maturity
date of the Term Loan.

On October 15, 2007, USI and USSC entered into a Master Note Purchase Agreement (the “2007 Note
Purchase Agreement”) with several purchasers. The 2007 Note Purchase Agresment allows USSC to
issue up to $1 billion of senior secured notes, subject to the debt restrictions contained in the 2007 Credit
Agreement. Pursuant to the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement, USSC issued and sold $135 million of
floating rate senior secured notes due October 15, 2014 at par in a private placement (the
“Series 2007-A Notes”). Interest an the Series 2007-A Notes is payable quarterly in arrears at a rate per
annum equal to three-month LIBOR plus 1.30%, beginning January 15, 2008. USSC may issue
additional series of senior secured notes from time to time under the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement but
has no specific plans to do so at this time. USSC used the proceeds from the sale of these notes to repay
borrowings under the 2007 Credit Agreement.

On November 6, 2007, USSC, entered into an interest rate swap transaction (the “November 2007 Swap
Transaction”) with U.S. Bank National Association as the counterparty. USSC entered into the November
2007 Swap Transaction to mitigate USSC’s floating rate risk on an aggregate of $135 million of LIBOR
based interest rate risk. Under the terms of the November 2067 Swap Transaction, USSC is required to
make quarterly fixed rate payments to the counterparty calculated based on a notional amount of
$135 mitlion at a fixed rate of 4.674%, while the counterparty is obligated to make quarterly floating rate
payments to USSC based on the three-month LIBOR on the same referenced notional amount. The
November 2007 Swap Transaction has an effective date of January 15, 2008 and a termination date of
January 15, 2013.

On December 20, 2007, USSC entered into an interest rate swap transaction {the “December 2007
Swap Transaction’) with Key Bank National Association as the counterparty. USSC entered into the
December 2007 Swap Transaction to mitigate USSC'’s floating rate risk on an aggregate of $200 million
of LIBOR based interest rate risk. Under the terms of the December 2007 Swap Transaction, USSC is
required to make quarterly fixed rate payments to the counterparty calculated based on a notional
amount of $200 million at a fixed rate of 4.075%, while the counterparty is obligated to make quarterly
floating rate payments to USSC based on the three-month LIBOR on the same referenced notional
amount, The December 2007 Swap Transaction has an effective date of December 21, 2007 and a
termination date of June 21, 2012.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had $109.2 million outstanding under the 2007 Credit
Agreement’s Revolving Credit Facility and as of December 31, 2006, the Company had $110.5 million
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outstanding under the same facility. The Company also had $200 million outstanding at December 31,
2007 under the 2007 Credit Agreement’'s Term Loan and another $135 million outstanding under the
2007 Note Purchase Agreement.

The 2007 Credit Agreement also pravides for the issuance of letters of credit in an aggregate amount of
up to a sublimit of $30 million and provides a sublimit for swingline loans in an aggregate outstanding
principal amount not to exceed $30 million at any one time. These amounts, as sublimits, do not increase
the maximum aggregate principal amount, and any undrawn issued letters of credit and all outstanding
swingline loans under the facility reduce the remaining availability under the 2007 Credit Agreement. As
of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding letters of credit under the
2007 Credit Agreement and its predecessor agreement of $19.5 million and $17.3 million, respectively.

Obligations of USSC under the 2007 Credit Agreement and the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement are
guaranteed by USI and certain of USSC’s domestic subsidiaries. USSC’s obligations under these
agreements and the guarantors’ obligations under the guaranties are secured by liens on substantially
all Company assets, including accounts receivable, chattel paper, commercial tort claims, documents,
equipment, fixtures, instruments, inventory, investment property, pledged deposits and all other tangible
and intangible personal property (including proceeds) and certain real property, but excluding accounts
receivable (and related credit support) subject to any accounts receivable securitization program
permitted under the 2007 Credit Agreement. Also securing these obligations are first priority pledges of
all of the capital stock of USSC and the domestic subsidiaries of USSC.

Debt maturities as of December 31, 2007, were as follows (in thousands):

Y_eﬂ ‘ Amount

2008 . L e e e e e e e e e e $ —
20000 . L e e e e e e e —
2010 . e e e e e e e e e e —
2000 L e e e e e 6,800
. 1 309,200
LAl YAIS . . . .. i e e e e e e e 135,000
o - $451,000

The industrial development bond outstanding of $6.8 million carries market-based interest rates.

10. Receivables Securitization Program
General

On March 28, 2003, USSC entered into a third-party receivables securitization program with JP Morgan
Chase Bank, as trustee (the “Receivables Securitization Program” or the “Program”}. On November 10,
2006, the Company entered into an amendment to its Revolving Credit Facility {the “2006 Credit
Agreement”) which, among other things, increased the permitted size of the Receivables Securitization
Program to $350 million, a $75 million increase from the $275 million limit under the 2005 Credit
Agreement. During the first quarter of 2007, the Company increased its commitments for third party
purchases of accounts receivable, and the maximum funding availabte under the Program is now
$250 million. The Program typically is the Company's preferred source of floating rate financing,
primarily because it generally carries a lower cost than other traditional borrowings.
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Under the Program, USSC sells, on a revolving basis, its eligible trade accounts receivable (except for
certain excluded accounts receivable, which initially includes all accounts receivable of Lagasse, Inc.
and foreign operations) to USS Receivables Company, Lid. (the “Receivables Company™). The
Receivables Company, in turn, ultimately transfers the eligible trade accounts receivable to a trust. The
trust then sells investment certificates, which represent an undivided interest in the pool of accounts
receivable owned by the trust, to third-party investors. Affiliates of JP Morgan Chase Bank, PNC Bank
and (as of March 26, 2004) Fifth Third Bank act as funding agents. The funding agents, or their affiliates,
provide standby liquidity funding to support the sale of the accounts receivable by the Receivables
Company under 364-day liquidity facilities. Standby liquidity funding is committed for 364 days and must
be renewed before maturity in order for the Program to continue. The Receivables Securitization
Program provides for the possibility of other liquidity facilities that may be provided by other commercial
banks rated at least A-1/P-1.

The Program liquidity was renewed on March 23, 2007. The Program contains certain covenants and
requirements, including criteria relating to the quality of receivables within the pool of receivables. If the
covenants or requirements were compromised, funding from the Program could be restricted or
suspended, or its costs could increase. In such a circumstance, or if the standby liquidity funding were
not renewed, the Company could reguire replacement liquidity.

As discussed above, the 2007 Credit Agreement is an existing alternate liquidity source. The Company
believes that, if so required, it also could access other liquidity sources to replace funding from the
program.

Financial Statement Presentation

The Receivables Securitization Program is accounted for as a sale in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 140 Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.
Trade accounts receivable sold under this program are excluded from accounts receivable in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. As of both December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company sold
$248 million and $225 million of interests in trade accounts receivable. Accordingly, trade accounts
receivable of $248 million and $225 million as of both December 31, 2007 and 2006 are excluded from
the Consolidated Financial Statements. As discussed below, the Company retains an interest in the trust
based on funding levels determined by the Receivables Company. The Company’s retained interest in
the trust is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption, "Retained interest in
receivables sold, net.” For further information on the Company’s retained interest in the trust, see the
caption “Retained Interest” below.

The Company recognizes certain costs and/or losses related to the Receivables Securitization Program.
Costs related to this program vary on a daily basis and generally are related to certain short-term interest
rates. The annual interest rate on the certificates issued under the Receivables Securitization Program
during 2007 ranged between 5.62% and 6.55%. In addition to the interest on the certificates, the
Company pays certain bank fees related to the program. Losses recognized on the sale of accounts
receivable, which represent the interest and bank fees that are the financial cost of funding under the
program including amortization of previously capitalized bank fees and excluding servicing revenues,
totaied $14.6 million for 2007, compared with $12.8 million for 2006. Proceeds from the collections under
this revolving agreement for 2007 and 2006 were $3.9 billion and $3.6 billion, respectively. All costs
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and/or losses related to the Receivables Securitization Program are included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements of Income under the caption “Other Expense, net.”

The Company has maintained responsibility for servicing the sold trade accounts receivable and those
transferred to the trust. No servicing asset or liability has been recorded because the fees received for
servicing the receivables approximate the related costs.

Retained Interest

The Receivables Company determines the level of funding achieved by the sale of trade accounts
receivable, subject to a maximum amount. It retains a residual interest in the eligible receivables
transferred to the trust, such that amounts payable in respect of such residual interest will be distributed
to the Receivables Company upon payment in full of all amounts owed by the Receivables Company to
the trust {(and by the trust to its investors). The Company's net retained interest on $342.8 million and
$332.1 million of trade receivables in the trust as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 was
$94.8 million and $107.1 million, respectively. The Company's retained interest in the trust is included in
the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption, “Retained interest in receivables sold, net.”

The Company measures the fair value of its retained interest throughout the term of the Receivables
Securitization Program using a present value model incorporating the following two key economic
assumptions: (1) an average collection cycle of approximately 40 days; and (2) an assumed discount
rate of 5% per annum. In addition, the Company estimates and records an allowance for doubtful
accounts related to the Company’s retained interest. Considering the above noted economic factors
and estimates of doubtful accounts, the book value of the Company’s retained interest approximates fair
value. A 10% and 20% adverse change in the assumed discount rate or average collection cycle would
not have a material impact on the Company’s financia! position or results of operations. Accounts
receivable sold to the trust and written off during 2007 and 2006 were not material.

11. Leases, Contractual Obligations and Contingencies

The Company has entered into non-cancelable iong-term leases for certain property and equipment.
Future minimum lease payments under operating leases in effect as of December 31, 2007 having initial
or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows {in thousands):

Year Operating Leases(!
2008 . .. e e $ 52,166
2000 . . e 44,511
2010 . . e 35,979
= 27,433
2012 e e 21,228
Later years. . . .. ... e 55,783
Total required lease payments. . . .. ........ . ... .. ... ... ..., $237.100

(1) Operating leases are net of immaterial sublease income.

Operating lease expense was approximately $51.4 million, $55.2 million, and $45.9 million in 2007, 2006,
and 2005, respectively.
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11. Leases, Contractual Obligations and Contingencies (Continued)

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had unconditional purchase obligations of $10.4 million related
to equipment for the new Orlando, Florida facility and various software maintenance agreements and
other information technology projects. These purchase obligations were appropriately excluded from
the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2007.

2005 USOP Settlement

The Company was a defendant in two preference avoidance lawsuits filed by USOP Liquidating LLC
{“USOP LLC") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. In the two lawsuits,
USOP LL.C sought monetary recoveries of $66.3 million for allegedly preferential transfers made to the
Company in the 90 days preceding the filing of US Office Products Company's Chapter 11 bankruptcy
petition in 2001. During 2005, the Company settled all matters related to the two preference avoidance
lawsuits. The Company’s results of operations for 2005 reflect a pre-tax charge of $2.3 million.

12. Pension Plans and Defined Contribution Plan
Pension Plans

As of December 31, 2007, the Company has pension plans covering approximately 3,900 of its
associates. Non-contributory plans covering non-union associates provide pension benefits that are
based on years of credited service and a percentage of annual compensation. Non-contributory plans
covering union members generally provide benefits of stated amounts based on years of service. The
Company funds the plans in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company uses
October 31 as its measurement date to determine its pension obligations. The non-union plans have
been closed to new associates beginning January 1, 2008. In addition, effective January 1, 2008, in
accordance with the new measurement date provisions of SFAS No. 158 (see Note 2 for “New
Accounting Pronouncements’), the Company will change its measure date to determine its pension
obligations to its fiscal year end.

Change in Projected Benefit Obligation

The following table sets forth the plans’ changes in Projected Benefit Obligation for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

2007 2006
Benefit obligation at beginningofyear. . . ...... ... .. ... . .o L. $118,864 $108,309
Service cost — benefit earned duringthe period . . . .. ................ 6,182 5,968
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . . .. .................... 7,016 6,398
Actuanial 1088 . . . . . .. e e 372 381
Benefitspaid . . . .. ... ... .. .. (5.128) (2,192)
Benefit obligation atend ofyear . . . .. ... ... ... ... ... . . $127,306 $118,864

The accumulated benefit obligation for the plan as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 totaled $115.6 million
and $107.9 million, respectively.
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12. Pension Plans and Defined Contribution Plan {Continued)
Plan Assets and Investment Policies and Strategies

The following table sets forth the ¢hange in the plans’ assets for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006 (in thousands): '

2007 2006
Fair value of plan assets at beginningofyear. .. ..................... $ 82,389 $68,105
Actual returmnonplanassets . .......... ... . ... . . ... . ... . oo, 11,239 9,41
Company contributions . . . ... .. ... .. ... e 14,109 7,065
Benefits paid . . . .. . .. .. . e (5.128) (2,192)
Fair value of plan assets atend ofyear . . . . ....... ... ... ... .. ... .. $102,609 $82,389

The Company’s pension plan investment allocations, as a percentage of the fair value of total plan
assets, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, by asset category are as follows:

Asset Category 2007 2006

Cash . e 19% 2.3%
Equity SBCUMtIeS . . . . . L e 66.2% 65.9%
Fixed iNCOME . . . . e e e e 31.9% 31.8%

Total. o e e 100.0% 100.0%

The investment policies and strategies for the Company's pension plan assets are established with the
goals of generating above-average investment returns over time, while containing risks within
acceptable levels and providing adequate liquidity for the payment of plan abligations. The Company
recognizes that there typically are tradeoffs among these objectives, and strives to minimize risk
associated with a given expected return. )

The plan assets are invested primarily in a diversified mix of fixed income investments and equity
securities. The Company establishes target ranges for investment allocation and sets specific
allocations. On an ongoing basis, the Company reviews plan assets for possible rebalancing amang
investments to remain consistent with target allocations. Actual plan asset allocations as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are consistent with the Company’s target ailocation ranges.

Plan Funded Status
The following table sets forth the plans’ funded status as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

‘ 2007 2006
Funded statusoftheplan . . ...... ... ... ... ... .. . .., SEUPE $(24,697) $(36,475)
Unrecognized prior service cost . . . . . .. .. .. L 1,299 1,504
Unrecognized net actuarial 108s . . . . . .. .. . 18,646 23,529
Net amount recognized . .. ... i i e $ (4,752) $(11,442)
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12. Pension Plans and Defined Contribution Plan (Continued)

Amounts Recognized in Consolidated Balance Sheet

2007 2006
Accrued benefit liability . . . . .. ... L (24,697)  (36,475)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . .. ... ... ... ... . ... .. ..., 19,945 25,033
Netamountrecognized . ... . ... ... . it $ (4,752} ${11,442)

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 for pension and
supplemental benefit plans includes the following components (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005

Service cost — benefit earned during the period . . ... .. ...... ... $6,182 $5968 $5718
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . . .. ................ 7,016 6,398 5,666
Expected returnonplanassets .. ................ .. ........ (7,179) (5,745) (5,118)
Amortization of priorservicecost . .. . ... .. L 205 210
Amortization of actuarial loss . .. . ........ ... . ... ... .o ... 1,195 1,738 1,655
Net periodicpensioncost . . ... ... ... . . .. . $7,419 $8760 $8,131

The estimated net actuariat loss and prior service cost that will be amortized from accumulated other
comprehensive loss into the net periodic benefit cost during 2008 are approximately $0.5 million and
$0.2 million, respectively.

Assumptions Used

The following tables summarize the Company’s actuarial assumptions for discount rates, expected
long-term rates of return on plan assets, and rates of increase in compensation and healthcare costs for
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

2007 2006 2005

Pension plan assumptions:

Assumed discountrate . . . ... .. L e 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%
Rate of compensation inCrease . . . ... ... .. .. . . e 3.75% 3.75% 3.75%
Expected long-term rate of return onplan assets . . . ................. 8.25% B8.25% 8.25%

To select the appropriate actuarial assumptions, management relied on current market conditions,
historicai information and consultation with and input from the Company's outside actuaries. The
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets assumption is based on historical returns and the future
expectation of returns for each asset category, as well as the target asset allocation of the asset portfolio,

Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $16.2 million to its pension plans in 2008.
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12. Pension Plans and Defined Contribution Plan (Continued)
Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The estimated future benefit payments under the Company’s pension plans are as follows (in
thousands):

Amounts
2008 L e e e e e e e $ 3,736
2009 L e e e e e e e e 3,609
- 3,892
741 T O 4,497
2012 . e e e e e e e e e e 4,715
2013-2017 . . e 34,424

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a defined contribution plan. Salaried associates and non-union hourly paid
associates are eligible to participate after completing six consecutive months of employment. The plan
permits associates to have contributions made as 401 (k) salary deferrals on their behalf, or as voluntary
after-tax contributions, and provides for Company contributions, or contributions matching associates’
salary deferral contributions, at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Company contributions to match
associates’ contributions were approximately $4.3 million, $4.2 million and $3.8 million in 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

13. Postretirement Health Benefits

The Company maintains a postretirement plan. The plan is unfunded and provides healthcare benefits to
substantially all retired non-union associates and their dependents. Eligibility requirements are based on
the individual's age (minimum age of 55), years of service and hire date. The benefits are subject to
retiree contributions, deductible, co-payment provision and other limitations. The Company uses
Qctober 31 as its measurement date to determine its postretirement health benefits obligations. In
addition, effective January 1, 2008, in accordance with the new measurement date provisions of SFAS
No. 158 {see Note 2 for “New Accounting Pronouncements”), the Company will change its
measurement date to determine its postretirement health obligations to its fiscal year end.

Accrued Postretirement Benefit Obligation

The following table provides the plan's change in Accrued Postretirement Benefit Obfigation (“*APBO™)
for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

2007 2006
Benefit obligation at beginning of year ... ...... e $3580 §7.577
Service cost — benefit earned during the period .. ... ... ... ... ... ... 264 249
Interest cost on projected benefit abligation . . .. .......... ... ... .. .. 201 192
Plan participants’ contributions . . . .. .. .. . . e 375 355
Actuarial Qain . ... .. e e e —  {4,267)
Benefits paid . . . . . . .. .. e {455) (526}
Benefit obligationatend ofyear. . .. ... ... . .. . e $3,965 $ 3580
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13. Postretirement Health Benefits (Continued)
Plan Assets and Investment Policies and Strategies

The Company does not fund its postretirement healthcare plan (see “Plan Funded Status” below).
.Accordingly, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the postretirement healthcare plan held no assets. The
following table provides the change in pfan assets for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in
thousands):

2007 2006
Fair value of plan assets at beginningofyear. . . ............ ... ... ....... $ — & —
Company contributions . . . . ... .. .. . L 80 171
Plan participants’ contributions . . . . . .. . ... L e 3758 355
Benefits paid . . . . . . ... e (455) (526}
Fair value of plan assets atend ofyear . . . .. . . . .. ... . L. L. 5 — —

Plan Funded Status

The Company’s postretirement healthcare plan is unfunded. The fellowing table sets forth the plans’
funded status as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

2007 2006
Funded status ofthe plan . . ... ... ... .. .. ... ... ... ... .......... $(3,965) $(3,580)
Unrecognized net actuarial gain . . .. .. ... . ... . ... — —
Accrued postretirement benefit obligation in the Consclidated Balance Sheets . . . $(3,965} $(3,580)

Components of Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost

The costs of postretirement healthcare benefits for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
were as follows (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005

Service cost — benefit earned duringthe period . . .. ... .. ... ... ... $264 $249 $556
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . .. ...... .. ... ... ... ... 201 192 389
Recognized actuarial gain . .. .. .. .. ... ... (317) (346) (56)
Net periodic postretirement benefitcost . . .. .. ... ... . ... o L. $148 $ 85 $889

The postretirement healthcare benefit cost declined during 2006 as a result of a change in the estimated
plan participation rate. The estimated net actuarial gain that will be amortized from accumulated other
comprehensive income into the net periodic benefit cost during 2008 is approximately $0.3 million.

Assumptions Used

The weighted-average assumptions used in accounting for the Company’s postretirement plan for the
three years presented are set forth below:

2007 2006 2005

Assumed average healthcare costtrend . . .. .. .. ....... ... ... .. ... 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
Assumed discountrate ... ... ... . .. .. ... e 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

The Company’s medical cost increase rate is capped at 3.00% by the plan.
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13. Postretirement Health Benefits (Continued)
Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $0.1 million to its postretirement healthcare plan in 2008,

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The estimated future benefits payments under the Company's postretirement healthcare plan are as
follows (in thousands):

Amounts
2008 . . e e e $ 133
2000 L e e e 150
2010 . . e 164
201 L e 175
2002 L e e e e e 188
201 3-2007 e e e 1,180

14, Preferred Stock

USI's authorized capital shares include 15 million shares of preferred stock. The rights and preferences
of preferred stock are established by USI's Board of Directors upon issuance. As of December 31, 2007,
USI had no preferred stock outstanding and all 15 million shares are classified as undesignated
preferred stock.

15. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Currently payable
Federal . . ... . . e $ 66906 $84,889 $55,113
State. . .. e 6,038 11,764 7,261
Total currently payable .. ............ e e e 72,8944 96,653 62,374
Deferred, net—
FOOBIAl . . o\ttt e (3706) (14,323) (1,277)
State. . ... e (413) (1,820) (148)
Total deferred, net . . ... ... . ... . ... ... . (4,119) (16,143)  (1,425)
Provision for income taxes ........... ... ... ... . . .. .. $68,825 $80,510 $60,949
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15. Income Taxes (Continued)

The Company's effective income tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
varied from the statutory federal income tax rate as set forth in the following table (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
% of Pre-tax % of Pre-tax % of Pre-tax
Amount Income Amount Income Amount Income

Tax provision based on the federal

statutoryrate . . ... ... .. ..., $61,607 35.0% $75,535 35.0% $56,847 35.0%
State and local income taxes — net

of federal income tax benefit, ... 3,656 21% 6,464 3.0% 4,623 2.8%
Change in tax reserves and accrual

adjustments . ... .. ... ... ... 3,132 1.8% (1,728) -0.8% 626 0.4%
Non-deductible and other , ... ... 430 0.2% 239 0.1% (1,147) -0.7%
Provision for income taxes ... ... $68,825 39.1% $80,510 37.3% $60,949 37.5%

The deferred tax assets and liabilities resulted from temporary differences in the recognition of certain
items for financial and tax accounting purposes. The sources of these differences and the related tax
effects were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2007 2008

Assets Liabilities  Assets Liabilitles
ACCrued eXpenSES . . . . ... e $24571 $ — $31262 $ —
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ... ............. 6,853 — 6,752 —
Inventory reserves and adjustments . . .. ........ ... — 16,650 — 12,777
Depreciation and amortization . . . ................ — 26,446 — 29,103
Restructuring Costs . ... . ..., ... . ... ... ... 932 — 2,579 —
Reserve for stock option compensation ... ......... 4,787 — 2,727 —
Intangibles arising from acquisitions . . . .. ... ....... — 20,080 — 3,433
Other . ... . e e 1,371 — — 1,022
= - $38,514 563,186 $43,320 $46,335

In the Consolidated Balance Sheets, these deferred assets and liabilities were classified on a net basis
as current and non-current, based on the classification of the related asset or liability or the expected
reversal date of the temporary difference.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48 on January 1, 2007. As a resuilt of the
implementation of FIN No. 48, the Company recognized a net decrease of $1.8 million in the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for as an increase to the January 1, 2007 balance of
retained earnings.

At January 1, 2007, the Company had $5.8 million in gross unrecognized tax benefits. At December 31,
2007, the gross unrecognized tax benefits accrued for within “Accrued liabilities™ and “Other long-term
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15. Income Taxes (Continued)

liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets increased to $9.2 million as shown in the table below (in
thousands):

Balance at January 1, 2007 . . . ... . ... e e $ 5,825
Additions based on tax positions taken duringapriorperiod . . . . ....... ... ... 4,315
Additions based on tax positions taken during the current period . . . .. .. ... ... oL 585
Reductions related to settlement oftax matters . . . .. .. .. ... . .. ... . . oL, (87)
Reductions related to a lapse of applicable statute of limitations. . . . ....... ... ..., .. (1,417
Balance at December 31, 2007 . . . . .. ... e e $9,191

At December 31, 2007 and January 1, 2007, $7.3 million and $3.5 million, respectively, of these gross
unrecognized tax benefits would, if recognized, decrease the Company's effective tax rate, with the
remainder, if recognized, impacting “Goodwill” and “Other Current Assets™.

The Company recognizes net interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense. The gross amount of interest and penalties reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Income
for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $0.4 million and the amounts related to the other periods
presented were not material. The Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 and January 1,
2007 include $1.7 million and $1.3 million respectively, accrued for the potential payment of interest and
penalties.

As of January 1, 2007, the Company’s U.S. Federal income tax returns for 2004 and subsequent years
remain subject to examination by tax authorities. In addition, the Company’s state income tax returns for
the tax years 2001 through 2006 remain subject to examinations by state and local income tax
authorities. Although the Company is not currently under examination by the IRS, a number of state and
local examinations are currently ongoing. Due to the potential for resolution of ongoing examinations
and the expiration of various statutes of limitation, it is reasonably possible that the Company's gross
unrecognized tax benefits balance accrued for in the Consolidated Balance Sheets may change within
the next twelve months by a range of zero to $4 million.

16. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

In addition to the information provided in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, the following are
supplemental disclosures of cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Cash Paid During the Year For:
Interest. . . .. . e e e $ 8434 $ 6,186 $ 1,321
Discount on the sale of trade accounts receivable . ... ........ 15,574 12,695 6,157
Income taxes, NBt . . . . . . ... ... e 57.024 79,458 55,271

During 2005, the Company signed an 11-year operating lease (the “Lease”) for its new corporate
headquarters. The Lease provides for certain landlord “build-out” allowances of approximately
$7.1 million. These build-out allowances are provided to the Company in the form of payment by the
landlord directly to third-parties and are therefore a non-cash item for the Company.
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17. Other Expense
The following table sets torth the components of other expense (dollars in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Loss on sale of accounts receivable, net of servicing revenue. . .. $ 14566 $ 12,765 $ 6,771
Other . . . 29 21 264
Total .. $ 14595 $ 12,786 $ 7,035

18. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their net carrying values.
The estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2007 2006

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amiount Value
Cash and cashequivalents . . ... .............. $ 21,957 § 21957 $ 14989 $ 14,989
Accounts receivable, net. . . .. ..... ... . ....... 321,305 321,305 273,893 273,893
Retained interest in receivables sold,net . . ... ... .. 94,809 94,809 107,149 107,149
Accountspayable . .. ....... ... ............ 448,608 448,608 382,625 382,625
Long-termdebt . ... ..... ... .. .. ... .. ... .... 451,000 451,000 117,300 117,300
Long-term interest rate swap liability . . ... ... ..... 3.679 3,679 — —

The fair value of the interest rate swaps is estimated based upon the amount that the Company would
receive or pay to terminate the agreements as of December 31, 2007. See Note 20, *'Derivative Financial
Instruments” for further information.
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19, Other Assets and Liabilities

Other assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2007 2006

Other Long-Term Assets, net:

Assets heldforsale . ... ... . .. . i i e e e e $ 5388 § 6,858
Investment in deferred compensation . . ... ... o oo e 4,144 3,539
Long-Tern notes recelvable . . . .. .. .. L 3,562 —
(- 3,229 2,088
Total other long-term assets, net . . .. .. ... . L L $16,323 $12,485
Other Long-Term Liabilities:

Accrued pension obligation . . .. ... ... e $24,697 $36,475
Defarred rent . .. ... .. e e e s 14,494 13,838
Deferred directors compensation .. ... .. ... .. ... . e 4,144 3,539
Postretirement benefits . . . . . .. .. . .. . e 3,832 3,456
Restructuring and exit costs reserves . . . . ... .. ... ... o i, 1,604 3,319
Long-Term swap liability . . . . .. ... ... 3,679 —
Long-Term income tax liability . . . ... ... . .. .. 7,542 —
0 = 1,568 2,180
Total other long-term liabilities . .. .. ... ... . o $61,560 $62,807

20. Derivative Financial Instruments

Interest rate movements create a degree of risk to the Company’s operations by affecting the amount of
interest payments. Interest rate swap agreements are used to manage the Company’s exposure to
interest rate changes. The Company designates its floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps as cash flow
hedges of the variability of future cash flows at the inception of the swap contract to support hedge
accounting.

On November 6, 2007, USSC entered into an interest rate swap transaction (the "November 2007 Swap
Transaction™) with U.S. Bank National Association as the counterparty. USSC entered into the November
2007 Swap Transaction to mitigate USSC's floating rate risk on an aggregate of $135 million of LIBOR
based interest rate risk. Under the terms of the November 2007 Swap Transaction, USSC is required to
make quarterly fixed rate payments to the counterparty calculated based on a notional amount of
$135 million at a fixed rate of 4.674%, while the counterparty is abligated to make quarterly floating rate
payments to USSC based on the three-month LIBOR on the same referenced notional amount. The
November 2007 Swap Transaction has an effective date of January 15, 2008 and a termination date of
January 15, 2013. Notwithstanding the terms of the November 2007 Swap Transaction, USSC is
ultimately obligated for all amounts due and payable under its credit agreements.

Subsequently, on December 20, 2007, USSC entered into another interest rate swap transaction (the
“December 2007 Swap Transaction’) with Key Bank National Association as the counterparty. USSC
entered into the December 2007 Swap Transaction to mitigate USSC’s floating rate risk on an aggregate
of $200 million of LIBOR based interest rate risk. Under the terms of the December 2007 Swap
Transaction, USSC is required to make quarterly fixed rate payments to the counterparty calculated
based on a notional amount of $200 million at a fixed rate of 4.075%, while the counterparty is obligated
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20. Derivative Financial Instruments (Continued)

to make quarterly floating rate payments to USSC based on the three-month LIBOR on the same
referenced notional amount. The December 2007 Swap Transaction has an effective date of
December 21, 2007 and a termination date of June 21, 2012. Notwithstanding the terms of the December
2007 Swap Transaction, USSC is ultimately obligated for all amounts due and payable under its credit
agreements.

The interest rate swap agreements that were outstanding as of December 31, 2007 were as follows (in
thousands):

As of December 31, 2007

Notional Fair Value Net

Amount Receive Pay Maturity Date Liability(™"
November 2007 Swap Transaction .. $135,000 Floating 3-month LIBOR  4.674% January 15, 2013 $(3,580)
December 2007 Swap Transaction .. $200,000 Floating 3-month LIBOR  4.075% June 21, 2012 $ (89)

(1) These interest rate derivatives qualify for hedge accounting. Therefore, the fair value of each interest rate derivative is
included in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets as a compenent of “'Other long-term liabilities” with an offsetting
component in “Stockholders' Equity’ as part of “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss”. Fair value adjustiments of the
interest rate swaps will be deferred and recognized as an adjustment to interest expense over the remaining term of the
hedged instrument,
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20. Derivative Financial Instruments {(Continued)

These two hedge transactions described above qualify as cash flow hedges under FASB Statement
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (""SFAS No. 133"}, This Statement
requires companies to recognize all of its derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial position at fair value. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as
a cash flow hedge (i.e., hedging the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that is
attributable to a particular risk), the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is
reported as a component of other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the same line
item associated with the forecasted transaction in the same period or periods during which the hedged
transaction affects earnings (for example, in “interest expense” when the hedged transactions are
interest cash flows associated with floating-rate debt).

The Company has entered into these interest rate swap agreements, described above, that effectively
convert a portion of its floating-rate debt to a fixed-rate basis. This then reduces the impact of
interest-rate changes on future interest expense. By using such derivative financial instruments, the
Company exposes itself to credit risk and market risk. Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to the
interest rate swap agreements (as noted above) will fail to perform under the terms of the agreements.
The Company attempts to minimize the credit risk in these agreements by only entering into transactions
with credit worthy counterparties like the two counterparties above. The market risk is the adverse effect
on the value of a derivative financial instrument that results from a change in interest rates.

Approximately 75% ($335 million} of the Company’s outstanding long-term debt had its interest
payments designated as the hedged forecasted transactions to interest rate swap agreements at
December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2007, $1.0 million {on a pre-tax basis) is scheduled to be
reclassified into interest expense over the next twelve months.

i
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21. Quarterly Financial Data—Unaudited

Year Ended
December 31, 2007:

Netsales . ........... .. ... ... .
Grossprofit . ..... ... ... ... ... . .. ...
Income from continuing operations . . . . . ... ..
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax . . .

Netincome® . ... . ...................

Net income per share — basic:

Net income per share -— continuing operations . .
Net loss per share — discontinued operations . . .

Net income per share—basic .............

Net income per share — diluted:

Net income per share — continuing operations . .
Net loss per share — discontinued operations . . .

Net income per share — diluted . . ... ... ...

Year Ended
December 31, 2006:

Netsales . ......... ... ... ... .......
Grossprofit ........ ... ... ... ... .. ...
Income from continuing operations . . . ... .. ..
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax . . .

Netincome® . .. ... . ... .. ... ..... ...

Net income per share — basic:

Net income per share — continuing operations . .
Net loss per share — discontinued operations . . .

Net income pershare —basic . ...........

Net income per share — diluted:

Net income per share — continuing operations . .
MNet loss per share — discontinued operations .. . .

Net income per share —diluted .. ... ... ...

Totalt"

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
{dollars in thousands, except per share data)
$1,193,316 $1,141,205 $1,191,956 $1,119,922 34,646,399
180,061 169,678 176,286 180,690 706,715
27,239 24,108 27,507 28,340 107,195
$ 27,239 $ 24,109 $ 27,507 & 28340 & 107,195
$ 0.92 3 0.86 3 1.02 $ 114 8 3.92
$ 0.92 $ 0.86 $ 1.02 $ 114 % 3.92
$ 0.80 $ 0.84 $ 1.00 $ 112 8 3.83
$ 0.90 3 0.84 3 1.00 $ 112  § 3.83
$1,148,230 $1,111,003 $1,173,827 $1,113,764  $4,546914
175,277 189,668 191,992 197,144 754,081
20,866 41,482 39,215 33,741 135,304
(2,826) (121} 3 (147) (3,091)
$ 18,040 $ 41,361 $ 39218 $ 33594 § 132,213
$ 0.66 3 1.32 3 1.28 3 112§ 437 )
(0.09} — — —_ {0.10)
3 0.57 $ 1.32 $ 1.28 3 112 % 4.27
$ 0.65 $ 1.29 $ 1.26 $ 110 & 4.31
{0.09) — —_ _— (0.10)
$ 056 § 1.29 $ .26 % 110§ 421

(1) As a result of changes in the number of common and common equivalent shares during the year, the sum of quanerly
earnings per share will not necessarily equal earnings per share for the total year.

(2} 2007 results were impacted by the following item: (1) $1.4 million or $0.03 per diluted share charge refated to the Company's

2006 Workforce Reduction Program.

(3) 2006 results were impactad by the following items: {1} a one-time pre-tax gain from product content syndication and other
marketing programs of $60.6 million, or $1.21 per diluted share; (2) a favorable $4.1 million, or $0.08 per diluted share for the
reversal of restructuring reserves; (3) a $6.7 million, or $0.13 per diluted share charge to write-off internal system capitalized
software costs; (4) $6.0 million, or $0.12 per diluted share charge retated to the Company's 2006 Workforce Reduction
Program; and (5) a $6.7 million, or $0.10 per diluted share loss from discontinued operations,

83




ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE. '

The Registrant had no disagreements on accounting and financial disclosure of the type referred to in
ltem 304 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Attached as exhibits to this Annual Report are certifications of the Company’s President and Chief
Executive Officer ("CEQ") and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ("CFQ"), which are
required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 under the Exchange Act. This “Controls and Procedures”
section includes information concerning the controls and controls evaluation referred to in such
certifications. It should be read in conjunction with the reports of the Company's management on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and the report thereon of Ernst & Young LLP referred
to below.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

The Company's management, including the CEOQ and CFO, does not expect that the Company’s
Disclosure Contrals or its internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error or all
fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system
must reflect the existence of resource constraints. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to
error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the fact that judgments in decision making can
be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
managerial override. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about
the likelihood of future events, and no design is likely to succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls to future periods
are subject to risks, including that controls may hecome inadequate because of changes in conditicns
or detericration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

At the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K the Company’'s management
performed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s CEO and
CFOQ, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e})). Such disclosure controls and procedures ("'Disclosure Controls’')
are controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required
to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Quarterly Report, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms.
Disclosure Controls are also designed to reascnably assure that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including the CEQ and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Management's quarterly evaluation of Disclosure Contreols
includes an evaluation of some components of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting,
and internal contral over financial reporting is also separately evaluated on an annual basis.

Based on this evaluation, the Company's management {including its CEO and CFO) concluded that, as
of December 31, 2007, the Company's Disclosure Controls were effective, subject to the inherent
limitations noted above in this Item 9A.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Related Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting and the report of Ernst & Young LLP, the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, regarding its audit of the Company'’s internal
control over financial reporting are included in ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the last quarter of 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

For information about the Company's executive officers, see “Executive Officers of the Registrant”
included as ltem 4A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the information contained under the
captions “Proposal 1: Election of Directors” and “Voting Securities and Principal Holders—
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance' in USI's Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (2008 Proxy Statement”) is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by Item 10 regarding the Audit Committee’s compaosition and the presence of
an “audit committee financial expert” is incorporated herein by reference to the information under the
captions “Gaovernance and Board Matters—Board Committees—General” and “—Audit Committee” in
USI’s 2008 Proxy Statement. In addition, information regarding delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of
Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the information under the captions “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in USI’s 2008 Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a code of ethics (its “Code of Business Conduct”} that applies to all
directors, officers and associates, including the Company's CEQ, CFO and Controller, and other
executive officers identified pursuant to this Item 10. A copy of this Code of Business Conduct is
available on the Company's Web site at www.unitedstationers.com. The Company intends to disclose
any significant amendments to and waivers of its Code of Conduct by posting the required information at
this Web site within the required time pericds.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this ltem is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under ihe captions “Director Compensation,” “Executive Compensation” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in USI’s 2008 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The beneficial ownership information required to be furnished pursuant to this Item is incorporated
herein by reference to the information under the captions “Voting Securities and Principal Holders—
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and "“Voting Securities and Principal Holders—
Security Ownership of Management” in USI's 2008 Proxy Statement. Information relating to securities
authorized for issuance under United’s equity plans is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information™ in USI's 2008 Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this ltem is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in USI's 2008 Proxy
Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this ltem is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the captions “Proposal 2: Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public
Accountants—Fee Information” and “—Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy” in USI's 2008 Proxy
Statement,
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) The following financial statements, schedules and exhibits are filed as part of this report:

Page No.
(1} Financial Statements of the Company;
Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting . . . .. ..., .......... 39
Report of independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting . .. ... e 40
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . ... ... ................ 41
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 42
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. . ... .. ............ 43
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 . . .. . .. ... . ... e e 44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
200D . . e e 45
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. . . .. ....... ... ... . ... ... ...... 46
(2) Financial Statement Schedule;
Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . . . . .. ... . ... ... . . e 95

All other schedules for which provisions made in the applicable accounting regulation of the
Securities and Exchange Commission are not required under the related instructions or are
inapplicable and theretore have been omitted.

(3} Exhibits (numbered in accordance with ltem 601 of Regulation S-K):

The Company is including as exhibits to this Annual Report certain documents that it has previously filed
with the SEC as exhibits, and itis incorporating such documents as exhibits herein by reference from the
respective filings identified in parentheses at the end of the exhibit descriptions. Except where otherwise
indicated, the identified SEC filings from which such exhibits are incorporated by reference were made
by the Company (under USI's file number of 0-10653). The management contracts and compensatory
plans or arrangements required to be included as exhibits to this Annual Report pursuant to Item 15(b)
are listed below as Exhibits 10.23 through 10.586, inclusive, and each of them is marked with a double
asterisk at the end of the related exhibit description.
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Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1

2.4

25

3.1

3.2

4.1

42

4.3

4.4

45

1041

10.2

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2007, among ORS Nasco
Holdings, Inc., United Stationers Supply Co. (“USSC"), the sharehaolders of ORS Nasco
Holding, Inc. parties thereto and Brazos Equity GP |l, LLC, as representative. (Exhibit 2.1
to the Company’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 28, 2007)

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated May 19, 2005, among Lagasse, In¢. and the
shareholders of Sweet Paper Sales Corp. and the asset sellers of Sweet Paper Sales
Group (Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005,
filed on August 3, 2005)

Amendment Number One to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated May 19, 2005, among
Lagasse, Inc. and the shareholders of Sweet Paper Sales Corp. and the asset sellers of
Sweet Paper Sales Group (Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2005, filed on August 9, 2005)

Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of United Stationers, Inc. (“USI” or the
“Company”), dated as of March 19, 2002 {Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed on April 1, 2002 (the “2001
Form 10-K™})

Amended and Restated Bylaws of United Stationers Inc., dated as of October 10, 2007
{Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 12, 2007)

Rights Agreement, dated as of July 27, 1899, by and between US| and BankBoston, N.A,
as Rights Agent (Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)

Amendment to Rights Agreement, effective as of April 2, 2002, by and among USI, Fleet
National Bank (f/k/a BankBoston, N.A.) and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. (Exhibit 4.1
to the Company’s Form i0-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed on May 15,
2002)

Master Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2007, among USI, USSC, and
the note purchasers identified therein (the “2007 Note Purchase Agreement”) (Exhibit
4.3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, filed
November 7, 2007 (the "Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2007))

Parent Guaranty, dated as of October 15, 2007, by USI in favor of holders of the
promissory notes identified therein (Exhibit 4.4 to the Form 10-Q filed on November 7,
2007)

Subsidiary Guaranty, dated as of October 15, 2007, by Lagasse, Inc., United Stationers
Technology Services LLC ("USTS") and United Stationers Financial Services LLC
("USFS") in favor of the hoiders of the promissory notes identified therein {Exhibit 4.5 to
the Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2007)

Guaranty, dated as of March 21, 2003, by USSC, as borrower, USI, Azerty Incorporated,
Lagasse, Inc., USFS, and USTS in favor of Bank One, NA as administrative agent
(Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002, filed on March 31, 2003 {the “2002 Form 10-K")

Second Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003,
among USSC, as seller, USFS, as purchaser, and United Stationers Financial
Services LLC (“"USFS") USFS, as servicer (Exhibit 10.2 to the 2002 Form 10-K)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

13.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

Amended and Restated USFS Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003,
among USFS, as seller, USS Receivables Company, Ltd. (“USSR"), as purchaser, and
USFS as servicer (Exhibit 10.4 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Second Amended and Restated Servicing Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, among
USSR, USFS, as servicer, USSC, as support provider, and Bank One, NA, as trustee
{Exhibit 10.6 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Second Amended and Restated Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, among
USSR, USFS, as servicer, and Bank One, NA, as trustee (Exhibit 10.8 to the 2002
Form 10-K)

Series 2003-1 Supplement, dated as of March 28, 2003, to the Second Amended and
Restated Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, by and among USSR, USFS,
as servicer, Bank One, NA, as funding agent, Falcon Asset Securitization Corporation, as
initial purchaser, the other parties from time to time thereto, and Bank One, NA, as
trustee (Exhibit 10.9 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Second Amended and Restated Series 2000-2 Supplement, dated as of March 28, 2003,
to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003,
by and among USSR, USFS, as servicer, Market Street Funding Corporation, as
committed purchaser, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator, and Bank One,
NA, as trustee (Exhibit 10.11 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Series 2004-1 Supplement, dated as of March 26, 2004 to the Second Amended and
Restated Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003 by and among Fifth Third
Bank (Chicago) and JPMorgan Chase Bank (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, filed on May 10, 2004)

Lease Agreement, dated as of January 12, 1993, as amended, among Stationers Antelope
Joint Venture, AVP Trust, Adon V. Panattoni, Yolanda M. Panattani and USSC
(Exhibit 10.32 to the Company's Form S-1 {SEC File No. 033-59811-01) filed on July 28,
1995 (the “1995 S-1")

Second Amendment io Lease, dated as of November 22, 2002, between Stationers Joint
Venture and USSC (Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2003, filed on March 15, 2004 (the 2003 Form 10-K™)

Lease Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2001, between Panattoni Investments, LLC
and USSC (Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K}

Lease Agreement, dated as of October 12, 1998, between Corum Carol Stream
Associates, LLC and USSC (Exhibit 10.94 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998, filed on March 29, 1999)

Standard Industrial Lease, dated March 2, 1992, between Carol Point Builders | and
Associated Stationers, Inc. (Exhibit 10.34 to the Company's 1995 S-1)

Second Amendment to Industrial Lease, dated November 15, 2001 between Carol
Point, LLC and USSC (Exhibit 10.12 to the 2003 Form 10-K)

First Amendment to Industrial Lease dated January 23, 1997 between ERI-CP Inc.
(successor to Carol Point Builders 1) and USSC {successor to Associated
Stationers, Inc.) (Exhibit 10.56 to the Company’s Form S-2 (SEC File No.-333-34937)
filed on October 3, 1997)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

Lease Agreement, dated April 19, 2000, between Corporate Estates, inc., Mitchell
Investments, LLC and USSC (Exhibit 10.39 to the 2000 Form 10-K)

Lease Agreement, dated March 15, 2000, between Troy Hill | LLC and USSC
(Exhibit 10.42 to the Company’'s 2000 Form 10-K)

Industrial Lease Agreement, executed as of October 21, 2001, by and between Duke
Construction Limited Partnership and USSC {Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s 2001
Form 10-K)

First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 2002, between Allianz
Life Insurance Co. of North America and USSC (Exhibit 10.20 to the 2003 Form 10-K)

Industrial Net Lease, effective January 16, 2002, by and between The Crder People
Company and New West Michigan Industrial Investors, L.L.C. and assigned to USSC
{Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’'s Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed
on May 15, 2002)

Industrial/Commercial Single Tenant Lease — Net, dated November 4, 2004, between
Cransud One, L.L.C. and USSC (Exhibit 10.27 to the Company's 2004 Form 10-K, filed
March 16, 2005)

Lease, dated July 25, 2005, among United, USSC and Carr Parkway North |, LLC
(Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2005)

United Stationers Inc. 1992 Management Equity Plan {as amended and restated as of
July 31, 2002) (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2002, filed on November 14, 2002 (“Form 10-Q filed on
November 14, 2002})**

United Stationers Inc. 2000 Management Equity Plan {as amended and restated as of
July 31, 2002) (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2002)**

United Stationers Inc. Nonemployee Directors’ Deferred Stock Compensation Plan
{Exhibit 10.85 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1997)**

United Stationers Inc. Amended 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Appendix A to the
Company’s definitive Proxy Statement, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2004) (the “2004
Long-Term Incentive Plan”)**

Summary of amendments to the 2004 LTIR, effective as of May 10, 2006 (Exhibit 10.31 to
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006)**

Form of grant letter used for grants of non-qualified options to non-employee directors
under the 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed on September 3, 2004 (the “September 3, 2004 Form 8-K™))**

Form of grant letter used for grants of non-qualified stock options to employees under the
United Stationers Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan {Exhibit 10.2 to the September 3,
2004 Form 8-K)**

United Stationers Inc. Amended and Restated Management Incentive Plan (Appendix A to
the Company’s definitive proxy statement filed on April 4, 2005)**

United Stationers Supply Co. Deferred Compensation Plan {Exhibit 10.48 to the
Company's 2000 Form 10-K)**
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Exhiblt
Number

Description

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

First Amendment to the United Stationers Supply Co. Deferred Compensation Plan,
effective as of November 30, 2001 (Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)**

Officer Medical Reimbursement Plan, as in effect as of December 22, 2003 (Exhibit 10.30
to the 2003 Form 10-K)**

Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of July 22, 2002, by and amaong USI,
USSC, and Richard W. Gochnauer (Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on
November 14, 2002)**

Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2003, by
and among US|, USSC and Richard W. Gochnauer (Exhibit 10.40 to the 2002
Form 10-K)**

Amendment No. 2 to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2003,
by and among USH USSC, and Richard W. Gochnauer {Exhibit 10.33 to the 2003
Form 10-K)**

Form of Executive Employment Agreement effective as of July 1, 2002, entered into by
USI and USSC with each of Mark J. Hampton, Joseph R. Templet and Jeffrey G.
Howard (Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form 10-Q fited on November 14, 2002)**

Form of Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of July 1, 2002 entered into by
USI and USSC and Kathleen S. Dvorak {Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed
on November 14, 2002)**

Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 14, 2005, among United, USSC and
Stephen A. Schultz (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2005, filed on August 9, 2005)**

Form of Executive Employment Agreement entered into by USI and USSC with each of
S. David Bent and P Cody Phipps (Exhikit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, filed on August 6, 2004)**

Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of March 14, 2005,
among USI, USSC and P Cody Phipps (Exhibit 10.49 to the Company’s 2004
Form 10-K, filed March 16, 2005)**

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between USI directors and various
executive officers of US! (Exhibit 10.36 to the Company's 2001 Form 10-K)**

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by USI and {for purposes of one
provision) USSC with each of Richard W. Gochnauer, Mark J. Hampton, Joseph R.
Templet, and other directors and executive officers of USI {Exhibit 10.7 to the
Company's Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2002)**

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by USI and (for purposes of one
provision) USSC with each of S. David Bent, Eric A. Blanchard and P Cody Phipps
(Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2004, filed on August 6, 2004)**

Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of October 19, 2004, among United, USSC
and Patrick T. Collins (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
on October 21, 2004)**
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.48

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of December 16, 2005, among United,
USSC and Eric A. Blanchard (Exhibit 10.51 to the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed on March 1, 2007 (the “2006
Form 10-K”})**

Transition and Release Agreement, dated September 1, 2006, among USI, USSC and
Kathleen S. Dvorak (Exhibit 10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
September 8, 2006)**

Executive Employment Agreement, dated June 11, 2007, among US|, USSC, and
Victoria J. Reich {Exhibit 10.1 to the Caompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 13, 2007)**

United Stationers Supply Co. Severance Pay Plan, as in effect as of August 1, 2004
{Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004,
filed on November 9, 2004)**

Appendix A to the United Stationers Supply Co. Severance Pay Plan, revised as of
October 11, 2006 (Exhibit 10.54 to the 2006 Form 10-K)**

Summary of Board of Directors Compensation (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, filed November 7, 2006)**

Summary of compensation of certain executive officers of United {paragraph 1 of
Item 5.02 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 27, 2007)**

Omnibus Amendment dated as of March 23, 2007, by and among USSR, USFS, Falcon
Asset Securitization Corporation, PNC Bank, National Association, Market Street
Funding LLC, JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA,, and Fifth Third Bank, as trustes {Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 28, 2007)

Non-Qualified Stock Option Grant Letter, dated as of July 24, 2007 among United
Stationers Inc. and Victoria J. Reich (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, filed on November 7, 2007)**

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Section 16 Officers under the United
Stationers Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 10
filed on November 7, 2007)**

Summary of compensation of non-employee directors of United Stationers Inc. as
amended July 24, 2007 with an effective date of September 1, 2007 {Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2007)**

Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of October 15, 2007, among United
Stationers Inc., USSC, Lagasse, Inc., USTS and USFS and JPMargan Chase Bank, N.A.
as collateral agent (Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on November 7,
2007)

Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2007, by and among JPMorgan Chase
Bank, NA, in its capacity as agent and contractual representative, and the holders of the
notes issued pursuant to the 2007 Note Purchase Agreement (Exhibit 10.6 to the
Form 10-Q filed on November 7, 2007)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.59

10.60

10.61

10.62

21 *
23 *
31.1*

31.2*

321+

Second Amended and Restated Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 5, 2007,
among USSC, as borrower, US|, as a credit party, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association in its capacity as agent, and the financia! institutions listad on the signature
pages thereof (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
July 5, 2007)

Reaffirmation, dated July 5, 2007 among USI, USSC, Lagasse, Inc., USTS and USFS
(Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 5, 2007)

Amendment No. 1, dated December 21, 2007, to Second Amended and Restated
Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 5, 2007, among USSC, as borrower,
USI, as a credit party, JPFMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in its capacity as
agent, and the financial institutions listed on the signature pages thereof (Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 28, 2007)

Amendment No. 1, dated December 21, 2007, to Second Amended and Restated Five-
Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated July 5, 2007, among USSC, as borrower, USI,
as a credit party, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, in its capacity as agent,
and the financia! institutions listed on the signature pages thereof. (Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 28, 2007)

Subsidiaries of USI
Consent of Ernst & Yound LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, dated as of February 28, 2008, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302{a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Richard W. Gochnauer

Certification of Chief Financial Officer, dated as ‘of February 28, 2008, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Victoria J. Reich

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, dated February 28, 2008, as Adoptéd
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Richard W. Gochnauer
and Victoria J. Reich

*  Filed herewith.
** Represents a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
e . AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302(a) OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

l, Richard W. Gochnauer, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on. Form 10-K of United Stationers Inc,; ‘

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
repont, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢e))
and internal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the eifectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrants internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2008 /s/ RICHARD W. GOCHNAUER

Richard W. Gochnauer
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302(a) OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Victoria J. Reich, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of United Stationers Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report,

The registrant's other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)} for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

{b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

{c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

{d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter {the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrants internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal controt over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2008 fs/ VicTora J. REICH

Victoria J. Reich
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of United Stationers Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof {the “Report™), Richard W. Gochnauer, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and Victoria J. Reich, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.

/s{ RICHARD W. GOCHNAUER

Richard W. Gochnauer
President and Chief Executive Officer
February 28, 2008

/s/ Victoria J. REICH

Victoria J. Reich

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
February 28, 2008
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